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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
EERE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Hanergy Thin Film
Power Group Limited (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, the I would like to present
the annual results of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2017.

“Group”),

The year 2017 was a year of reforms for the Group in
which we strived to strengthen standardised management
in every aspect. We fully enhanced our soft power,
thereby achieving strong development momentum from
clearly boosted competitiveness and persistent fast growth
in sales. During the year ended 31 December 2017, the
Group achieved two consecutive years of profit, with total
revenue amounted to HK$6,147,385,000, representing
an increase of 37% and net profit of
HK$261,032,000.

year-on-year,

GOOD PROGRESS IN RESUMPTION OF
TRADING

During the year, the Company has made good progress in
seeking resumption of trading of the Company’s shares.
The two core issues, including the debt owed by Hanergy
Holding and its affiliates to the Group and the over-reliance
on connected transactions, have been resolved by the
Group. It is hoped that this can clear the doubt of SFC.

Before the end of March 2018, Hanergy Holding and its
affiliates have completely repaid the Secured Indebtedness
of HK$3,164,727,000 owed to the Group, which was one
and a half year earlier than initial schedule. The qualified
opinion in relation to the recoverability of the Secured
Indebtedness of the Hanergy affiliates in the 2015 and
2016 independent auditor’'s reports has already been
removed from the 2017 financial statements. As for the
business model of the Group, new development has been
achieved during the year, with desirable results in the
upstream and downstream businesses. The Company’'s
income is more diversified, the composition of the Group’s
operating income is enriched and the number of connected
transactions between the Group and the affiliates of
Hanergy Holding is reduced. All of these will further relieve
the doubt of the SFC.

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED

HE U EHOBIR

$)\éﬁ%x¥ﬁu7§ﬂ§%§‘?€;‘%lﬁﬁﬁ EIEN
DF | ERAMBARAE AEE])E
EgRE Iﬂiuﬁxﬁfiﬁi T—+tF
TZA=+—HIFEZXEE -

—tERAEBBINEE 2 F - RMF
ﬁﬁébuﬁiﬂﬁﬁﬂziﬁém B 2EEAMRE
BEN BFERNGINBEEZRST HEE
RIFERRER  BFRILERG -HEZT
—t+tF+ A=+ —BLEREE A%
B &R UL A 6,147,385,00078 7T © B LK
37% : B F261,032,0008 7t © EEM
FERAF -

BEIFHERITFER

$’AETE’\J?§H§EI{’E C RERTEGET R

cHMAKREBERZONMERE &
?E/%ﬁz EREEBB RS ASENER
AEBNEKBEEEXZNER  AREDE
HEMERERR %2 AREESER

EREEBRLEBEAAHASEENE
S BT N\FZARNBLEHBE2I
3,164,727,000 B TX EREBKES - BIRE
ERBHERET —FFHOKE: 2T —H
FRZZ—ANFEBULIZEAMBETR - phiEsk
BB A B AR E T 0] W Bl M FTE RO R BB

ER NEARR T —LFUHHmEF M
Bro ERAEEMEBEN - RFEARITFKI
BEBFAE  ELHRTHEBHIRERE

BHRR FARRBAENZEL  BF

%@%%Wkﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂ'm9$iﬁﬁﬁ
A EMNGI o]z CERBEeR—SE
ﬁﬁo

&



CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
EERE

GOOD PROGRESS IN RESUMPTION OF
TRADING (continued)

The SFC set out two requirements for the resumption of
trading of the Company’s shares. The first condition was
completed in September 2017. With the hard work of the
working team of the Company and financial adviser, the
Disclosure Document as requested in the second condition
has been completed and submitted to the SFC for it to
consider the Company’s request for resumption under
section 9 of the Securities and Futures (Stock Marking
Listing) Rules (Chapter 571V of the Laws of Hong Kong)
("SMLR").

GLOBAL ENERGY SECTOR USHERS IN
TIME OF ALTERNATIVE ENERGIES

The globe has reached a consensus of developing low-
carbon, clean renewable energies and green development
that energies replacement has become an irreversible
trend. With the Paris Agreement coming into effect,
countries across the globe have manifested their resolve
to switch to low-carbon energies. As a strong advocate
of global renewable energy development, the Chinese
government has promulgated a series of supportive policies
and has stipulated a target of non-fossil energy accounting
for 15% of primary energy consumption by 2020.

The continuous strong policy support has accelerated the
world’'s pace for alternative energies. In recent years, the
proportion of renewable energy to total energy in newly
installed capacity has been scaling new heights, and
exceeded 60% in 2017, far outpacing its fossil counterpart.
The global renewable energy replacement has ushered in a
time of change and the development of renewable energy
is now in a time of strategic opportunities.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
EERE

DISTRIBUTED PVS AND MOBILE ENERGY
APPLICATIONS FACE EXPLOSIVE GROWTH

In its rapid and strong development, the global solar
photovoltaic market has been continuously expanding.
According to the China Photovoltaic Industry Association,
global solar photovoltaic energy has surged in newly
installed capacity by over 37% or 102GW to reach an
accumulative installed capacity of 405GW in 2017.
Statistics from the National Energy Administration of
the PRC indicated that in 2017, China continued to lead
the global solar photovoltaic energy market by adding
53.06GW to its annual generation capacity, which not only
constituted half of the global market but also kept China in
a world-leading position for five consecutive years.

As the biggest highlight in its solar photovoltaic energy
market in 2017, China’s distributed photovoltaic power
generation capacity rose by 19.44GW or 3.7 times for
the year, representing further acceleration of growth as
compared with the 2 times growth rate in 2016.

It was a magnificent year for mobile energy application in
2017. New applications including shared bike application,
solar photovoltaic roads, solar-powered cruises and solar
drones had been emerging and expanding the scope of
solar energy applications, and at the same time renewing
the knowledge of the general public about solar energy
applications. To further boost people’s confidence, in the
“Opinions on Supporting Further Reform and Promotion
of Resources Economy Development in Shanxi Province”
AR FILUAEE — PR N EREERELCEEEERN
EZ8)) announced in 2017, the State Council for the first
time clearly proposed the concept of “mobile energy”,
raising it to the national strategic level.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
EERE

UP AND DOWNSTREAM BUSINESSES OF
THE GROUP CONTINUE RAPID GROWTH

The Group focused on the thin film solar power field where
it enjoyed unique advantages. By means of continuous
independent innovation and successful global technological
integration, it mastered the world's leading thin film
solar technology and focused on providing its customers
with “turnkey” solutions for thin film solar equipment
production lines, “one-stop” distributed photovoltaic
solutions and innovative mobile energy applications, all of
which made the Group an indisputable leader in the thin
film solar power arena.

UPSTREAM EQUIPMENT PRODUCTION
LINE BUSINESS

In 2017, the Group achieved major breakthrough in its
upstream business that each of the production capacities
of its six main production lines, including SiGe BIPV, CIGS
Solibro, CIGS MiaSolé, CIGS GSE, high efficiency silicon
heterojunction SHJ and GaAs, has exceeded 1GW per
annum, together bringing in revenue of HK$4,241,755,000,
representing a year-on-year increase of 40%.

The world’'s leading thin film solar technology. During
the year, the Group realised new highs in the conversion
efficiency rates of its thin film solar modules. In particular,
the conversion efficiency of the effective area of Solibro’s
glass-based modules and MiaSolé's flexible modules of the
Group reached 18.72% and 17.44%, respectively, and the
efficiency of GaAs single junction modules reached 25.1%.
In addition, the lab efficiency of the Group's HIT cell
was as high as 23.05% and has obtained the Fraunhofer
Certification from Germany.

Expediting localization of thin film solar equipment.
The Group firmly pushed for the localization of thin
film solar equipment, in order to continuously bolster
the competitiveness of its solutions for thin film solar
production lines. In 2017, the proportion of localized
equipment of the Group increased substantially, thereby
shortening the delivery times of production lines and
quickly reducing the production costs. The localization of
core equipment also achieved significant progress.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
EERE

UPSTREAM EQUIPMENT PRODUCTION
LINE BUSINESS (continued)

Major breakthrough in the sales of thin film solar
production lines. With the Chinese government largely
pushing for transformation in energy sources, low-carbon
development and public-private partnerships, many mobile
energy industrial parks were constructed across China
in 2017, very much quickening the industrialisation and
marketisation processes of thin film solar technologies.
With its world-leading thin film solar technology and
ability to deliver relevant production lines, the Group
cooperated with multiple mobile energy industrial parks
and commenced the sale of solutions for its thin film solar

production lines and large-scale delivery.

DOWNSTREAM DISTRIBUTED PVS AND
MOBILE ENERGY BUSINESS

In 2017, the Group continued its efforts to expand its
downstream photovoltaics and mobile energy businesses,
leading to a considerable sales growth of 31% year-on-year
to a revenue of HK$1,905,630,000 for the year.

Significant progress in product development. The Group
adopted a customer-centric approach in its business by
developing products in two major areas, for home and
mobile uses and continuously researched, developed and
launched innovative premium products and solutions. In
2017, the Group launched its Hantile Series of products.
The series inherits the aesthetic heritage of traditional
Chinese roof tiles and is produced using the world's
most advanced flexible thin film solar technology for the
construction materials market. Compared with traditional
roof tiles, Hantile has better heat-insulation, fire-proof, anti-
seepage and anti-hail features. It represents an example
of perfect combination of heritage and thin film solar
technology as well as a disruption of the traditional building
materials. With the addition of the power generation
feature, any building can become a small-size power
station. This technological and product breakthrough has
made possible the large-scale application of distributed
power generation to towns and will definitely help the
development of green construction.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
EERE

DOWNSTREAM DISTRIBUTED PVS AND
MOBILE ENERGY BUSINESS (continued)

Leading position in the distribution channel business. The
Group stuck to the practice of having one distributor for
each county and continuously optimised and perfected
its distribution network, which helped the stable and
continuous development of its distribution channel
business. As of 31 December 2017, the Group persistently
led China’s household photovoltaic industry and practically
covered all main cities and counties in the country with its
network of over 1,400 distributors after optimisation.

Accelerated business expansion with major clients. In
2017, by partnering with more than 200 major clients,
the Group rapidly developed its industrial and commercial
distributed photovoltaics business as well as building
integrated photovoltaic ("BIPV") business. In the field
of photovoltaic poverty alleviation, the Group actively
responded to the calls of the Chinese government and
achieved good results through continuous vigorous
investment, and in 2017, it successfully launched a total
of 30-plus photovoltaic poverty alleviation projects. To
reduce energy consumption in cities and thereby facilitate
the construction of “ecological, low-carbon and beautiful
cities”, the Group introduced a basket of Hanergy eco-
city integrated solutions during the year, providing
comprehensive services to cities in different energy
consumption scenarios in society, including green building
solutions, green park solutions, green transportation
solutions, green government solutions and green
agriculture solutions.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
EERE

DOWNSTREAM DISTRIBUTED PVS AND
MOBILE ENERGY BUSINESS (continued)

Major breakthrough in mobile energy business. In 2017,
the Group expedited its cooperation with global top
enterprises in different sectors and established partnership
with a number of well-known enterprises, to facilitate the
development of the mobile energy industry through cross-
sector cooperation. On 23 August 2017, the Group and
Audi Automobilwerke GmbH of Germany entered into a
strategic cooperation memorandum, pursuant to which
the advanced thin film solar technology will be applied to
traditional and new energy vehicles to generate power from
solar energy. Both parties will take advantage of their own
strengths to jointly develop the car-top solar panel and to
provide power to Audi electric cars in the future using thin
film solar technology. With the wide-spread popularity of
solar powered vehicles, automobile’s reliance on petroleum
and conventional fossil energy for power will become
history. On 15 December 2017, the Group and BAIC Motor
Corporation Limited entered into a strategic cooperation
agreement for full cooperation in areas such as distributed
photovoltaics and mobile energy application. Concurrently,
the Group also entered into a strategic cooperation
agreement with China State Shipbuilding Corporation’s
605th research institute to partner in the development of
thin film solar technology application on ship and vessels.
In the meantime, we are in discussions with world-famous
enterprises such as Airbus SE for potential collaboration,
aiming to apply thin film solar technology to the field
of aviation and aerospace, such as satellites and high-
altitude long-endurance UAVs. With new breakthroughs of
technology and new products launched, the mobile energy
market will demonstrate explosive growth.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
EERE

CONTINUOUS MANAGEMENT AND
CULTURAL REFORMS

In 2017, the Group continued to implement reforms in
management practices and corporate culture, leading to
evidently improved management and operational efficiency.
We promoted the customer-centric culture, innovative
and self-reflection cultures through the amendment and
announcement of the Group's core values and principles.
We implemented the reforms in human resources
management by setting a corporate direction based
on core values, performance and responsibilities, and
building a human resources management system which
can differentiate the values of strategic positions. We
also advocate the implementation of the “Three Strong”
policy (strong matrix organization, strong assessments and
strong incentives) and the “Three Quick-winning” policy
(quick execution, quick learning and quick rectification).
We also launched complete procedural change by
introducing the HIPD process system to enhance
the process management standard of the Group. We
introduced the OKR management tools and established
the “KPI+OKR"”

system and implement reforms in strategies management.

organisational performance management

We set up the finance sharing centre, and established
a finance system which incorporates shared finance,
strategic finance and business finance, with an aim to
support the Group's business development by achieving
the specialisation of strategic finance, the integration
of business finance, and the centralisation of financial
auditing.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
EERE

CONTINUOUS MANAGEMENT AND
CULTURAL REFORMS (continued)

Moving forward to 2018, the Group will firmly seize the
opportunities brought by global energy reform and low-
carbon development, and focus on the main strategic
theme of thin film solar power. Based on its world-
leading thin film solar technology, the Group will focus
on the upstream and downstream segments of its thin
film solar energy industry chain, and continuously push
for the industrialisation and marketization of thin film
solar technology. These will result in thin film solar power
technology, a truly green technology, benefiting the
whole world and will gradually realise the great mission of
“changing the world with thin film solar technology”.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this
opportunity to express my heartfelt gratitude to all the
shareholders and business partners for their support,
and sincere thanks to all the staff for their efforts and
contributions during the year!

Yuan Yabin
Chairman
27 March 2018
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE DN

BUSINESS MODEL

Hanergy Thin Film Power Group Limited is a high-tech
new energy enterprise listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange. Its principal activities include (i) the research
and development, design, sales and delivery of thin film
solar energy modules production equipment and turnkey
production lines; (ii) provision of distributed photovoltaic
and mobile energy solutions; and (iii) provision of technical
services including support, construction and maintenance
to our upstream production lines customers and
downstream distributed photovoltaic and mobile energy
solutions customers.

Since 2009, the Group has been focusing on the thin
film solar sector, and has been actively involved in the
investment and research of the most advanced thin film
solar energy technology for many years. We believe that
the future development trend of PV industry lies in the
thin film and flexible technology, and we have determined
that we must always be the leader in the industry if we
are to be successful in the thin film power generation
industry. Based on this strategic judgement, the Group,
through continual acquisitions of advanced overseas thin
film technologies, including Solibro in Germany, MiaSolé
in the U.S., Global Solar Energy in the U.S., and Alta
Devices in the U.S., currently has acquired copper indium
gallium selenium (“CIGS") and gallium arsenide (“GaAs")
technologies which are among the most advanced in the
world, and has also mastered the advanced equipment
production lines” R&D, design and delivery capabilities.
The Group deploys teams of scientists at various locations
around the globe, including the United States, Germany,
Sweden as well as Beijing and Sichuan in China, etc.,
for continuous improvement in the thin film solar energy
technology, enabling the Group to provide customers with
the most advanced solutions in turnkey production lines of
thin film solar.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE DN

BUSINESS MODEL (continued)

For the upstream high-end equipment manufacturing
and sales business, the Group achieved good results
by receiving equipment and services sales orders of
significant amounts from a number of mobile energy
industrial park projects in 2017. The mobile energy
industrial park is an initiative arrangement of thin film
solar and other high technologies and strategic emerging
industries made by the local government in the process of
local economy transformation. In the development of the
industrial park, it is mainly funded by the local government,
third party investors and the affiliates of Hanergy Mobile
Energy Holding Co., Ltd, to form an industrial park project
company. Leveraged on the financial capital, social capitals
are attracted to form an equity investment fund. This will
help realise the introduction of capital into the projects for
the creation of the modern “high-tech + energy” industry
chain, which embodies the research and development
of thin film cell technologies, high-end equipment
manufacturing, modules production and the development
of application products. With the most advanced thin-
film solar technology and high-end equipment delivery
capabilities in the world owned by the Group, sales and
industrialization can be achieved in various mobile energy
industrial parks in China.

The affiliates of Hanergy Mobile Energy Holding Co., Ltd
acts as one of the shareholders of the industrial park
project company, mainly because of the government'’s
trust in Hanergy Mobile Energy Holding Co., Ltd, requiring
Hanergy Mobile Energy Holding Co., Ltd. to participate
in the project company’'s equity and operation. Hanergy
Mobile Energy Holding Co., Ltd. holds and will hold no
more than 20% equity interests in the industrial park
project company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE DN

BUSINESS MODEL (continued)

As for downstream PV applications, the Group has made
significant achievements with the business model in which
distributors were acquired as channels for the development
of household distributed PV business, which has become
the most important sales channel in downstream business.
Through various means including sales to key customers
and cooperation with partners in sales channels, the Group
actively develops the businesses including industrial and
commercial distributed PV, building-integrated photovoltaic
(BIPV), targeted PV poverty alleviation and application of
mobile energy, and achieved the rapid growth of sales
revenue in 2017. The Group put enormous resources and
efforts into the research and development of downstream
products. During the year, it introduced a disruptive, new-
generation distributed solar application product, “Hantile”,
which represents a new generation of roof tiles combining
the advanced flexible thin film solar cell with roof tile,
coupled with efficient power generation capability and
high level of safety. It is a perfect fit for the aesthetic
requirements of modern architectural design and has broad
market prospects.

As for the Group's strategies on future development, we
will continue to maintain our leading position as the world's
advanced thin film solar power generation and high-tech
new energy company and adopt “One Base and Two
Fronts” as our long term strategic deployment. That is,
we leverage on the continuous innovation of thin film solar
technology as our foundation; on the one hand, we deliver
“turnkey solutions” for high-end equipment and production
lines as the left front, and on the other hand, we provide
distributed PV and mobile energy solutions as the right
front. The upstream equipment production line business
will be maintained as our core, and the downstream
distributed solar business will be our strategic direction,
with an aim to vigorously foster mobile energy business as
the Group’s main direction.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the financial year ended 31 December 2017, the Group
recorded a revenue of HK$6,147,385,000, representing
an increase of approximately 37% as compared with
HK$4,483,130,000 in 2016, of which HK$5,084,918,000
was derived from non-connected transactions. Gross profit
reached HK$2,675,241,000, representing a slight increase
over the previous year.

During the financial year 2017, the Group’'s upstream
business contributed a revenue of HK$4,241,755,000,
accounting for approximately 69% of the Group's revenue
for the period. During the period, Shandong Zibo project
and Jingzhou project contributed more than HK$3.7 billion
in total, while the new projects of Datong Industrial Park,
Mianyang Industrial Park and sales of HIT production lines
in Shuangliu contributed HK$68,160,000, HK$51,990,000
and HK$347,118,000 respectively to the Group. The total
revenue for downstream business during the period was
approximately HK$1,906 million, accounting for 31% of
the Group’s revenue, mainly attributable to Channel Sales
Business Unit and Key Account Business Unit.

Trade receivables of RMB650 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$734,685,000) due from Shandong
Macrolink was repaid to the Group in 2017. As at 31
December 2017, trade receivables from Shandong
Macrolink amounted to HK$1,816,927,000. All the
trade receivables were overdue. The Group received
HK$248,230,000 from Shandong Macrolink to settle the
due trade receivables subsequent to 31 December 2017
and up to 27 March 2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

On 20 March 2017, Mr. Li Hejun (the “Guarantor”)
entered into a deed of guarantee (the “Deed of
Guarantee”) with the Company, pursuant to which
the Guarantor agreed to provide guarantee in favour
of the Company in respect of the trade receivables
(due and not yet due) owed by Hanergy Holding and/
or its subsidiaries and affiliates to the Group, the gross
amount due from the contract with Hanergy Affiliates,
other receivables and interest penalty due from Hanergy
Affiliates (the “Secured Indebtedness”) with total amount
HK$4,857,176,000. According to the interim report of the
Company for the six months ended 30 June 2017, Hanergy
Holding and its affiliates repaid RMB1,500,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,692,449,000) to the
Group on 10 March 2017, resulting in the decrease of
the Secured Indebtedness from HK$4,857,176,000 to
HK$3,164,727,000.

Pursuant to the court order issued by the High Court of
Hong Kong on 4 September 2017, the Guarantor shall
procure Hanergy Holding and its affiliates to settle the
Secured Indebtedness of HK$3,164,727,000 within 24
months from 4 September 2017 (the “Date of Court
Order”). The repayment schedule agreed between the
Group and Hanergy Holding is as follows:

° On or before 4 September 2018: repay 20% or more
of the amount

° On or before 4 March 2019: repay 30% or more of
the amount

° On or before 4 September 2019: repay all the
remaining amount
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

In second half of 2017, Hanergy Holding and its
subsidiaries repaid the Secured Indebtedness on the
following dates:

Bt FSE B (&)

R-Z—EFTHF ZEREEMBA
A RN EE R EREBFELER

Amount
repaid HK$
(RMB) equivalent
HESHE HEREBT

Date S]] (AEHE) ol %]
28 July 2017 —E—+Ft+tA-+N\H 300,000,000 347,709,000
27 September 2017 ZE—tFNAZ++tH 450,000,000 531,118,000
23 October 2017 —2—+tF+HA=-+=H 40,000,000 47,139,000

790,000,000 925,966,000

As at 31 December 2017, Hanergy Holding and its
subsidiaries made repayments of RMB2,290,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$2,618,415,000) to the
Group, reducing the amount of Secured Indebtedness to
HK$2,238,761,000.

As at 31 December 2017, the details of the total amount
due to the Group from Hanergy Holding and its affiliates
were as follows:

HE-_T—+tF+_-_A=1+—8  Z&
TREEBBARNEAEEEEARK
2,290,000,000 75 (#72,618,415,0007% JT ) -
SEZREREF ST E 2,238,761,000/8

BE_T—tHF+_A=1t—8 ZEgEK
REBBARHAREZ RKBES

HK$
BT

Trade receivable and Gross amount due from S RWRANEWE RZFERE

contract customers

2,283,175,000

Interest on overdue trade receivables mHAEW RN - B 194,394,000
Other receivables H b & R 4,695,000
Prepayments for the purchase of modules TEfHEMIEE R 112,665,000
Total CEl 2,594,929,000

Remarks: HK$2,238,761,000 of the above was part of
the Secured Indebtedness as set out in the
court order and HK$356,168,000 was related
to other debts.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWE DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued) MR )

For the period from January 2018 to March 2018, the WZ-ZE—NE—FEZ= AHM  KEB#HE
Group had received repayments from Hanergy Holding WRZEEERLEEMEE AR @ HXERE
and its subsidiaries and affiliates successively for the F{EELATHIE

settlement of the Secured Indebtedness as follows:

Amount
repaid HK$
(RMB) equivalent
HESH HEREBT

Date B & (AR ZEH
12 January 2018 —E-N\F—A+=H 100,000,000 120,486,000
30 January 2018 —E-N\F—HA="H 10,000,000 12,348,000
2 February 2018 —E-N\F-AZ=H 150,000,000 186,537,000
13 February 2018 —E—-N\F_-A+=H 44,000,000 54,404,000
14 February 2018 “E-NF-A+WTAH 76,000,000 93,718,000
1 March 2018 —E-NF=ZA—H 15,000,000 18,532,000
5 March 2018 —E-N\F=HEH 200,000,000 246,938,000
9 March 2018 —E-NF=ANH 110,000,000 135,932,000
22 March 2018 —E-N\F=ZA=-+=H 1,295,126,000 1,608,674,000

2,000,126,000 2,477,569,000

After calculating the repayment amounts, Hanergy Holding s E N F W E X SR A B E TR
and its subsidiaries have completely repaid (i) the remaining EFE W B AR E BOHR B I IERE B

Secured Indebtedness of HK$2,238,761,000; and (i) 2,238,761,000% 7T : & (ii) i1 HA 8 U 2K BE 2K
interest on overdue trade receivables of HK$194,394,000: FE 194,394,000 B TiE)E -
HK$
BT
Secured Indebtedness ZERES 0
Interest on overdue trade receivables 160 B FE U SR BR TR B 0
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

The remaining amount due to the Group from Hanergy
Holding and its affiliates was:

BB BE (&)

EREERREBBATNEAER 2B TR
=2

HK$

T
Other receivables o FE IR 4,695,000
Prepayments for the purchase of modules TEfSHEMIEE R 112,665,000
Total aat: 117,360,000
The Group has reached an agreement with Hanergy [W/RRDACEZITIRE I WERSHAE

Holding in relation to this debt, pursuant to which the
parties agreed that if the delivery of the prepaid PV
modules to the Group could not be completed at the
agreed time (before 31 December 2018), trade payables
and other payables due to Hanergy Holding and its
affiliates from the Group will be repaid after the settlement
of the above debt and the delivery of the modules. Prior
to that, Hanergy Holding and its affiliates are not entitled
to the right to demand for equal amount repayment of the
aforementioned indebtedness from the Group.

Since Hanergy Holding and its affiliates have settled all
outstanding debts to the Group, the qualified opinion of
Hanergy Holding and its affiliates was removed in the
Independent Auditor’'s Report.

After conducting an assessment on the credibility and
financial capacity of Hanergy Holding and Hanergy
Affiliates, the independent directors of the Company
agreed that the after tax income generated from the
connected transactions to be recognised in the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2017.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

A.

Organisation Structure:

The Group carried out an organisational restructuring
during the year to streamline and strengthen the
internal governance and business units are set
up based on the development of the upstream
and downstream businesses. The upstream
business units are differentiated by production line
technologies while the downstream business units
are differentiated by applications and sales channels.
In the first half of the year, the Group integrated
“Commercial Power Generation Business Unit”,
"BIPV Business Unit” and "“Agricultural Applications
Business Unit” into “Key Account Business Unit”,
and renamed “Household Power Generation
Business Unit” as “Channel Sales Business Unit”.
The organisation structure of the Group as at 31
December 2017 is as follows:
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) E X AC 8 )

A. Organisation Structure: (continued) A, ABEE: (&
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

B.

Upstream Business:

The upstream business of the Group mainly includes
the research and development, design, sales and
delivery of thin film solar energy modules production
equipment and whole production lines, as well as the
provision of supporting technical services. The Group
continues to focus on promoting the localization of
advanced thin film solar equipment.

The Group places great emphasis on research
and development in technologies and has set up
professional R&D teams in the United States and
Europe for the enhancement of various technologies.
During the year, the conversion efficiency of the
Group's thin-film solar modules reached a new high.
In particular, the conversion efficiency of the effective
area of Solibro’s glass-based modules and MiaSolé’s
flexible modules of the Group reached 18.72% and
17.44%, respectively, and the efficiency of mass
production of GaAs single junction modules reached
25.1%, which created new world records. In addition,
the lab efficiency of the Group’'s HIT cell was as
high as 23.05% and has obtained the Fraunhofer
Certification from Germany.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

B.

Upstream Business: (continued)

The highlights of the Group’s upstream business
during the period include:

Industrial Parks Projects

In 2017, the Group entered into large amount
of sales orders for equipment and services with
a number of industrial parks. During the period,
the delivery of contract equipment and services
were carried out and part of the payments
have been received, which would improve the
cash flow position of the Group. The Group is
in negotiation with more industrial parks and
it is expected that there will be more similar
industrial park projects in the future. This will
contribute to the results in 2018 and onwards.

In the development of the industrial park, it is
mainly funded by the local government, third
party investors and Hanergy Holding's affiliate,
to form an industrial park project company, in
which each of parties will hold certain equity
shares:

o Local government: it delegates state-
owned enterprises with local government
background as shareholders of the project
company, and coordinates to identify third
party organisations to invest in the project,
showing its high degree of attention to
and strong support of the industrial park
projects;

° Independent third party investors: they
become shareholders of the project
companies and introduce investment funds
to the project, in order to generate desired
return;
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

B.

Upstream Business: (continued)

1.

Industrial Parks Projects (continued)

° Hanergy Mobile Energy Holding Co., Ltd:
it contributes capital through the affiliates
of Hanergy Mobile Energy Holding Co.,
Ltd and acts as one of the shareholders
of the project company with shareholding
of no more than 20%. The participation in
the project company by Hanergy Mobile
Energy Holding Co., Ltd is mainly because
of the government’'s trust in Hanergy
Mobile Energy Holding Co., Ltd, requiring
Hanergy Mobile Energy Holding Co., Ltd to
participate in the project company’s equity
and operation.

The local state-owned enterprises and
independent third party investors will have the
right to make investment decisions and appoint
directors in the project company.

As the ultimate purchaser of equipment and
technology, the industrial park project company
benefits the Group with increased income from
sales of upstream production lines equipment
and technology. Since Hanergy Mobile Energy
Holding Co., Ltd owns no more than 20% of the
equity interest in the industrial park company,
the industrial park project company will not be
an associate of a connected party, which is
defined by holding 30% or more of the equity
interest in the company.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

B.

Upstream Business: (continued)

1.

Industrial Parks Projects (continued)

Pursuant to the investment cooperation
agreement, after thin film production line is put
into operation, every year, the local government
will encourage new constructions in the city it
governs as well as those in the province to give
priority in using the products of the industrial
park project company, such as distributed
photovoltaic power generation and agricultural
facilities, urban lights, public buses, electric
vehicles, highways, government-funded poverty
alleviation/demonstration/public benefit projects,
etc. As a result, the products of the industrial
park project company could be consumed
locally, generating considerable sales revenue to
ensure that the industrial park project company
will be able to operate and repay its debts with
sustainable development.

As at 31 December 2017, three industrial park
project companies in Mianyang Sichuan, Datong
Shanxi and Zibo Shandong respectively, have
purchased thin film production lines from the
Group, with total sales contract amount of
approximately RMB11.3 billion. The Group is
in negotiation with more industrial parks and
expects to sign contracts with more similar
industrial park project companies so as to
achieve increase in sales of the Group's thin film
solar energy modules production lines.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

B.

Upstream Business: (continued)

1.

Industrial Parks Projects (continued)

(1)

Industrial Park Project in Mianyang Sichuan

On 18 May 2017, Mianyang Government
and Hanergy Mobile Energy Holding Co.,
Ltd.entered into an agreement in relation
to a mobile energy industrial park project,
to invest in the construction and installation
of CIGS and GaAs thin film solar cell
production lines in Fucheng District,
Mianyang City, Sichuan Province, and to
promote the local development of the thin
film solar mobile energy industrial park. The
project comprises four phases, the first
phase of which involves the investment
of RMBG6.6 billion in the manufacturing of
600MW CIGS thin film solar cell modules
and 20MW flexible GaAs thin film solar cell
modules.

The industrial park project has earned the
special attention and full support from
the governments of Sichuan Province
and Mianyang City, which not only give
assurance to the project land with “seven
connections and site leveling”, but also
provide tax incentives, financial subsidies
and seek for special fund or financial
support from governments at all levels
in establishing special project leading
teams to effectively resolve the problems
encountered during the implementation of
the project.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

B.

Upstream Business: (continued)

1.

Industrial Parks Projects (continued)

(1)

Industrial Park Project in Mianyang Sichuan
(continued)

For the establishment of Mianyang
Mobile Energy Industrial Park, Mianyang
Government designated Mianyang Fucheng
Investment Group Co., Ltd. (4[5 5 HEE&
E£B/ARATF) (“Mianyang Fucheng”), a
local state-owned enterprise, Huafengyuan
Investment (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (FEEFHKRE
(Jb)EBEMRAF) (“Huafengyuan Beijing”),
an independent third party, and Hanergy
Mobile Energy Holding Co., Ltd.(GZ & %
FERIER AR AR]), to jointly invest and
form Mianyang Jinneng Mobile Energy Co.,
Ltd. (#E5& B BRER AR ("MIME")
as the industrial park project company.
Mianyang Fucheng and Huafengyuan
Beijing have the right to make investment
decisions and appoint directors in the
project company.

Mianyang Fucheng is a state wholly-
owned company under the administration
of and is ultimately owned by the
People's Government of Fucheng District
in Mianyang City. With total assets of
approximately RMB4.3 billion, its principal
activities include investment and financing
of significant projects, investment in the
construction of infrastructure projects,
guarantee business, property development,
state-owned assets management, land
consolidation as well as construction and
maintenance of municipal garden works.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

B.

Upstream Business: (continued)

1.

Industrial Parks Projects (continued)

(1)

Industrial Park Project in Mianyang Sichuan
(continued)

Huafengyuan Beijing is a domestic limited
company with registered capital of RMB2.5
billion. It mainly engages in project
investment, investment management,
asset management, business management
consulting, economic and trade consulting,
market research, business planning,
technology development, technical
consulting, technology services, technology
promotion as well as technology import
and export.

After the project company is established,
an industrial structured fund — Mianyang
New Energy Industry Fund (LP)(42F5TH%T
REREXE2(BRAEE)) (tentative) will
be launched, which is jointly promoted
and launched by the company designated
by Mianyang Government and Hanergy
Holding, to raise a total amount of RMB6.0
billion.

MJME will purchase a 600MW CIGS
solar cell module production line with
GSE technology from the Group. In June
2017, MJME entered into a procurement
contract for the purchase of 600MW
CIGS thin film solar production line with
Jiangsu Yancheng Gelaibao Equipment
Technology Co., Ltd. CT&REER A8 B 4B
AR A 7)) (“Yancheng Gelaibao"), and
Beijing Hanergy Solar Investment Co. Ltd.
("Beijing Hanergy Solar Investment”),
subsidiaries of the Group. Beijing Hanergy
Solar Investment will provide the project
with technical services. The total amount
for all the contracts is RMB4,165,000,000.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

B.

Upstream Business: (continued)

1.

Industrial Parks Projects (continued)

(1)

(2)

Industrial Park Project in Mianyang Sichuan
(continued)

Based on the completion percentage, this
project recognised the contract revenue
of HK$51,990,000 in 2017. As at 31
December 2017, the Group has received
a prepayment of approximately RMB1.2
billion from MJME, representing more
than 40% of the total contract amount,
demonstrating that the industrial park has
good payment capability.

Industrial Park Project in Datong

In July 2017, Datong Government of Shanxi
Province, Datong Coal Mine Group Co.,
Ltd. and Hanergy Mobile Energy Holding
Co., Ltd., a company of Hanergy Holding,
entered into a strategic cooperation
agreement in relation to Datong Mobile
Energy Industrial Park, to jointly invest
in the construction of Datong Mobile
Energy Industrial Park, and under the
active support and overall coordination
of Datong Government, to vigorously
promote the establishment of the local
solar mobile energy industry, expedite
the energy transformation in Datong, and
lead the regional economy in healthy and
sustainable development.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

B.

Upstream Business: (continued)

1.

Industrial Parks Projects (continued)

(2)

Industrial Park Project in Datong
(continued)

The overall project plan comprises three
phases: the construction of 250MW
glass-based and 50MW flexible CIGS thin
film cell production lines in phase I, the
construction of a 300MW flexible CIGS thin
film cell production line in phase Il, and the
construction of a 20MW high-performance
GaAs thin film cell production line in
the last phase. Phase | of the project
is currently in construction, with a total
investment amount of RMB2.272 billion.

For the construction of the Datong Mobile
Energy Industrial Park, a project company
known as Datong Dachang Mobile Energy
Co., Ltd. (REKXMB B EERAR L A)
(“DDME") was formed jointly by Datong
Economic Development Investment Co.,
Ltd. (KEKEERZEBRAT) on behalf
of Datong Government, Tongxi New Energy
Co., Ltd. (RE#eERBERAA) ("TXNE")
of Datong Coal Mine Group and Hanergy
Mobile Energy Holding Co., Ltd., to invest
in the construction and installation of
thin film solar cell production lines with a
total amount of RMB7 billion. DDME and
TXNE have the right to make investment
decisions and appoint directors in the
project company. Hanergy Mobile Energy
Holding Co., Ltd.mainly provides technical
support.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

B.

Upstream Business: (continued)

1.

Industrial Parks Projects (continued)

(2)

Industrial Park Project in Datong
(continued)

Datong Economic Development Investment
Co., Ltd. is a state wholly-owned company
under the administration of SASAC of
Datong Municipal People’s Government
with a registered capital of RMB490 million.
Its principal activities include asset custody,
capital operation, corporate change
planning and consultancy agency, as well
as the management, sales and leasing of
urban assets financed by the government
(including state-owned properties financed
by the government).

Tongxi New Energy Co., Ltd. of Datong

Coal Mine Group is a local state-
owned energy enterprise, the parent of
which, Datong Coal Mine Group Co.,
Ltd. (DTCO), is the third largest state-
owned coal mine company in China with
headquarters in Datong, Shanxi Province,
a major coal center in the country, with
registered capital of RMB17 billion and
at the moment total assets of more than
RMB200 billion. DTCO mainly focuses
on coal and electricity businesses, and
engages in diversified industries including
finance, coal chemical, metallurgy,
machinery manufacturing, logistics and
trade, construction and building materials,
property and cultural tourism, etc. It
currently has a staff of 200,000 employees.
In 2016, DTCO was ranked the 71st in
“Top 500 Companies in China” and the

322nd in “Global 500".
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

B.

Upstream Business: (continued)

1.

Industrial Parks Projects (continued)

(2)

Industrial Park Project in Datong
(continued)

The Datong Industrial Park project has
earned the special attention and full
support from the governments of Shanxi
Province and Datong City, which not only
give assurance to the project land with
“seven connections and site leveling”,
provide relevant planning information and
formulate preferential policies on utilities
such as water, electricity and heating,
but also seek for the construction target
of up to 200-300MW per year for the
photovoltaic power generation projects of
DTCO. The governments also encourage
the enterprises in Datong and across the
province to support new photovoltaic
building and agricultural facilities,
distributed photovoltaic power generation,
urban lighting, public transportation,
electric vehicles and government-funded
poverty alleviation, and demonstration or
public benefit projects, etc. to provide the
opportunities for the local and preferred
consumption of production capacity.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

B.

Upstream Business: (continued)

1.

Industrial Parks Projects (continued)

(2)

ANERGY THIN FILM

Industrial Park Project in Datong
(continued)

In the first phase of the project, it
purchased from the Group 300MW MiaSolé
technology’'s CIGS solar cell module
production line, 250MW of which is glass-
based modules production line and 50MW
is flexible modules production line. In
October 2017, DDME and Apollo Precision
(Beijing) Ltd. (k RIGHAG K ERE R
[R A &) ("Apollo Beijing”), a subsidiary
of the Group, entered into a purchase
contract for 300MW CIGS thin film solar
production line with a contract amount of
RMB1,819,400,000. During the year, the
Group has delivered part of the equipment
and the first 50MW packaging production
line of flexible thin film solar cells was put
into production on 26 December 2017.
Based on the completion percentage,
3.88% of the project has been completed.
As at 31 December 2017, based on the
percentage of completion, this project
recognised the contract revenue of
approximately HK$68,160,000. As at 31
December 2017, the Group has received
the prepayment for the equipment of
approximately RMB891,506,000 from
DDME, demonstrating that the industrial
park has good payment capability.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

B.

Upstream Business: (continued)

1.

Industrial Parks Projects (continued)

(2)

Industrial Park Project in Datong
(continued)

Datong Industrial Park project, both as a
national advanced technology photovoltaic
demonstration base and a photovoltaic
poverty alleviation base, when completed,
will boost local employment and increase
income from profit taxes, and also will
become an important demonstration model
which can lead Shanxi, the traditional
energy centre in energy conservation and
emission reduction as well as in structural
transformation and upgrading of industries.
The industrial park project not only has
solid support of funds and resources, but
also receives strong support from the
government. This will help in laying a solid
foundation for sustainable development in
the future.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

B.

Upstream Business: (continued)

1.

Industrial Parks Projects (continued)

(3)

Industrial Park Project in Zibo Shandong

In December 2014, Zibo People’s
Government of Shandong Province and
Hanergy Holding Group entered into
the Hanergy Photovoltaic Industrial Park
Investment Cooperation Framework
Agreement, to complete the following
three projects by way of various
cooperation methods including product
sales, project construction, direct
investment, equity investment, industry
fund and public-private partnership
(PPP): (1) 3GW CIGS thin film solar
cell and flexible application products
production line; (2) construction of
Hanergy photovoltaic application industry
base and (3) construction of Hanergy
photovoltaic industry headquarters, clearly
demonstrating the use of the Group's
technology in the construction of Hanergy
Photovoltaic Industrial Park (i.e. Hanergy
photovoltaic manufacturing industrial group,
Hanergy photovoltaic application industrial
base and Hanergy photovoltaic industry
headquarters).
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

B.

Upstream Business: (continued)

1.

Industrial Parks Projects (continued)

(3)

Industrial Park Project in Zibo Shandong
(continued)

In January 2016, Apollo Precision (Fujian)
Limited (B2 HEERIRXEAR QF)
(“Fujian Apollo”), a subsidiary of the
Group, and Shandong Zibo Hanergy Thin
Film Solar Company Limited (L ERE1HZE
BB A58 BBBR A A]) (“Shandong Zibo
Company”), an affiliate of Hanergy Holding
Group, entered into a procurement contract
of automated integration production lines
for 300MW MiaSolé technology's CIGS
Shandong Zibo
Company made an advance payment of
RMB380 million (approximately HK$452
million) to Fujian Apollo in January 2016,
and the revenue after tax of HK$395
million (HK$437,748,267 including the
tax) was recognised in 2016 according

thin film solar panels.

to the completion percentage. Since the
amount of advance payment exceeded
the recognised income, the balance of the
receivables for the year was not increased
as a result of this connected transaction.

In addition, on 27 April 2017, pursuant to
the 3GW Sales Contract in 2010, Shandong
Zibo Company entered into a sales contract
of automated integration production line
for 300 MW CIGS thin film solar modules
applying Solibro technology with Beijing
Hanergy Solar Investment Co., Ltd.
("Beijing Hanergy Solar Investment”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, at
a total value of US$390 million.
delivered in two phases with 150 MW in

It will be

each.

ANNUAL REPORT 2017

¥EOEE)
B. Lib%m: (4#)
1. EXEEHE)
(3)  WESIEEXEEL ()
%:g A¢7H'$%.

ZFAREREMMGEIEE
BERAR([EZEKE])HE
BREEREBBBARILE
WEEREERNGEEERA
A(TLREEBAR L &
51 300MW MiaSolé £ 17 2
CIGSHIR KNGS M B B)1L
ERBELEERKRBEESR
IWEEEARER =T —X
F-AmMBEREIIAEXNTHE
NHARB3I8EITL(44.652
BAEL)  RBTIHEDLE
BT - REERBRTEK
AB3BEET(EHEE
437,748,267 7C) © B
B R EARERAA

E I 5% F B 2 B eREE -

A 5% 5 4, B BB .52 55 7 5
s#21 -
A R=T—EmA

Zt+ttEtHEREBE=ZZT—TF
SGWHE AR T+ 1L B
BRABAEE2ENBER
AL B REEBERA
A4 K & 1) % F 300MW
Solibro#% fit Z CIGSS& & X
PmecB BB b SRR E A
ERHEAR  B28EAR
390,000,000 7T #5 € 5
MBI BHRINELR
A 150MW °

37



38

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEN®RD

i

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

B.

Upstream Business: (continued)

1.

Industrial Parks Projects (continued)

(3)

Industrial Park Project in Zibo Shandong
(continued)

In October 2017, 3 8¢ KX [5 88 Y& (K & 3%
transferred 57.52% equity interest in
Shandong Zibo Company to State-owned
Assets Management Company Limited
of Zibo High-tech Industry Development
Zone DEEEMRMEXREREFEELR
“EIE/NE]) ("Zibo High-tech Company”)
and Huafengyuan Investment (Beijing)
Limited Company (£ 2 R E(dt =) A
R 2 7)) ("Huafengyuan Beijing"”). Zibo
High-tech Company owns 33.33% of the
equity interest and is mainly responsible
for the operation and management of the
company, while Huafengyuan owns more
than 50% of the equity interest and leads
the operation of the industrial park project
company. Upon the completion of the
equity transfer, Shandong Zibo Company
will not be an associate of a connected
party and the sales contract will no longer
constitute a connected transaction.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

B.

Upstream Business: (continued)

1.

Industrial Parks Projects (continued)

(3)

Industrial Park Project in Zibo Shandong
(continued)

Zibo Hi-tech Company is a state-owned
asset management company. As at 31
December 2016, its total asset was
RMB12.5 billion. The industry in which it
operates is infrastructure construction. It
engages in management and operation
of state-owned assets as authorised by
the government, foreign investment and
management, land consolidation and
development, city infrastructure, social
undertakings and public livelihood projects,
as well as construction and management of
science and technology industrial parks.

Huafengyuan Beijing is a limited company
in China with registered capital of RMB2.5
billion. It mainly engages in project
investment, investment management,
asset management, business management
consulting, economic and trade consulting,
market research, business planning,
technology development, technical
consulting, technology services, technology
promotion and technology import and
export. Upon the acquisition of equity
interest in Shandong Zibo Company,
Huafengyuan Beijing has injected capital of
RMB1.1 billion into the company.
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EEEN®RD

i

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

B.

Upstream Business: (continued)

1.

Industrial Parks Projects (continued)

(3)

HANERGY THIN FILM

Industrial Park Project in Zibo Shandong
(continued)

Upon the equity transfer, Huafengyuan
became responsible for the increased trade
receivables and total contract receivables
of Hanergy Holding arising from Shandong
Zibo Company. As at 31 December 2017,
the project included the after tax income
(calculated based on the completion
of HK$2,463,821,000

recognised for the MiaSolé and Solibro

percentage)
production lines contract. During the
year, the Group delivered part of the
equipment, and completed the transfer of
the equipment for two production lines
of 450MW. Approximately 76% and 71%
of the project for the MiaSolé production
lines contract and Solibro production lines
contract, respectively, were completed
according to the percentage of completion.
According to the Company's accounting
policies, this project of two production lines
contributed HK$2,464 million to the Group
for the year 2017; and HK$1,062 million,
the amount contributed to the Group's
revenue from 1 January 2017 to 30 October
2017 was recorded as income from a
connected transaction; and the amount of
HK$1,402 million contributed to revenue
from 31 October 2017 to 31 December
2017 was recorded as sales revenue from
a third party. As at 31 December 2017, the
receivables and total contract receivables
from this project amounted to HK$1,713
million, which would be borne by Shandong
Zibo Company, a subsidiary of Huafengyuan
Beijing. Out of this, HK$391 million was
overdue trade receivables.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

B.

Upstream Business: (continued)

2.

SHJ Production Line in Shuangliu

In October 2017, Beijing Hanergy Solar
Investment Co., Ltd. (“BHSI"”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group, and Huafengyuan
(Chengdu) New Energy Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Huafengyuan Chengdu”) entered into
a sales contract of automated integration
production lines of 600MW High Efficiency
Silicon heterojunction (SHJ) solar cells and a
technology contract for the 120MW production
line to be delivered as the first batch during the
year. The contract amount for the production
line was RMB1,398,960,000 and the contract
amount for the technology contract was
RMB175,969,811.32.

In 2017, the Group delivered the first batch
of 120MW production line. Pursuant to
the technology contract, BHSI| will provide
technical services such as planning, move-
in, commissioning, acceptance and training for
the manufacturing facilities of Huafengyuan
Chengdu and integrate the equipment into a
production line. Huafengyuan Chengdu paid
an advance payment of RMB25.5 million
(approximately HK$30.4 million) to BHSI in
December 2017. As at 31 December 2017, after
tax income recognised for the equipment sales
and technology contracts (calculated based
on the completion percentage) for this project
amounted to HK$347,118,000.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

B.

Upstream Business: (continued)

2.

SHJ Production Line in Shuangliu (continued)

Huafengyuan Chengdu, with a registered capital
of RMB300 million, is principally engaged in the
research and development, production and sales
of solar cells and solar cell modules, as well as
in the development and contracting of PV power
stations, contract energy management, technical
consulting services, technology transfer and
foreign trade of goods and technology import
and export. The parent company of Huafengyuan
Chengdu is Huafengyuan Investment (Beijing)
Co., Ltd. which has a registered capital of
RMB2.5 billion.

Jingzhou Project

As indicated in the 2017 Interim Results, in May
2017, the Group entered into a contract for the
production of agricultural greenhouse thin film
solar modules with a total production capacity
of 300MW with Jingzhou Shunbai Solar Power
Company Limited for a total contract sum of
US$213 million.

The Group has started to deliver part of the
equipment since June 2017, and the delivered
equipment is in the process of move-in for
installation. Approximately 84% of the project
has been completed according to the completion
percentage. As at 31 December 2017, based
on the completion percentage, a revenue of
HK$1.26 billion was recognised during the
period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

B.

Upstream Business: (continued)

3.

Jingzhou Project (continued)

Jingzhou Shunbai Solar Power Company Limited
is a subsidiary wholly owned by Guangdong
Shunbai Real Estate Development Co. Ltd. (EX
IEEFEHERZEFR A

are property investment and development,

Its principal activities

wholesale and retail of construction equipment
and materials, as well as the development and
construction of municipal infrastructure. It has a
registered capital of RMB1.5 billion, and holds a
large quantity of fixed assets in properties.

ALTA Business Unit - Signed Strategic
Partnership Agreement with Audi of Germany

In August 2017, the Group entered into a
strategic cooperation agreement with the
German car maker Audi, pursuant to which
both parties agreed to cooperate in the “Audi-
Hanergy Thin-film Solar Cells R&D Project”, by
adopting the gallium arsenide thin-film solar cell
technology of Alta Devices, a wholly-owned
U.S. subsidiary of the Group, which features the
highest conversion efficiency, the lightest unit
weight and the thinnest in the world as well as
its flexibility.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

C.

Downstream Business:

The downstream business of the Group mainly
includes the development, design, integration and
sales of distributed solar power generation systems
and mobile energy application products as well as
the provision of related services, including mainly:
(i) the sales of household rooftop power generation
systems, industrial/commercial rooftop power
generation systems, BIPV systems and photovoltaic
agricultural application systems; (ii) the sales of
mobile energy application products; (iii) the provision
of EPC services, power station operation and
maintenance services and other technical services.

1.  Key Account Business Unit:

During the year, the Group restructured its
downstream business division into “Key
account Business Unit” in order to create a
more efficient sales structure. The scope of its
businesses mainly includes industrial/commercial
distributed PV, BIPV, targeted photovoltaic
poverty alleviation projects and mobile energy
applications. As at 31 December 2017, the Key
Account Business Unit recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$752 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

C.

Downstream Business: (continued)

1.

Key Account Business Unit: (continued)

Selected projects completed in 2017:

(1)

SPIC Building’s BIPV Project at
Financial Street, Beijing

In early 2017, the Group installed
its thin film building integrated
photovoltaic (BIPV) power generation
system at the office building of
State Power Investment Corporation
("SPIC’'s Building") located at
Financial Street in Beijing to supply
the building with green energy.
The total installed capacity of the
photovoltaic module curtain wall
of SPIC's Building amounted to
170.66KW with an anticipated
average annual power generation
capacity of 126,900kWh. The thin
film solar building modules used for
this project can generate electricity
through effective use of sunlight on
the building surfaces. Also, with a
light transmission coefficient of only
1/5 of the original glass, this is a huge
advantage that can reduce 60% of
sunlight radiation and lower the room
temperature in the building by 5-8
degrees Celsius, resulting in energy
savings and enhanced efficiency.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

C.

Downstream Business: (continued)

1.

Key Account Business Unit: (continued)

Selected projects completed in 2017:

(continued)

2)

Photovoltaic Poverty Alleviation
Projects

During the year, the Group continued
its efforts in the development of
photovoltaic poverty alleviation
projects and brought certain revenue
to the Group. In 2017, it has signed
contracts for or completed more than
30 projects throughout the country,
with an installed capacity of over
150 MW, covering 18 provinces
(including: Henan, Shanxi, Shaanxi,
Gansu, Heilongjiang, Shandong, etc.),
generating a revenue of RMB363
million for the Group.

Poverty Alleviation Power Station in
Tangyuan, Jiamusi

Poverty alleviation power station is
a key project in Tangyuan County,
Jiamusi City, which is located in
the province of Heilongjiang. In
early 2017, the county government
conducted an open bidding on three
projects. The Group was one of the
successful bidders and successfully
signed the contract of a photovoltaic
poverty alleviation power station
project of 5.4MW for 18 villages in 3
townships including Heli Township.
The project, mainly using the Solibro
modules, brought in revenue of over
RMB32 million to the Group.
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BEEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

C.

Downstream Business: (continued)

1.

Key Account Business Unit: (continued)

Selected projects completed in 2017:

(continued)

2)

Photovoltaic Poverty Alleviation
Projects (continued)

Photovoltaic Poverty Alleviation
Project in Zuoquan County, Shanxi
Province

Zuoquan County is one of the key
counties listed in the “13th Five-Year
Plan” first-batch photovoltaic poverty
alleviation projects jointly designated
by the National Energy Administration
and State Council Leading Group
Office of Poverty Alleviation and
Development. The Group launched the
poverty alleviation project in Zuoquan
County, Shanxi Province at the end
of 2016. The installed capacity of
the project was TMW, mainly using
modules from Apollo Precision of
the Group. The project brought in a
revenue of more than RMB3.5 million
to the Group.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

C.

Downstream Business: (continued)

1.

Key Account Business Unit: (continued)

Selected projects completed in 2017:

(continued)

(3)

Photovoltaic Agricultural Project in
Xundian, Yunnan

The photovoltaic agricultural project
in Xundian, Yunnan is a photovoltaic
poverty alleviation cooperative
project supported by the Group
and Asia Standard
Group Ltd., with a total installed

International

capacity of 1.97MW. It is estimated
that the annual power generation
capacity will be 2.24 million kWh.
The total contract sum of the project
is RMB21.8 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$24,666,000).
According to the contract and the
accounting policies of the Company,
a revenue of HK$9.33 million was
recognised for this project during the
year 2017 and payment of HK$9.84
million was received.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

C.

Downstream Business: (continued)

1.

Key Account Business Unit: (continued)

Representative Projects Signed in 2017

(1)

Distributed Power Station in Boli
County, Qitaihe City, Heilongjiang:

In 2016, the Group signed a contract
in relation to a 90MW poverty
alleviation project with Boli County
of Qitaihe City in the province of
Heilongjiang. In 2017, part of the
arrangement, a distributed power
station project, was re-tendered
and commenced, using modules
from Apollo Precision with installed
capacity reaching 18.15MW and
investment amount exceeding
RMB163 million. The construction
started in 2017 and power generation
is expected to begin in 2018.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

C.

Downstream Business: (continued)

1.

Key Account Business Unit: (continued)

Representative Projects Signed in 2017

(continued)

2)

Building Integrated Photovoltaics
(BIPV) Project at BGI Centre:

In December 2017,
entered into a contract of total

the Group

contract amount of RMB13.82 million
with Beijing Genomics Institute
("BGI")
to the installation of photovoltaic

in Shenzhen, in relation
daylighting roof of 5,300sgm for
BGl's new headquarters with capacity
of 1,045KW, by providing and
installing Hanergy's Oerlikon BIPV
and MiaSolé flexible modules. This
is a comparatively large single-body
photovoltaic daylighting roof project in
China, the monolithic architecture of
which was selected as Green Building
Three Stars, thus an energy-saving
landmark building. BGI Shenzhen
is a leading enterprise in which the
international genetic technology had
been applied in multiple fields such
as genomic sequencing, medical
treatment and agriculture.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

C.

Downstream Business: (continued)

2.

Overseas Business Unit

(1)

12MW Ground-mounted Power Station in
Roodehaan, the Netherlands

This project has adopted DEP business
model in which the Group first obtains
the right to develop and then will receive
government subsidy after the development.
Afterwards it will seek potential investors
and assist them in completing bank
financing. When investors for the project
are identified, equity shares will be sold by
signing sales agreement for the modules,
after which the modules will be delivered
and technical support provided.

In December 2017, we completed the
early-stage development of this project
and signed the agreement for the
transfer of equity shares and the supply
of 12MW modules with a total contract
amount of RMB57,084,700. DEP business
model has been approved by the Dutch
government and we received the subsidy
from the Dutch government for the SDE +
photovoltaic power generation project. It is
expected that the Group will continue and
expand the DEP business model.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

C.

Downstream Business: (continued)

2.

Overseas Business Unit (continued)

(2)

Rooftop Power Station Project at Plantion,
a Plant and Flower Aution House in the
Netherlands

A 2.3MW thin film power generation
system was installed successfully on the
rooftop of Plantion, a plant and flower
auction house in Ede in the central
Netherlands, which was successfully
connected to the grid and commenced
power generation during the period. The
Group's Solibro modules with a daily
power generation capacity of 10,000kWh in
summer are used in this project, which is
now one of the largest rooftop photovoltaic
power station projects in the Netherlands.
The grid connection of this solar rooftop
project was a successful attempt for the
Group in full-range solar energy applications
business in the Netherlands. This project
was fully recognised by the Chinese
embassy in the Netherlands and was
listed as model of cooperation between
enterprises in China and the Netherlands in
the promotion of the use of clean energy.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

C.

Downstream Business: (continued)

3.

Channel Sales Business Unit

In response to the increasing demand for the
building of household distributed thin film
power generation projects, the group continued
to unify the coverage of channel distributors
and dealers in most of the counties and cities
across the nation. It also focused on the small
and medium-sized distributed power generation
market by providing different thin film power
generation solutions to ordinary families, small-
sized factories, commercial buildings, agricultural
households and villas, so that the public can
have easy access to green living. During the
year, this business unit recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$898 million through the sales
of small and medium-sized household systems
and photovoltaic panels.

As at 31 December 2017, the Company has
introduced four types of household distributed
thin film power generation systems, including 1)
the standard product series designed for ordinary
home users; 2) the small scale industrial/
commercial product series which make use of
idle rooftops of industrial/commercial buildings
for small power stations; 3) the solar shed series
applicable to sunshades and gazebos; and 4) the
Hantile Series power generation modules which
take the shape of the arched roof tiles used
in traditional Chinese architecture for general
roofing. During the period, the number of
orders for these household distributed systems
exceeded 57,000. The Group has approximately
1,400 dealers, and 1,033 of them are active
dealers. The Group reviews dealer activity
regularly and may terminate those dealership
if they are found to be inactive. Furthermore,
the Group strictly manages its dealers and
distributors to ensure that they provide quality
services to the end customers.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

C.

Downstream Business: (continued)

4.

Introduction of Innovative Products and their

Applications

Through continuous technological breakthroughs

and innovative research and development,

the Group introduced a number of unique and

innovative products and applications during the

period to meet the needs of the market. The

following are some examples for the Group's

innovative products and applications:

(1)

Hantile

In July, the Group unveiled its innovative
new product, “Hantile”, which combines
flexible thin-film solar cell with roof tiles to
form a new type of building material which
is capable of efficient power generation
with a conversion rate of 17.5% and high
level of building safety. Since its launch,
Hantile has received market praises and
customer inquiries. Hantile is positioned
as a middle to high-end product which can
be used in the construction of commodity
villas, urban and rural public buildings, self-
built residences in rural areas, beautiful
villages or featured towns, targeted at
various types of customers including real
estate developers, local governments,
high net worth groups and others. During
the year, Hantile successfully passed
the SGS-TUV (SGS and TUV Saarland)
certification, signifying that Hantile has met
the requirements of the international solar
energy product certification and possessed
the qualifications for application in the
European solar energy market.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

C. Downstream Business: (continued)

4. Introduction of Innovative Products and their

Applications (continued)

(1)

(2)

Hantile (continued)

Through the active promotion and efforts
of the Group’'s European team, Hantile
signed a contract for the first 36KW
demonstration project with a Swedish
customer in December 2017 (a total of 5
new commodity villas) for which payment
was made by the customer. The project
was scheduled for installation in February
2018. Hantile will also enter the European
market officially in the first quarter of 2018.

Developing Green China — Integrated
Solutions for Eco-City

On 15 December 2017, the Group hosted
a press conference entitled “Green
China — Eco-city Solutions” at its Beijing
headquarters, signed strategic cooperation
agreements with 12 cooperation partners
including Beigi New Energy, the No.
605 Research Institute of China State
Shipbuilding Industry Corporation, Haier,
Inspur, Zhongyuan International, Etuoke
Qiangi Shuidonggou Tourism Development
Co., Ltd.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

C. Downstream Business: (continued)

4. Introduction of Innovative Products and their

Applications (continued)

(2)

HANERGY THIN FILM

Developing Green China - Integrated
Solutions for Eco-City (continued)

Under the national strategy of new
energy development, Hanergy's Eco-
city integrated solution aims to reduce
energy consumption in cities. Through
comprehensive planning of urban energy
resources, it begins with macro-planning,
business consulting, program design,
construction and implementation, and
operation and maintenance services to
provide a comprehensive package of
energy solutions. With the goal of creating
a city with near-zero carbon emission and
focusing on the deployment of new energy
sources, Hanergy's Green Government
Affairs Solution integrates urban intelligence
management with tools such as Internet
of Things and Big Data. It adopts a more
comprehensive perception and data
collection, more efficient transmission
and data sharing, more intelligent analysis
and data mining systems, to help the
government in building a green, harmonious
and livable city.

At the press conference, the Group signed
strategic cooperation agreements with a
number of companies to prepare for the
promotion of automotive sunroof solutions,
new energy vehicle refueling stations,
shared electric vehicles, decentralised
energy construction in parks and factories,
agricultural photovoltaic poverty alleviation,
construction of small towns, water tourism
development, smart home and other
fields, to carry out all-round cooperation
and expand the thin film solar energy
technology in more applications.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

D.

Connected Transactions with Hanergy Holding
Group

As stated in the 2017 interim report, Apollo Precision
(Fujian) Limited entered into a procurement contract
of automated integrated production lines for CIGS
thin film solar panels with Shandong Zibo Hanergy PV
Company Limited. However, the majority of the equity
interests in Shandong Zibo Hanergy PV Company
Limited was transferred to independent third-party in
October 2017 as mentioned above, and accordingly it
is no longer an affiliated company of Hanergy Holding,
provided that the revenue of HK$1,062,466,945.36
in its entirety before the transfer of equity interests
in Shandong Zibo Company, i.e. the period from 1
January to 30 October 2017, would be regarded
as connected transactions in accordance with the
Company’s accounting policies. Save for the above,
there was no additional connected transactions during
the year.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

E.

Delivery of Production Lines to Hanergy Holding E.

Group

The Group entered into two master sales contracts
with Hanergy Holding for the sale of equipment and M—Z
turnkey production lines for the manufacture of thin
film solar photovoltaic modules to Hanergy Holding
respectively. The table below
shows an analysis of the related purchase capacity

in 2010 and 2011,

¥EOEE)
MEEEREERNEER

AREEDEZRIERDIN T —FF
——FRIMNEHEER u
[AZ e Iﬁxﬁﬁ’iﬁH%%LEJﬁ%?ﬁﬁﬁ
RAHRBEREBEELERZ - TRETRT
BRCAREEERRCEARBMB
BRPEBNE FWANDHN

committed and contract revenue recognised in the
Group's financial statements:

1. Total purchase capacity as

stipulated in the sales contracts

Purchase capacity of module

equipment and production lines
committed by Hanergy Holding as

at 31/12/2017

3. Total contract sum

4. To the extent purchase capacity

committed by Hanergy Holding:
Contract sum attributed to the

(i)
(i)

(iii) Contract revenue (net of VAT
and relevant taxation) recognised

HANERGY THIN FILM

purchase capacity committed
Total cumulative advance
payment made by Hanergy
Holding as at 31/12/2017

Year ended 31/12/2010
Year ended 31/12/2011
Year ended 31/12/2012
Year ended 31/12/2013
Year ended 31/12/2014
Year ended 31/12/2015
Year ended 31/12/2016

Year ended 31/12/2017

I POWER GROUP LINM

2010 2011
Sales Sales
Contracts Contracts
=225 —2——F
HESRE tHESR
HEARTE THRAKEE
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HE-_Z—tF+-_A=+—
B - R O AR B
HRRB R EERRER
1,300MW 7,000MW
HK$'mil HK$'mil
A &5 A &5
AREERE 25,800 61,270
E%E EIERR B AR GE R E
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FUTURE OUTLOOK

A.

Global Solar PV Market

In 2017, the global photovoltaic market had a
strong growth. According to the statistics of China
Photovoltaic Industry Association (CPIA), the newly
installed capacity has reached 102GW globally,
representing a year-on-year growth of over 37%,
while the accumulated photovoltaic capacity has
reached 405GW. In particular, China’s newly installed
capacity has reached 53GW, representing a year-on-
year growth of over 53.6%, which made her ranked
the first in the world for five consecutive years. The
newly installed capacity in traditional markets such
as the United States, Europe and Japan etc. have
reached 12.5GW, 8.8GW and 6.8GW respectively,
which are still occupying an important share in the
global market. In 2017, India and countries in South
America and South East Asia have added new
momentum to the growth of the global demand,
in which the newly installed capacity in India has
reached 9GW, while the installed capacity of Mexico,
Chile, Thailand etc. is also increasing rapidly.

Looking ahead to year 2018, the global photovoltaic
market demand will continue to rise. But under the
influence of uncertainties in the major photovoltaic
markets including the United States, China and India
etc., the increase in demand might slow down.
According to the latest released forecast, the global
installed photovoltaic capacity in 2018 may reach
107GW. According to the latest released forecast
Mainstream markets including China, the United
States, Japan and India etc. will continue to dominate
the global installed capacity.
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FUTURE OUTLOOK (continued)

A.

Global Solar PV Market (continued)

Along with the entry into force of the Paris
Agreement, countries have been actively promoting
the renewable energy power, committing to carbon
emission standards and promoting the development
of new energies including wind power and
photovoltaic power, etc. In light of the technological
improvement in the current photovoltaic industry, the
Levelised Cost of Electricity (LCOE) in each country
continues to decline. The economic advantage of
photovoltaic is rather obvious in future, and there is
still significant momentum for the development of
global photovoltaic.

Solar PV Market in China

The Chinese photovoltaic market continued to stand
on the top of the global photovoltaic market in 2017.
Under the influences of multiple factors including
the photovoltaic poverty alleviation policy, lower
expectation on price of on-grid tariff and the rushed
installations on 30 June and 30 September, etc., the
scale of photovoltaic power generation market has
expanded rapidly. According to the report of CPIA,
in 2017, China's accumulative installed capacity for
photovoltaic has reached 130GW, maintaining its top
spot in the world for three consecutive years; while
its newly installed capacity for photovoltaic was
53GW, representing a year-on-year growth of over
53.6%, maintaining its top spot in the world for five
consecutive years.
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FUTURE OUTLOOK (continued)

A.

Global Solar PV Market (continued)
Solar PV Market in China (continued)

Distributed photovoltaic power stations became
the new highlight in market growth throughout the
year, in which the newly installed capacity was over
19GW, representing a year-on-year growth of around
3.6 times. The figure far exceeded the accumulated
installed capacity of distributed photovoltaic power
stations in last five years, and accounted for up to
36% of the total newly installed capacity for the year.
Household photovoltaic recorded a rapid growth, in
which its installed capacity was more than 3 times
than that of 2016. The accumulative installed capacity
in the Zhejiang, Shandong and Hebei provinces has
exceeded 100,000 households, as compared with
the national figure of around 500,000 households.
According to preliminary statistics, the household
photovoltaic installed capacity has exceeded 2GW.

In 2017, the development of China's photovoltaic
power generation has demonstrated three
characteristics: 1. the development of distributed
photovoltaic power stations accelerated quickly;
2. the obvious shifting of regional distribution of
newly installed photovoltaic capacity, as evidenced
by the more obvious trend of moving from China's
northwestern region to the central and eastern
regions; 3. Photovoltaic development benefits from
new ways of promotion, as demonstrated by the
good results achieved by the implementation of the
photovoltaic ‘Top Runner’ Programs, the significant
technological improvement in the photovoltaic
industry, and the realisation of the substantial

reduction in the cost.
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FUTURE OUTLOOK (continued)

A.

Global Solar PV Market (continued)
Solar PV Market in China (continued)

Looking into 2018, there is still a lot of room for the
development in the Chinese photovoltaic market, as
it is driven by the photovoltaic ‘Top Runner’ Programs
and the bases construction projects, the photovoltaic
poverty alleviation policy and the growing popularity of
the rooftop distributed PV projects. According to the
report “The Prospect of the Development Situation
of China’s Photovoltaic Industry in 2018" ({20184
PR REEERFZREE)) released by CCID Think
Tank, China's newly installed capacity for photovoltaic
in 2018 is expected to reach 40GW. Since February
2018, the Chinese market will allow the distributed
on-grid power generators to sell electricity directly
to nearby business clients, which will help reduce
the over-reliance of rooftop distributed solar energy
projects on individual clients, hence boosting the
installed capacity of rooftop distributed solar energy.
According to the forecast made by BNEF, the
deregulation in the Chinese electricity market will
further boost the rooftop solar energy installations,
and China’s installed capacity for rooftop distributed
solar energy in 2018 is expected to reach 24GW.

Under the guidance of national policy planning, it is
believed that China will accelerate the development
of distributed photovoltaic. The high growth of the
installed capacity for distributed PV is expected to
continue after 2018, taking up a higher proportion.
The Group will seize the opportunities offered by
photovoltaic poverty alleviation and distributed
PV power generation etc., and take the market
advantage of a head start in the industry as well as
the technological and application advantages of the
solar power thin film products; and to improve our
channels, fully exploit the potentials to increase sales,
so as to promote a wider application of the thin film
power generation products in the fields of distributed
and mobile energy.

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED

RRBE (&)

A.

ERAERERTS(E)
FE X B R TE ()

BE-T—N\F  EXKRIERE ]G
EIFMEMBERIEE - KRKEBENE
BEaMmABEEERES T PEKK
MBEMERAEREM - BREESHE
EEMEC2018 FHRBXREXERL
RRE) ZE - NFREHFEHRE
WEELEERAOGW - B T~ N\F—
A RETSEEATFsHmABAERE
BWEEAMOINIBETFHEHES )
EREPREESMHA KB /D
HE-—XFPHNBERKRE HtMEBEE
DA KGR EIE 0 o IEBNEFTE
T REENTISRERE S — PR
HEBABRELZEENE N —F—N\
FHREEREDHAAGEERAERE
EH)24GW

EBEZBERMRESI BT - BETESM
BOMANRER — T \FEDMH
AEREERESER  HLBSE—
FHEAK o NE B EEIUERRKEM
DIHMABREFHE - HEELHEBNT
5B E J AR5 BEE IR & an A B0 AN AR
B BIERE FREZEN BAH
& HYETRETEREDMALED
BEREREREZHER -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENWE DN

FUTURE OUTLOOK (continued)

B.

Policy Support from the Chinese Government

Solar Energy and Renewable Energy in the 13th
Five-Year Plan

On 5 January 2017, National Energy Administration
“13th Five-
(CBe TR
“13th Five-Year Plan for
(CAT A8
which pointed out that clean

held a press conference and issued the
Year Plan for the Development of Energy”
BE +=1 #% and the
the Development of Renewable Energy”
RERT=h"#HE)),
energy will be the main source for the increase
‘13th Five-Year Plan’. The
PRC government will exercise strict control on new

in energy supply in the

coal production capacity, facilitate wind power and
photovoltaic development towards eastern and
central regions, establish a trading mechanism of
‘green certificates’ for renewable energy, achieve a
further 50% reduction on PV power generation tariff
level on the 2015 basis by 2020, and achieve grid
parity in terms of photovoltaic power consumption.
As shown by the plan, the PRC government will
strive for increasing the proportion of consumption
of the non-fossil energy to over 15% during the
‘13th Five-Year Plan’ period. To achieve photovoltaic
power generation of 106GW in 2020, the focus will
be placed on distributed photovoltaic development.
With a combination of a sound system and electricity
tariff reform, the PRC government will strive to
promote market-oriented transactions in order to
help reduce transaction costs. By making full use of
the advantages of distributed photovoltaic, the PRC
government's subsidy policy can be implemented
sooner, which will in turn encourage different
groups of investors to participate fully in distributed
photovoltaic investment and construction. Meanwhile,
attempts in resources allocation should also be
made with respect to marketization, and photovoltaic
top-runner programs should be implemented to
promote the products and applications of advanced
photovoltaic technologies.
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FUTURE OUTLOOK (continued)

B.

Policy Support from the Chinese Government
(continued)

Solar Energy and Renewable Energy in the 13th
Five-Year Plan (continued)

In July 2017, the PRC National Energy Administration
issued the "Guiding Opinions in Relation to the
Implementation of the 13th Five-Year Plan for the
Development of Renewable Energy” ((F % 7] B
FRRBR T=ZA"HAEAEBHIEZER)), which
provided guidelines for the local governments,
energy regulatory authorities and national power
generation companies with respect to strengthening
target achievements, monitoring and assessments
of renewable energy, laying out development
plans, strengthening the implementation of power
grid access as well as the conditions for market
consumption, promoting technological progress and
cost reduction through innovative development,
optimizing the construction scale and control
mechanism of photovoltaic power generation,
exploring the sources of subsidy funds through
various means, and strengthening policy support, etc.
Further guidance and scopes were also provided for
the continuous healthy development of renewable
energy.
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FUTURE OUTLOOK (continued)

B.

Policy Support from the Chinese Government
(continued)

The “13th Five-Year” Photovoltaic Poverty
Alleviation Plan

In December 2017, the National Energy Administration
of the PRC and the State Council Leading Group
Office of Poverty Alleviation and Development issued
the “Notice from the National Energy Administration
and the State Council Leading Group Office of
Poverty Alleviation and Development on issuing the
first batch of photovoltaic poverty alleviation projects
in the 13th Five-Year Plan” ((BIR#ERBEBKRHKE
WEANTET=ZRIF - HHXRKBEBFTENERA)),
in which a total of 8,698 village-level power stations
have been issued in 14 provinces (autonomous
regions) and 236 key counties for photovoltaic
poverty alleviation with a total installed capacity
of 4,186MW. The Notice required every provincial
energy authority and poverty alleviation authority to
implement well the construction and management
work of the poverty alleviation projects. It also urged
local governments to implement the construction
conditions as soon as possible in accordance to
the “Management Guidelines to the Photovoltaic
Power Stations for Poverty Alleviation”, to handle
registration of project filing in a timely manner; to
coordinate with banks and other financial institutions
for the finance arrangements of the projects as
soon as possible, implementing preferential loans
conditions and protection for financing; to urge
the grid companies to formulate solutions for grid
connection, ensuing that the network connection
project and photovoltaic poverty alleviation project
are put into operation in the same period; to organise
the main investment and management entities of
photovoltaic poverty alleviation projects to report the
information including construction progress, operation
and income distribution for poverty alleviation etc. on
the National Renewable Energy Power Generation
Projects Information Management Platform in a timely
manner.
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FUTURE OUTLOOK (continued)

B.

Policy Support from the Chinese Government
(continued)

Paying Greater Attention to Distributed Power
Generation

In October 2017, the National Development and
Reform Commission of the PRC and the National
Energy Administration issued the “Notice on the
implementation of pilot marketized transaction spots
for the distributed power generation” ((BARFEED
MABEMHERZAIRMBA), allowing distributed
power generation units (including individual) to
transact electricity with the nearby power users within
the distribution network, hence encouraging the
nearby consumption of the distributed photovoltaic
energy. Power grid enterprises are responsible
for the electricity transmission of the distributed
power generation and the coordination with relevant
electricity transaction agencies on organizing
marketized transaction for distributed power
generation, as well as the charging of “over-the-
net fee' in accordance to standards approved by the
government. By December, the National Development
and Reform Commission and the National Energy
Administration issued a supplementary notice to
the above notice, giving further instructions as to
the organization of the pilot marketized transaction
spots for the distributed power generation, and to
the content and submission of the pilot schemes,
demonstrating the State’s determination and support
to the promotion of distributed power generation.
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FUTURE OUTLOOK (continued)

B.

Policy Support from the Chinese Government
(continued)

Paying Greater Attention to Distributed Power
Generation (continued)

China’s state and local Government continued to
adopt encouraging and supportive attitude toward
the distributed power generation projects. They
introduced policies to support the distributed
photovoltaic industry, which fully demonstrated their
optimism and long-term support to the development
of distributed photovoltaic. With the eastward
movement of China’s photovoltaic installations
from the northwestern part of the country, and the
maturing conditions of grid parity for PV power, it
is expected that the distributed photovoltaic power
generation will enter a stage of rapid development in
near future, and will achieve rapid growth especially
in the densely populated eastern and southern
regions.

Thin Film Solar Cell as a Focus of National
Strategy

Starting from 2016, a number of ministries and
commissions of the central government, including
the State Council and the National Development
and Reform Commission of the PRC, successively
promulgated a number of documents related to the
manufacturing of energy equipment, key products
of the strategic emerging industries, the 13th Five-
Year Science and Technology Innovation Plan and
the development of key new materials for the
manufacturing industry, in which CIGS thin film
cells, high efficiency GaAs cells, thin film solar cell
manufacturing equipment, high efficiency photovoltaic
cells, as well as CIGS and GaAs materials were listed
as the focus of strategic development. There will
be great potentials for our future development, as
the manufacturing equipment for thin film solar cells
developed by the Group as well as our CIGS and
GaAs thin film cells are on the list.
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FUTURE OUTLOOK (continued)

C.

Implementation of the Sales-oriented Strategy of
“One Base Two Fronts”

During the period, the Group continued the corporate
restructuring and governance improvement,
establishing a clearer and efficient governance
structure, a more scientifically regulated business
process and a customer-oriented sales culture.
The Group has adopted the strategic deployment
of “One Base Two Fronts”, that is, based on the
continuous innovation of thin film solar technology,
and with ‘turnkey’ solutions for high-end equipment
and production lines on the left front, and solutions
for distributed energy and mobile energy on the
right front, with focus on the upstream business of
equipment production lines, and the downstream
business of distributed and mobile energy.

The upstream business actively develops the
industrial park projects and independent third-party
clients, and provides integrated “turnkey” solutions
for thin film solar equipment and production lines.
The Group has successfully developed a number
of industrial park projects and independent third-
part clients, and also secured large orders. During
the period, phased delivery has been completed
in succession and large amount of payment has
been received. Currently, the Group is still actively
negotiating a number of industrial park projects and
is expected to sign production lines sales contracts,
which will contribute income to the business results
in 2018 as well as in the coming years.
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FUTURE OUTLOOK (continued)

C.

Implementation of the Sales-oriented Strategy of
“One Base Two Fronts” (continued)

The downstream business provides customers
with ‘one-stop’ services and solutions, which are
mainly driven by distributors/channel partners
and supplemented by direct sales to major
customers. The Group has achieved good results
with the downstream photovoltaic applications
during the period, while the business model
and organization for distributors of household
distributed system have become more mature after
three years of development. In addition, with the
nation’s strengthened support toward distributed
photovoltaics, steady growth has been achieved in
the businesses including industrial and commercial
power generation, photovoltaic poverty alleviation,
BIPV, agricultural applications etc. New innovations
and cooperation have also been realised in the mobile
energy application business.

Research and Development for New Products and
New Applications

In the past year, the Group’s thin film solar energy
cells have been used in a number of mobile traffic
applications one after another. From solar energy
powered boats, shared bikes to solar energy
powered vehicles, unmanned aerial vehicles and
other types of transportation, all have enjoyed green
and uninterrupted electricity supplies because of
the installation of thin film solar energy cells. The
Group has also responded to the market demand by
introducing various types of portable mobile energy
thin film power generation paper, power generation
pack, power generation backpack and small off-grid
power generation system, so as to provide users
with a more convenient and efficient mobile power
usage experience as well as satisfying the demand
for mobile energy solutions from markets including
mobile communications, outdoor sports, field
operations and emergency rescue.
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FUTURE OUTLOOK (continued)

D.

Research and Development for New Products and
New Applications (continued)

In July 2017,
brand new product which integrates MiaSolé's high

the Group introduced “Hantile”, a

efficiency thin film solar energy cells with glass to
form new types of rooftop construction materials,
and with these safe and durable tiles, roof-top solar
energy power generation can be achieved. These
products will be heavily used in the applications
for the construction market which have enormous
growth potentials, and they have been promoted
to the markets such as China and Europe. By the
end of 2017, a Swedish client has signed the first
order for Hantile in overseas market. It is believed
that in future more clients will accept and favor
such innovative new energy product which can both

generate power and be beautiful and practical.

The Group has developed a systematic plan to the
product and it centers around two main topics — living
and travelling. Under these, a total of twelve product
categories, including building and construction
materials power generation products, consumer type
portable power generation products, household power
generation systems, flexible industrial rooftop power
generation systems, agricultural power generation
products, car-top solutions for solar energy powered
vehicles, and high-altitude long-endurance unmanned
aerial vehicles and satellite applications and other
special products have been deployed. We have
also established the Global Application Products
Development Centre to carry out the management
of product development life cycle by following the
IPD process, so as to develop more products and
improvement upgrades for launching to the market.
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FUTURE OUTLOOK (continued)

D. Research and Development for New Products and
New Applications (continued)

In the past year, the Group continued to strengthen
its technological innovation, develop new products,
explore new business models and develop its core
business. To be in line with the economic trend of
the vigorous development of new energy industrial
parks in various parts of China, the Group also
actively promoted the turnkey projects and large-
scale localization of thin film solar energy module
production equipment and production lines. The
Group also developed major photovoltaic application
businesses such as the channel sales of downstream
distributed power generation, industrial and
commercial power generation, photovoltaic poverty
alleviation, BIPV and mobile energy etc. The Group
has comprehensively promoted and thoroughly
implemented the customer-oriented corporate culture,
and established a strong matrix management system
with project management as the core. The Group will
continue to seize the opportunities, ride on the trend,
and make every effort to promote a wider application
of the thin film power generation technology and
products.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings of HK$1,126,008,000
(31 December 2016: HK$1,050,635,000) while the
cash and cash equivalents amounted to approximately
HK$2,496,760,000 (31 December 2016: approximately
HK$248,674,000).

Gearing ratio (total debt less cash and cash equivalent, tax
payable, deferred income, other non-current liabilities and
deferred tax liabilities (“Net Debt”) over adjusted capital
and net debt) as at 31 December 2017 was 47.86% (31
December 2016: 36.43%).
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TREASURY POLICIES AND EXCHANGE &
OTHER EXPOSURES

The Group’s monetary transactions and deposits continued
to be in the form of US dollars, Renminbi and Hong Kong
dollars. The Group expected that the exposure to exchange
rates fluctuation was not significant and therefore had not
engaged in any hedging activities.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities
as at 31 December 2017 (31 December 2016: Nil).

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016, the
Group's subsidiaries have charged assets as security for
the bank borrowings (The details are set out in note 25
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2017, information on
sales and purchases relating to the major customers and
suppliers is summarized as follows:
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Sales (Percentage over total sales)

The largest customer BAEF
Five largest customers AREF

Purchases (Percentage over total
purchases)

The largest supplier A ER
Five largest suppliers AR FER

At 31 December 2016, Shandong Macrolink New
Resources Technology Limited was the Group's largest
customer. All transactions between the Group and
the customer concerned were carried out on normal
commercial terms.

Other than Hanergy Holding and its affiliates (collectively
“Hanergy Affiliates”), none of the directors of the
Company (the “Director”), their associates, or any
shareholder of the Company which to the knowledge
of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital had a beneficial interest in any of the
Group's five largest customers or five largest suppliers for
the year ended 31 December 2016.
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PERSONNEL

The number of employees of the Group as at 31 December
2017 was 4,250 (31 December 2016: 3,162) of whom 695
(31 December 2016: 511) were office administration staff.

Remuneration of employees and directors are determined
according to individual performance and the prevailing
trends in different areas and reviewed on an annual basis.
The Group has also contributed mandatory provident fund,
retirement funds and provided medical insurance to its
employees.

Bonuses are awarded based on individual performance
and overall Group performance, and are made to certain
employees of the Group.

SUSPENSION OF TRADING

Trading in the Company's shares has been halted with
effect from 10:40 a.m. since 20 May 2015. The Company
received a letter from the Securities and Futures
Commission (“SFC") dated 15 July 2015 in relation to the
Rule 8(1) direction of Stock Market Rules, in which the
SFC directed the Stock Exchange to suspend trading in the
securities of the Company.

The Company has been communicating with the SFC
to seek resumption of trading of the Company's shares
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange”). Finally the SFC set out two requirements
for the resumption. One requirement is that Mr. Li Hejun
("Mr. Li", an executive director and the Chairman of the
Company from 15 May 2014 to 20 May 2016) and the four
former independent non-executive directors (“INEDs")
of the Company agreeing not to contest liability and the
court orders sought by the SFC in the civil proceedings
commenced by the SFC under section 214 of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (“SFQO") against them (”“Section 214 Proceedings”).
The other requirement is the publication of a disclosure
document by the Company (“Disclosure Document”)
which will provide detailed information on the Company, its
activities, business, assets, liabilities, financial performance
and prospects.
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SUSPENSION OF TRADING (continued)

On 23 January 2017, the SFC has commenced the Section
214 Proceedings to seek disqualification orders against Mr.
Li and the four former INEDs. The disqualification orders,
if given by the Court, will disallow the five persons from
being a director or being involved, directly or indirectly, in
the management of any corporation for a certain period
in Hong Kong. The SFC also required Mr. Li to promise to
procure Hanergy Holding and its subsidiaries to pay the
outstanding Secured Indebtedness of HK$3,164,727,000.

On 4 September 2017, the SFC has obtained orders from
the High Court of Hong Kong, which, inter alia, disallowed
Mr. Li, Ms. Zhao Lan, Mr. Wang Tongbo, Professor Xu
Zheng and Dr. Wang Wenjin from being a director or
being involved, directly or indirectly, in the management
of any corporation for a certain period in Hong Kong, and
accordingly, the appointment of Ms. Zhao, Mr. Wang,
Professor Xu and Dr. Wang as INEDs of the Company has
been terminated on the same day (the “Termination”).
According to the Civil Court Orders, Mr. Li would be
disqualified from being a director or being involved in the
management of any listed or unlisted company in Hong
Kong for 8 years. Ms. Zhao and Mr. Wang will be both
disqualified for 4 years. Professor Xu and Dr. Wang will be
both disqualified for 3 years.

According to the civil orders from the High Court of Hong
Kong dated 4 September 2017 (“Date of Court Orders”),
Mr. Li promised to procure Hanergy Holding and its
subsidiaries to pay the Remaining Secured Indebtedness
owed to the Company within 24 months from the Date of
Court Orders.
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SUSPENSION OF TRADING (continued)

Mr. Li and the Company also entered into a deed of
guarantee (“Deed of Guarantee"), pursuant to which Mr.
Li provided a personal guarantee in favour of the Company
in respect of the Secured Indebtedness; and by way of
first fixed charge, 1,367,000,000 ordinary shares in the
Company's issued share capital held by Hanergy Option
Limited (the “Securing Party”, a company owned by Mr.
Li) were mortgaged and pledged in favour of the Company.

The first requirement set out by the SFC for the
resumption of trading of the Company’'s shares was
satisfied. The Company has been putting its best
endeavours to fulfill the second requirement in respect of
the Disclosure Document. The Company will make further
announcement(s) on the progress of its resumption plan in
due course.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESEHRE

The Directors have pleasure in submitting their annual
report together with the audited financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. During the year under review, the Group’s revenue
and operating profit were derived principally from the
manufacture of equipment and turnkey production lines
for the manufacture of both amorphous silicon based and
CIGS thin film solar photovoltaic modules and sale of solar
power stations and rooftop power stations.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of operating segment information of the Group
during the year are set out in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2017 and the state of the Group's affairs as at that date
are set out in the consolidated financial statements on
pages 131 to 298.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend to declare a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: Nil).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESEHRE

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND
CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

To ascertain the entitlement to attend and vote at the
annual general meeting of the Company to be held
on Friday, 15 June 2018 (the “"AGM?"), the register of
members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday,
12 June 2018 to Friday, 15 June 2018 (both dates
inclusive) during which period no transfer of shares
will be registered. In order to qualify for attending and
voting at the AGM, all properly completed transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company's branch share registrar and
transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at
Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’'s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday,
11 June 2018.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and
share options during the year are set out in notes 27 and
28 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company's listed securities
for the year ended 31 December 2017.
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ESEHRE

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

In accordance with the reporting and announcement
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the
Group had the following continuing connected transactions
during the year:

(1

Supplemental agreements with Sichuan Hanergy
Photovoltaic Limited ("Sichuan Hanergy")

On 17 March 2014, Apollo Precision (Fujian) Limited
("Fujian Apollo”) entered into supplemental
agreements to the original agreements with Sichuan
Hanergy. The entering into the Supplemental
Agreements constitutes a continuing connected
transaction under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
Details of the Supplemental Agreements are disclosed
below:

(i)

(ii)

Supplemental Tenancy Agreements

Pursuant to the terms of the three Supplemental
Tenancy Agreements, Fujian Apollo shall rent the
Office Premises, the Factory Premises and the
Staff Dormitory owned by Sichuan Hanergy for a
term of three years commencing from 17 March
2014 to 9 March 2017. The monthly rent for the
Office Premises shall be RMB19,680 per month.
The monthly rent for the Factory Premises shall
be RMB314,280 per month. The monthly rent
for the Staff Dormitory shall be RMB10,800 per
month. The monthly rent is determined after
mutual agreement with reference to the monthly
rental of other similar premises in Shuangliu
County, Sichuan Province, the PRC.

Supplemental Equipment Lease Agreement

Pursuant to the terms of the Supplemental
Equipment Lease Agreement, Sichuan Hanergy
shall lease the Production Line located in the
Factory Premises with equipments associated
with the Production Line to Fujian Apollo for a
term of three year commencing from 17 March
2014 to 9 March 2017. The monthly rent for the
Production Line and the equipments associated
thereto shall be RMB1,376,986.40 per month.
The monthly rent is determined after mutual
agreement with reference to the monthly rental
costs of other similar equipments used in the
Production Line in the PRC.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESEHRE

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

()  Supplemental agreements with Sichuan Hanergy
(continued)

(iii) Supplemental Technology Agreement

Pursuant to the terms of the Supplemental
Technology Agreement, Sichuan Hanergy shall
upon the request of Fujian Apollo to provide
relevant equipments, material and facilities to
allow Fujian Apollo to carry out research on thin
film solar energy technology development. In
particular, Sichuan Hanergy shall upon request
of Fujian Apollo to provide PECVD furnaces
for research to be conducted by Fujian Apollo.
The term of the Supplemental Technology
Agreement shall commence from 17 March 2014
to 9 March 2017. The consideration payable
by Fujian Apollo to Sichuan Hanergy shall be
at RMB12,000 per PECVD furnace. Assuming
that the maximum number of PECVD furnaces
to be utilised by Fujian Apollo shall be 2,600,
the maximum aggregate consideration payable
by Fujian Apollo to Sichuan Hanergy under the
Supplemental Technology Agreement shall be
RMB31,200,000. The consideration payable by
Fujian Apollo to Sichuan Hanergy is determined
after mutual agreement with reference to the
costs and expenses to be borne by Sichuan
Hanergy in respect of each PECVD furnace.

Based on the monthly rental payment under
the Supplemental Tenancy Agreements and
Supplemental Equipment Lease Agreement
and the maximum anticipated consideration
payable under the Supplemental Technology
Agreement, the maximum aggregate annual
amount payable by the Group under the
Supplemental Agreements will be approximately
RMB51,860,952.

The details of the above transactions from (i) to
(iii) were set out in an announcement dated 18
March 2014.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(1

(1)

Charter Flights Agreement

On 22 July 2014, Beijing Hanergy, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a Charter
Flight Agreement with Hanergy Civil Aviation
Company Limited (“Hanergy Aviation”), pursuant
to which, Hanergy Aviation agreed to provide charter
flights and related services to Beijing Hanergy for
a term of three years from 23 July 2014 to 22 July

2017 (both dates inclusive).

The details of the transactions were set out in an
announcement dated 23 July 2014.

MiaSolé Service Agreement

On 7 March 2016, MiaSolé Hi-Tech Corp. (“MiaSolé
Hi-Tech"),
Company, and MiaSolé, a wholly owned subsidiary of

a wholly-owned subsidiary of the

Hanergy Holding, entered into a service agreement
(the "Service Agreement”) pursuant to which
MiaSolé Hi-Tech agreed to provide to MiaSolé
business and commercial management, accounting
and finance, legal, purchasing/procurement, and
other general administrative services necessary for
the operation of MiaSolé's business as a purchasing
agent for transacting product and direct material sales
between the customer and vendor base.

Pursuant to the Service Agreement, MiaSolé shall pay
to MiaSolé Hi-Tech a monthly fixed fee of US$67,500
from 1 January 2016 to 31 December 2018.

The details of the transactions were set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 8 March 2016.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESEHRE

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company
had reviewed the above continuing connected transactions
(I) — () and confirmed the transaction had been entered
into:

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Company;

(2)  either on normal commercial terms or, if there were
not sufficient comparable transactions to judge
whether they were on normal commercial terms, on
terms no less favourable to the Company than terms
available to or from (as appropriate) independent third
parties; and

(3) in accordance with the relevant agreement governing
them on terms that were fair and reasonable and in
the interests of the shareholders of the Company as
a whole.

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to
report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions
in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information and with reference to Practice Note 740
Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ernst &
Young have issued their unqualified letter containing their
findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed above by the Group in
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy
of the auditor’'s letter has been provided by the Company
to the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
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SHARE OPTION

(1

Share Option Scheme
Principal terms of Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to the terms of the share option scheme
adopted by the Company on 28 August 2007 (the
“Share Option Scheme”), the Company may grant
option to (i) any director, employee or consultant of
the Group or a company in which the Group holds
an equity interest or a subsidiary of such company
("Affiliate"”); or (ii) any discretionary trust whose
discretionary objects include any director, employee
or consultant of the Group or an Affiliate; or (iii)
a company beneficially owned by any director,
employee or consultant of the Group or an Affiliate;
(iv) any customer, supplier or adviser whose service
to the Group or business with the Group contributes
or is expected to contribute to the business or
operation of the Group as may be determined by
the Directors from time to time to subscribe for the
shares of the Company.

The Share Option Scheme is set up for the purpose
of attracting and retaining quality personnel and other
persons and providing incentive to them to contribute
to the business and operation of the Group. To this
end, the Directors may specify the minimum period,
if any, for which an option must be held or the
performance targets, if any, that must be achieved
before the option can be exercised.

Share options may be granted without any initial
payment for the share options at an exercise price
(subject to adjustments as provided therein) equal
to the highest of (i) the nominal value of the shares;
(i) the closing price per share as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of the
grant of the share option; and (iii) the average closing
price per share as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of the grant of the
share option.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESEHRE

SHARE OPTION (continued)

(1

Share Option Scheme (continued)
Principal terms of Share Option Scheme (continued)

The maximum number of shares which may be
issued upon the exercise of all options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme(s) of the company shall not exceed
10% of the share capital of the Company in issue
on 28 August 2007, the date of adoption of the
Share Option Scheme, unless a refresh approval of
the shareholders is obtained. At a special general
meeting of the Company held on 11 June 2010,
the shareholders of the Company have approved to
refresh the 10% limit. As at the date of this report,
the total number of shares available for issue upon
the exercise of all options granted or to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme is 461,224,947
(representing 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of passing the resolution to
refresh the 10% limit).

The maximum number of the shares (issued and to
be issued) in respect of which share options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme to any one
grantee in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1%
of the share capital of the Company in issue on the
last date of such 12-month period unless approval of
the shareholders of the Company has been obtained
in accordance with the Listing Rules.

The Share Option Scheme was approved by the
shareholders of the Company on 28 August 2007 and
has expired on 27 August 2017. The exercise period
of an option granted under the Share Option Scheme
shall not be more than ten years from its date of
grant and may include the minimum period, if any,
for which such option must be held before it can be
exercised.
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ESEHRE

SHARE OPTION (continued)

()  Share Option Scheme (continued)

Principal terms of Share Option Scheme (continued)

The exercisable period of the share options granted

was determined by the directors of the Company

each time when the options were granted. Holders

of share options granted under the Share Option

Scheme may only exercise their options during the

exercisable periods as follows:

Date of grant

Exercisable period
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share options
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESEHRE

SHARE OPTION (continued)

(1

Share Option Scheme (continued)
Movements of share options

Details of the movements in the share options
granted under the Share Option Scheme during the

year are as follows:
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Movement of
share options
Outstanding as ~ during the year  Qutstanding as
Exercise at FREREZEE at
Eligible persons Date of grant price  Exercise period 1172017 Lapsed 311212017
RZB-tf RIB-1%
-B-H tZh=1-H
AERAL RiLAH %8 &8 HAITE BAX HATE
(HKS)
(B1)
Director
EE
Dr. Lam Yat Ming Eddie 2711012014 1716 2710/2014-31/10/2019 1,600,000 (200,000) 1,400,000
il ZB-BETAZTHA ZE-REHAZHHRECE-NETAZT-A
Other employees 2711012014 1716 27110/2014-31/10/2019 33,440,000 (11,880,000) 21,560,000
EfEE ZZ-METAZTHA ZF-BEHAZTHREZE-NETA=1-A
30/1/2015 361 30/1/2015-29/1/2020 16,020,000 (4,660,000) 11,360,000
ZZ-RF-A=TH ZE-RF-AZTHRECECZE-ACNA
16/4/2015 6.91 16/4/2015-15/412020 16,020,000 3,780,000) 12,240,000
ZE-REMATRA “5-nFMAT HECEZENATRA
67,080,000 (20,520,000) 46,560,000
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SHARE OPTION (continued)

(1)

Other Options

The Company has also granted other options to
certain consultants upon completion of acquisition
of Apollo Precision Ltd. and its subsidiaries (“Solar
Business”) in November 2009 as incentive of their
contribution to the development of Solar Business
(the “Other Options 1”). The Other Options | were
not granted under the Share Option Scheme.

Principal terms of the Other Options |

The Other Options | entitled the consultants to
subscribe for an aggregate of 320,000,000 shares of
the Company as adjusted after the share subdivision
effective from 5 November 2009 at an exercise price
of HK$0.25 after the share subdivision effective from
5 November 2009 for a period of 5 years from the
date of granting of the Other Options |. The vesting
period was 1 year from the date of grant. Details of
the Other Options | are set out in the circular dated
29 October 2009. The Other Options | was expired on
24 November 2014.

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED
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SHARE OPTION (continued)

(1)

Other Options (continued)
Principal terms of the Other Options Il

On 18 September 2011, the Company entered into
the 2011 Option Agreements with each of Hanergy
Holding and Apollo Management respectively
pursuant to which the Company conditionally
agreed to grant the 2011 Options to Hanergy
Holding (or its designated individuals or entities)
and Apollo Management (the “Other Options II").
On 16 December 2011 (the “"Date of Grant”),
fulfilment of the conditions precedent to each of the

after

2011 Options Agreements, the Company had granted
the Other Options Il to Hanergy Option Limited
(Hanergy Holding's designated entities) and Apollo
Management. The Other Options Il were not granted
under the Share Option Scheme.

The Other Options Il entitled Hanergy Option Limited
(Hanergy Holding's designated entities) and Apollo
Management to subscribe for an aggregate of 1.3
billion shares and 100 million shares of the Company
at an exercise price of HK$0.1664 respectively. They
will lapse upon the fifth anniversary of the Date of
Grant.

Details of the Other Options |l are set out in the
circular dated 14 November 2011. The Other Options
Il was expired on 15 December 2016.
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SHARE OPTION (continued)

(1)

Other Options (continued)
Principal terms of the Other Options Il

On 6 September 2012 (after the trading hours), the
Company and Hanergy Holding entered into the
Option Agreement, pursuant to which the Company
has conditionally agreed to grant Hanergy Holding
(or such person(s) at its direction) the Options to
subscribe for an aggregate of 600,000,000 Option
Shares at the exercise price of HK$0.25 per Option
Share (the "“Other Options IlI"). On 31 December
2012 (the “Grant Date”),
conditions precedent to Option Agreement, the

after fulfilment of the

Company had granted the Other Options Il to
Hanergy Investment Limited (Hanergy Holding's
designated entities). The Other Options Il were not
granted under the Share Option Scheme. They will
lapse upon the fifth anniversary of the Grant Date.

For the Other Options IlIl granted to Hanergy
December 2012, the
exercise periods are as follows:

Investment Limited on 31

(i) 300,000,000 Option Shares are exercisable
during the period commencing from the Grant
Date to the day immediately prior to the fifth
anniversary of the Grant Date;

(i) 150,000,000 Option Shares are exercisable
during the period commencing from the first
anniversary of the Grant Date to the day
immediately prior to the fifth anniversary of the
Grant Date; and

(ii) 150,000,000 Option Shares are exercisable
during the period commencing from the second
anniversary of the Grant Date to the day
immediately prior to the fifth anniversary of the
Grant Date.

The Other Options Ill was expired on 30 December
2017.
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RRNE EEREERET LB E RS - &
- ARFREBBKRGHEE R ZEEE
ROHEMETRZEBAT)BELER
AR RERERMD25EILZ
T ERE A ££600,000,000 % & A% 4
Bm(TEEEREN]) R -T——
FHZA=+—RA(REBH]) - EK
BREGZE 2 BRGEHRE - AARIEM
Hanergy Investment Limited (G gg$E
RIEE 2 ERE)FHEMBEREN - &
fth B AR 4 111 3 EAR IR BB AR M AT IR -
WL BB REF R -

R-Z——+-A=+—-BKT
Hanergy Investment Limited 2 B fhfg
BB N 2 AT(ERT

(i) 300,000,000 & & A% #E A% 15 A AR
HEEEEEEREAPRBEFR
Z B IFEAR AT

(i) 150,000,000 & & R 42 A% 19 BT B %
HAH—BFEEERREBHR
BEAZ BIEMEAITE &

(iii) 150,000,000 & & i 42 A% 19 AT B %
HAHMEFEEERREBHT
BFR < B IEBREATTE
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(1)

SHARE OPTION (continued) BREZ)
Other Options (continued) () HunlEmeEZE)
Movements of Other Options BmBRESE
Details of the movements in the Other Options FARFREENEMERE 2 Z8)F
granted to the participants during the year are as B
follows:
Outstanding Exercised Lapsed  Outstanding
Exercise as at during during as at
Name Date of grant price  Exercise period 1112017 the year the year 311212017
RZZ-tF RZB-t#F
-B-H TZR=1-H
£ RERH ke 58 HA{TE Rk Rk ESHI
(HKS)
(E71)
QOther Options Ill granted ~ 31/12/2012 0.25  31/12/2012-30/12/2017 286,625,400 (286,625,400) - -
to Hanergy Investment
Limited
% Hanergy Investment 3% “E-CEt-A=1t-B%
Limited 2 E tEE R I t-A=1-H ZR-tETZAZTH

The consideration received from issued of shares
upon exercise of other options is approximately
HK$71,656,350 during the year.
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RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year
are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity of the consolidated financial statements set out on
pages 135 and 136.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company’s reserves
available for distribution to shareholders at 31 December
2017 were as below:

it
AEEZ FBENFRAZEBIERENF 1358
REF1BBAFAVHRRPEAESEB K
A o

BEERA ARAIR_ZE—+LF+ A
—T—HUHSIRFREZHEHEOT

2017 2016

—E—+F AN

HK$’000 HK$000

FET FET

Contributed surplus BEHAHG 33,132 33,132

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the
excess of the carrying value of the subsidiaries acquired
over the nominal value of the Company's shares issued
in prior years and reorganisation during the year ended 31
December 2009 which, under the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda (as amended), is available for distribution to
the shareholders of the Company. However, the Company
cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out
of contributed surplus if:

(i) itis, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its
liabilities as they become due; or

(i) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be

less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued
share capital and share premium account.

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’'s bye-laws (“Bye-laws”) although there is no
statutory restriction against such rights under the laws in
Bermuda.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year are set out in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BORROWINGS AND INTEREST
CAPITALISED

Details of the borrowings of the Group outstanding at 31
December 2017 is set out in note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements. There is no capitialised interest in
2017.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries at 31
December 2017 are set out in note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A five year financial summary is shown on pages 299 and
300.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yuan Yabin (Chairman)

Dr. Lam Yat Ming Eddie (Vice Chairman)

Mr. Si Haijian (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Huang Songchun (Financial Controller)

Mr. Xu Xiaohua

Mr. Zhang Bin

Mr. Wang Xiong (Vice Chairman)
(Resigned on 15 March 2018)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lo Man Tuen, G.B.S., JP

(Appointed on 4 September 2017)
Professor He Xiaofeng

(Appointed on 4 September 2017)
Professor Zhang Qiusheng

(Appointed on 4 September 2017)
Mr. Wang Dan

(Appointed on 4 September 2017)
Ms. Zhao Lan

(Terminated on 4 September 2017)
Mr. Wang Tongbo

(Terminated on 4 September 2017)
Professor Xu Zheng

(Terminated on 4 September 2017)
Dr. Wang Wenjing

(Terminated on 4 September 2017)

In accordance with the bye-law 86(2) of the Company's
Bye-Laws, Mr. Lo Man Tuen, G.B.S., JP, Professor He
Xiaofeng, Professor Zhang Qiusheng and Mr. Wang Dan
will hold office until the AGM and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election.

In accordance with the bye-law 87(1) of the Company's
Bye-Laws, Mr. Xu Xiaohua and Mr. Zhang Bin will retire
from office at the AGM and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election.

S
FAREEARERRHZEEMT :

BITES

RUWEE(LE)

M—ISEL(F/EE)

AL (EEHITE)

BINESE (A

fRBEEER L

SRR

FHEE(FEE)
(R=ZF—NNE=F+HHFHE)

BYFHITES

EXmkE, G.B.S., X F#+
(R-ZF—+F/NAFAEZT)
]/ N R
(R-—F—+FNANEEZE)
SRIKAEHE
(R-ZF—tF /A AEZE)
ITREE
(R-ZF—+F/NAFAEZT)
HEZt
(R-—F—+FNANAEIEZEEF)
TREEE
(R=F—tFNAAKIEZE)
TREHIR
(R=—F—FNAMNAKIEZE)
EXEFEL
(R-—F—+FNANAEIEZEE)

RIFARAZ A RABRISE 86(2) & - E Xk
%, G.B.S., XF#HL - I/ EHIR - RME
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SHARES

As at 31
executive of the Company had interest or short position

December 2017, the directors or the chief

in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the "SFO")) as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO
or as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code"”) as set
out in Appendix 10 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) as
follows:

EEZROER

RZT—+F+_A=+—B ARAES
EEBITHRABEARRBREMEEE(EE
REFLBEGRD(TRERAE®RH ) FEXV
BB Z By ~ BRI K E S A E AR
RARFIRIERE 7 R PG GG 362 (R AT E
ZEBREMzERIRR  IREFBHER
SRARARES LA EmRR DM
BTHAE EMBETAETETESFIHN
FETRI(EESFR D ANGARAREE
EERXSMERATF (TR 2 e S0%
BESIS

Number of

underlying shares
under derivatives

Percentage of
issued share

Number equity/share capital
Name of Director Capacity held of shares options Total interests (%)
frETARR EERT
BT 2 HERS/ RAFAL
BEEHE BEaH RH#E BREZA AER (%)
Mr. YUAN Yabin Beneficial owner 20,220,000(L) — 20,220,000(L) 0.048
ROWEE ERlAA
Dr. LAM Yat Ming Eddie  Beneficial owner — 1,400,000(L) 1,400,000(L) 0.003
H—IBET ERlEAA
Mr. HUANG Songchun Beneficial owner 1,162,500(L)
ERELE ERlAA
Interest of spouse 1,321,500(L) — 2,484,000(L) 0.006
FigfEs
Mr. XU Xiaohua Beneficial owner 6,000,000(L) — 6,000,000(L) 0.014
RREELE EnlAA

L — Long positions 478
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DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SHARES (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, none
of the Directors and the chief executive of the Company
had registered an interest or short position in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations that was required to be recorded
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed under the section headed "“Connected
Transactions and Continuing Connected Transactions” in
the report of the Directors and note 34 to the consolidated
financial statements, no contracts of significance to which
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a Director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed Share Option
above, at no time during the year was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance concerning the management
or administration of the whole or any substantial part of
any business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the year.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with
the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the employing company within one year
without the payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED
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RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Details of the Group’s retirement scheme are shown in
note 2.4 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group’'s retirement scheme contributions charged
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income for the year amounted to
approximately HK$43,254,000 (2016: HK$31,567,000).

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2017, the register of substantial
shareholders maintained by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO shows that other than the interests
disclosed above in respect of certain directors and chief
executives of the Company, the following shareholders had
notified the Company of relevant interests in the issued
share capital of the Company.

RIKEHE

AR B R NE BIFF B RN AR 6 B 5 R Y
2.4

AFEE ERABEZEEME2EEERNR
ZAREBIRIRETE 2 34 A 43,254,0007%8
TT(ZZF—7<4%F : 31,567,000/87T) °

FERR

RZB—+tF+ZA=+—H ARQFARE
B MEEGPIE 336 IKFEZ EERRAM
B BEXAREEBEETESERARA
TETBRABZEmI  THERRD BN
REIFARARA D BT Z 1ERE -

Percentage of
issued share

Interests in capital

Name of shareholder Capacity Shares (%)

HE BT

RAEB DL

RERERE ERME igrig s (%)

Mr. Li He Jun Interest of controlled corporation  31,171,300,297(L) 73.96
FHA LA FREHERE 2 e (Note 1)
(Btat 1)

3,122,000,000(S) 7.41

IEREHIBEBEZERAF Interest of controlled corporation  10,341,329,376(L) 24.53
FrEHlERE 2 e (Note 1)
(Btat 1)

IERBEENREERAA Interest of controlled corporation  10,341,329,376(L) 24.53
FriESEE 2 (Note 1)
(Hiat1)

Hanergy Holding Beneficial owner & Interest of 10,341,329,376(L) 24.53
EREIERR controlled corporation (Note 1)
Eni A ARFEHAER 2 B (Hiat1)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Name of shareholder

RR &R

Capacity

EEME

FERR#E)

Interests in
Shares

I 1 1 2

Percentage of
issued share
capital

(%)

HE 81T
BREBDL
(%)

BREIENREERAT

EREBBRERZERAR AT

Hanergy Investment

Limited

Hanergy Option Limited

GL Wind Farm Investment

Limited

Hanergy Thin Film Power

Group Limited

EELER B BEBER AR

L — Long positions &
S — Short positions K&

Note:

Interest of controlled corporation

PrIEHDAR 2

Interest of controlled corporation

PR HDER 2 # s

Beneficial owner & Interest of
controlled corporation

BB ARFIEGDAE 2 s

Beneficial owner
EmEA A

Beneficial owner
EmEAA

Security interest in shares

B 2 AR a5

1. These shares comprise the Second Tranche of
1,473,458,688 Subscription Shares at the Subscription Price
of HK$0.12 per Subscription Share and the Third Tranche
of 1,473,458,688 Subscription Shares at the Subscription
Price of HK$0.10 per Subscription Share will be issued and
allotted pursuant to Subscription Agreement dated 20 May

2010 and the subsequent Supplementary Agreement.

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED

HiEE

1.

10,341,329,376(L)
(Note 1)
(et 1)

20,129,970,921(L)
2,822,000,000(S)

19,805,088,921(L)
2,822,000,000(S)
2,966,785,603(L)
1,973,684,104(L)
400,000,000(S)

1,367,000,000(L)

24.53

47.76
6.70

47.76

6.70

7.04

4.68

0.95

3.24

ZEREBROEERE-S—ZFRAA/ =1
iz RBHEREBZBTGZE T UE
T RBLE 2 28 —#t& #£1,473,458,688 8 R
BG  SRABBRGHI2ETLEEZME

$£1,473,458,688 & 32 BE A% 17

% 0108 7T °
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been
notified any interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO
as at 31 December 2017.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the corporate governance practices of the
Company is set out on pages 98 to 112 of this report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of its Directors, the
Company has maintained sufficient public float as required
under the Listing Rules as at the date of this report.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young was appointed by the Directors to conduct
audit on the consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2017. A
resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting to reappoint Ernst & Young as the auditors
of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Yuan Yabin
Chairman

Beijing, the PRC, 27 March 2018
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES TEERER

The Board is dedicated to provide effective and responsible #E®ABEAXARIREERRASEZSE
leadership for the Company. The Directors, individually and % #E N AR EEREZERTSE - WA
collectively, must act in good faith in the best interests of A RHEIKE 7 SENZE Ak o

the Company and its shareholders.

The Board has established the following committees to EE@EMKTIATEEQEERNARNREHEY
oversee different areas of the Company's affairs. The Ff- éi/\&xié%‘%z&%%@ﬁé—l—x mE
composition of the Board and the committees are given &BZEBEBNARS N Gwil - Z5EH8®

below and their respective responsibilities are discussed H@HZE*%EIE#%%A%?W WEF AR R4

later in this report. The terms of references of these
committees adopted by the Board are published on the
Company’s website (www.hanergythinfilmpower.com).

(www.hanergythinfilmpower.com) °

As at 31 December 2017, the members of the Board and R-_Z—+F+-_A=+—H0 BEFek&
the committees are as follows: ZEGZKBENT
Audit  Remuneration Nomination
Committee Committee Committee
BEREES FMzEE REZEE
Board BExg
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Yuan Yabin (Chairman) ROWRE(EE)
Dr. Lam Yat Ming Eddie M—ISEL
(Vice Chairman) BIEE)
Mr. Wang Xiong (Vice Chairman) — TS (FIE/E)
Mr. Si Haijian AlEfEEAE
(Chief Executive Officer) (BE#ITE)
Mr. Huang Songchun EINERE
(Financial Controller) (U BABE)
Mr. Xu Xiaohua TREEEE S A
Mr. Zhang Bin SRM A
Independent non-executive BIUFHTES
Directors
Mr. Lo Man Tuen, G.B.S., JP EXihEE, G.B.S,
A Fapt v v /¥
Professor He Xiaofeng (EUN=Z ¢ v /¥ v
Professor Zhang Qiusheng o RN AE R v* 4 4
Mr. Wang Dan FREAE v/ v/ v
* Chairperson of the committee ZE &+ /&
98 HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED SRR EERER AR
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

(continued)

The Board sets the Group's objectives and strategies
and monitors its performance. The Board also decides
on matters such as annual and interim results, major
transactions, director appointments, dividend and
accounting policies. The Board has delegated the authority
and responsibility of managing and overseeing the Group's
day to day operations to the Chief Executive Officer
and Executive Directors of the Company and respective
directors of principal subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Yuan Yabin is the Chairman of the Board and Mr. Si
Haijian is the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.
There are clear divisions among their responsibilities with
a view to achieving a balance of power and authority. The
Chairman provides leadership to the Board in terms of
formulating policies and strategies. The Chief Executive
Officer of the Company has the overall responsibility
of implementing the decisions, policies and strategies
approved by the Board, and overseeing the Group's
business and operations.

The Company had received annual confirmation from each
of the independent non-executive directors as regards
their independence to the Company and based on the
contents of such confirmations, considers that each of the
independent non-executive Directors is independent to the
Company.

The company secretary of the Company assists the
Chairman in setting the agenda of board meetings and
each Director is invited to present any businesses that they
wish to discuss or propose at the meetings. All Directors
have timely access to all relevant information of the
meetings and may take professional advice if necessary.
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THE BOARD

During the year ended 31 December 2017, Board meeting #HZE
and general meeting were held with details of the {T&%

Exg

TEHFFT A=t HILEFEEGR
CERMBRRAG  EFHFEHBW

Directors’ attendance set out below: N
Attendance/No. of meetings
HERE EERE
Board meeting  General meeting

Directors - EZE8E BRAE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Yuan Yabin ROWEE 6/6 7
Dr. Lam Yat Ming Eddie M—I5E T 6/6 171
Mr. Wang Xiong THEE 6/6 11
Mr. Si Haijian AlE L 6/6 A
Mr. Huang Songchun BENFELE 6/6 111
Mr. Xu Xiaohua REEZESLA 6/6 n
Mr. Zhang Bin R A 6/6 Al
Independent non-executive Directors BY FHITES
Mr. Lo Man Tuen, G.B.S., JP Bk, G.B.S., XF#1t

(Appointed on 4 September 2017) (R=ZF—FFNALAEZE) N/A T A N/A 7 F
Professor He Xiaofeng ]/ NS

(Appointed on 4 September 2017) (RZFE—+FNATAEZF) N/A T3 F N/A T3
Professor Zhang Qiusheng R EZE

(Appointed on 4 September 2017) (R=F—+FNAHHAEZE) N/A T A N/A T~
Mr. Wang Dan TREE

(Appointed on 4 September 2017) (R=ZF—+FNAHAEZE) N/A T A N/A i
Ms. Zhao Lan WELT

(Terminated on 4 September 2017) (RZFE—HFNATAKLIZET) 4/6 111
Mr. Wang Tongbo TRBEE

(Terminated on 4 September 2017) (R=F—+FNFHALIEF) 4/6 171
Professor Xu Zheng RIEHR

(Terminated on 4 September 2017) (RZF—FFNAIRLILZEF) 4/6 11
Dr. Wang Wenjing TXEHLT

(Terminated on 4 September 2017) (R=—F—+F N AHEKIZET) 4/6 1/1

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED EEREEEBERAF
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THE BOARD (continued)

Under the Bye-laws, all Directors are currently required to
offer themselves for re-election by rotation at least once
every three years. All Directors appointed to fill a casual
vacancy should be subject to election at the first general
meeting after their appointment.

Under the Bye-laws, one-third of the Directors shall retire
from office by rotation at each annual general meeting.
According to the Listing Rules, every director, including
those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

The Directors will continuously review and improve the
corporate governance practices and standards of the
Company to ensure that business activities and decision
making process are regulated in a proper and prudent
manner.

During the year, the Chairman had at least annually held
meetings with all independent non-executive directors
without the executive directors present.

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 8
June 2017, the chairman of the Board and the members
of all board committees, together with the external auditor
of the Company were present to be available to answer
any question to ensure effective communication with
shareholders of the Company.

Every newly appointed director of the Company had
received a comprehensive, formal and tailored induction
on appointment. Subsequently any briefing or continuous
professional development will be provided to ensure that
Director has a proper understanding of the Company’'s
operations and business and is fully aware of his
responsibilities under statute and common law, the Listing
Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements and the
Company’s business and governance policies.
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THE BOARD (continued)

The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. During the year, in-house seminar
was conducted covering the topics on insider dealing,
false trading, price rigging, disclosure of information about
prohibited transactions, disclosure of false or misleading
information inducing transactions, and stock market
manipulation. Directors participated in the following

trainings:

Directors 2=
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Yuan Yabin ROWEAE
Dr. Lam Yat Ming Eddie M—ISEL
Mr. Wang Xiong TR E
Mr. Si Haijian AL
Mr. Huang Songchun EX/N-S e
Mr. Xu Xiaohua REEZESE
Mr. Zhang Bin R
Independent non-executive Directors BYFHITES
Mr. Lo Man Tuen B X m S
Professor He Xiaofeng Al /R FRIR
Professor Zhang Qiusheng R AR
Mr. Wang Dan FREE

S: Attending seminars and/or conferences and/or forums
relating to directors’ duties

R: Reading newspaper, journals and updates relating to the
economy, general business or directors’ duties, etc.
Induction training provided by external legal advisers on new
appointment

To the best of knowledge of the Company, there is no
financial, business, family or other material or relevant
relationships among members of the Board.

Appropriate insurance to cover against liability of the

Directors and officers of the Company was arranged and
will be renewed annually.
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TRERBE

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company was established to
review the Group's financial reporting, risk management,
internal controls and corporate governance issues and
make relevant recommendations to the Board. As at 31
December 2017, the Audit Committee comprised four
independent non-executive Directors. The chairman of
the Audit Committee possesses appropriate professional
qualifications, accounting or related financial management
expertise as required under the Listing Rules. Please refer
to biography section of Directors for further details of the
committee members.

The Audit Committee may elect to ask the external
auditors to attend its meetings. During the year, the Audit
Committee has met with the external auditors with no
executive Directors present.

BEREES

ARBZEREZEGINIINEHNAEEZ
MEHRE AREE AMEEREEER
FEH UVHEFSRLABEREZ R-F
—tF+-A=1T—H BERZESEEDN
BABUATES - BRERESEIRFARLE
MRAFRE 2 EE EXER - ST HA0R8
MEEREENE FHRZBEEREZHE
PHBHELHEZTEE 5 -

ERZEQRREBEENINERAMEEAS
FoMAFE  ERZEGC BINEREM
BIVERTEFHFEZE

No. of meetings attended

HESBERE
Mr. Lo Man Tuen B m A
(Appointed on 4 September 2017) (RZF—FNAFAEZT) on
Professor He Xiaofeng Al /N HRIR
(Appointed on 4 September 2017) (R=ZF—+F AV HEZE) 1/1
Professor Zhang Qiusheng ok AU
(Appointed on 4 September 2017) (R=ZF—FNAIHEZF) 1/
Mr. Wang Dan FREE
(Appointed on 4 September 2017) (R=ZF—+FNHAMAEZ(F) (il
Ms. Zhao Lan fHEZ T
(Terminated on 4 September 2017) (RZF—+FNAMAIZEF) 2/2
Mr. Wang Tongbo F RS-
(Terminated on 4 September 2017) (R=ZF—+F N APAAIZEE) 2/2
Professor Xu Zheng RAEFI
(Terminated on 4 September 2017) (R=ZFE—+FNANAKLIEZT) 2/2
Dr. Wang Wenijing FEXEFEL
(Terminated on 4 September 2017) (RZF—+FNAAEIZEF) 2/2
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AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION

The services provided by Ernst & Young and other audit
firms and the fees thereof for the year ended 31 December
2017 and 2016, respectively, were as follows:

ZEEE £

XS EST R EM ST EEATRE
B —tEFR_F-AR"F+_A=+—H
FEDRREZRELEMRBEEROT -

2017 2016

—E—+F —E—RF

HK$’000 HK$'000

Statutory Annual EEEE FE FET

Ernst & Young LK E TR E AT

— Agreed upon procedure — BERF 3,460 5,263

— Annual audit and special audit — FEEZLFRIEZ 15,915 23,352

— Other service — HAo iR 320 86
Other audit firms for the audit and other  Hih &zt EKHT 2 B R E

related service A B RT 3,075 2,566

22,770 31,267

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company was
established to review the remuneration of Directors and
the Group’s salary policy. A majority of members are
independent non-executive Directors. To minimize any
conflict of interest, any member who is interested in
any given proposed motion is required to abstain from
voting on such motion. During the year under review, the
Remuneration Committee had reviewed the Group's policy
and structure for all remuneration of Directors, and the
remuneration of new Directors on appointment.

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (continued)

Mr. Lo Man Tuen

(Appointed on 4 September 2017)
Professor He Xiaofeng

(Appointed on 4 September 2017)
Professor Zhang Qiusheng

(Appointed on 4 September 2017)
Mr. Wang Dan

(Appointed on 4 September 2017)
Ms. Zhao Lan

(Terminated on 4 September 2017)

Mr. Wang Tongbo

(Terminated on 4 September 2017)

Professor Xu Zheng

(Terminated on 4 September 2017)

Dr. Wang Wenjing

FNEES (&)

No. of meetings attended

B A
(R-ZFE—+FNAAEZET)
]/ g HUIR
(R-F—+FNALEEZE)
SRIKAEHIR
(R-F—tFNALHEZT)
FREE
(R-F—tFNALAEZT)
MRt
(R-F—+FNAGAEUZF)
ERBEE
(R-F—tFNALAEIZF)
RIEHR
(R=F—tFNABAKIUZE)
I XEFEL
(R-F—+FNAGAEUZF)

HEERRH

N/A TiE

N/A AN A

N/A AN

N/A TiE A

11

11

11

11

(Terminated on 4 September 2017)

With reference to the respective duties and responsibilities

of Directors in the Group as well as the prevailing market

condition, the monthly remuneration (including salary and

director’'s fee) of the following Directors were adjusted as

follows:

Director

B

Mr. Yuan Yabin
ROOWEE

Mr. Xu Xiaohua
RIS A

Mr. Huang Songchun
X/

ANNUAL REPORT 2017

Effective Date

CoEZEERANEEE Y BHRBEUR
EHTRE  UTEEZ2EAMS (BEFS
REFRS)HEEMT :

Monthly Remuneration
(Including Salary and
Director’s Fee)

SR

£ % B (BEFERESHER)

HK$

BT

1 April 2017 188,565.78
—E—+FMA—H

1 April 2017 78,050.00
—E—+FMYA—H

1 December 2017 130,245.00

—T—tFt+=A—H
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company was
established with specific written terms of reference to
review the structure, size and composition of the Board
at least annually, to make recommendations on the
procedures and criteria for appointment of Directors and
to implement those that are adopted by the Board. All
members are independent non-executive Directors.

The Company has a Board Diversity Policy to enhance
the quality of its performance. With a view to achieving
a sustainable and balanced development, the Company
sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential
element in supporting the attainment of its strategic
objectives and its sustainable development. In designing
the Board’'s composition, Board diversity has been
considered from a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. All Board appointments will be based
on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

REZEE
ARABERUIEZRZEGYAEEFBER
BEE OBFER - REFTEIRE -
RELAK  WHEEEZZEF RERR
HEBLAKEZSMRMNELE - 28BKE
VRBILIFWITES -

ARFRIERMEFTEME ZTCMRAEF
THEE REAFEFEER  ARAR
REFTGKEZ I RERER B R RAF
BERROBER - AR BTEEGKRER -
zTEERESFEXREZ T BEAT
RAMR - Fie - MERBEES - Bk
BXER X MBNREFH EFE
FIBEZMEHEARARET RIRA TOBKRE
FEXRBEITENER2REEREEAA
* o

No. of meetings attended

HESERE
Mr. Lo Man Tuen [ X i fe
(Appointed on 4 September 2017) (R=ZF—+F AV HEZE) N/A 73 A
Professor He Xiaofeng A/ N HIR
(Appointed on 4 September 2017) (RZF—+FNAVHEZE) N/A 73 A
Professor Zhang Qiusheng o FR A %
(Appointed on 4 September 2017) (RZF—+FNAVHEZE) N/A 73 A
Mr. Wang Dan FREE
(Appointed on 4 September 2017) (RZF—+FNAVHEZE) N/A 73 A
Ms. Zhao Lan 2+
(Terminated on 4 September 2017) (RZF—+FNAMAIZEF) 1/1
Mr. Wang Tongbo FRBEAE
(Terminated on 4 September 2017) (RZF—+FNAMAIZEF) 1/1
Professor Xu Zheng RAEFI
(Terminated on 4 September 2017) (RZF—+FNAMAIZEF) 11
Dr. Wang Wenjing FXEFEL
(Terminated on 4 September 2017) (RZF—+FNAAEIZEF) 11

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee
had reviewed the structure of the Board and the re-election
of Directors at the annual general meeting of the Company.

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED
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CEERRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties with its written terms of reference as
set out below:

(@) to develop and review the Company's policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior
management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company's policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

(d) to review the Company's compliance with the code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

No corporate governance committee has been established
and the corporate governance report has been reviewed
by the Board in discharge of its corporate governance
function.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The annual and interim results announcement of the
Company are published in a timely manner and within
three months and two months respectively of the year end
and interim periods.

The responsibility of Directors in relation to the financial
statements is set out below. It should be read in
conjunction with, but distinguished from, the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 118 to 130 which acknowledges
the reporting responsibility of the Group’s Auditor.

ANNUAL REPORT 2017
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Annual Report and Accounts

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the
preparation of the annual report and financial statements
of the Company to ensure that these financial statements
give a true and fair presentation in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and the applicable accounting standards.

Accounting Policies

The Directors consider that in preparing the financial
statements, the Group has applied appropriate accounting
policies that are consistently adopted and made
judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent
in accordance with the applicable accounting standards.

Accounting Records

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group
keeps accounting records which disclose the financial
position of the Group upon which financial statements
of the Group could be prepared in accordance with
the Group's accounting policies while monthly updates
giving a balanced and understandable assessment of
the Company's performance, position and prospects in
sufficient detail had been provided to all Directors.

Safeguarding Assets

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and
necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and
to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities within
the Group.

Going Concern

The Directors, after due and careful enquiries and by
performing the necessary due diligence work to assess
the credibility and the capacity of the Hanergy Affiliates,
are of the view that the Group has adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future
and that, for this reason, it is appropriate for the Group to
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial
statements.

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has an overall responsibility for maintaining a
sound and effective risk management and internal control
system (the “System”) of the Group. The System is
designed not only to achieve the Group’s objectives with
facilitating an effective and efficient business operation
to ensure a reliable financial reporting and compliance
with applicable rules and regulations, but also to provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance on preventing
material misstatement or loss as well as managing and
minimizing risks of failure in operational system. The risk
management process includes risk identification, risk
evaluation, risk management measures and risk control and
review.

The Group’s business, financial conditions and results
may be affected by risk and uncertainties pertaining to
the Group’s business. Certain significant risks have been
identified through the process of risk identification and
assessment.

The Board should at least annually conduct a review on the
effectiveness of the System including all relevant financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management
functions.

The Directors, through the Audit Committee and the
internal audit department, have continued to review the
effectiveness of the System. The System is designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss. Controls are monitored by management review and
by a programme of internal audits.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

During the year, the Company has complied with the code
provisions of the Corporate Governance Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

The Directors will continuously review and improve the
corporate governance practices and standards of the
Company to ensure that business activities and decision
making process are regulated in a proper and prudent
manner.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the Directors on terms no less
exacting than the required standard set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”). Having made
specific enquiry to all Directors, the Directors confirmed
that they had complied with the required standard set
out in the Model Code and the code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors adopted by the
Company.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening a Special General Meeting by Shareholders

Pursuant to the Bye-law 58, a special general meeting
may be convened by the Board upon requisition by any
shareholder holding not less than one-tenth of the issued
share capital of the Company and the securities being held
carrying the right of voting at any general meetings of the
Company. The shareholder shall make a written requisition
to the Board or the Company Secretary of the Company
at the principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong, specifying the shareholding information of
the shareholder, his/her contact details and the proposal
regarding any specified transaction/business and its
supporting documents.

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Convening a Special General Meeting by Shareholders
(continued)

The Board shall arrange to hold such general meeting
within two (2) months after the receipt of such written
requisition. The Company shall serve requisite notice of the
general meeting, including the time, place of meeting and
particulars of resolutions to be considered at the meeting
and the general nature of the business.

If within twenty-one (21) days of the receipt of such
written requisition, the Board fails to proceed to convene
such special general meeting, the shareholder shall do
SO pursuant to the provisions of Section 74(3) of the
Companies Act of Bermuda.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

A shareholder shall make a written requisition to the
Board or the Company Secretary of the Company at the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong,
specifying the shareholding information of the shareholder,
his/her contact details and the proposal he/she intends to
put forward at general meeting regarding any specified
transaction/business and its supporting documents.

Making Enquiry to the Board

Shareholders may send written enquiries, either by post,
by facsimiles or by email, together with his/her contact
details, such as postal address, email or fax, addressing to
Board of the Company at the following address or facsimile
number or via email:

Room 2403A, 24/F, World Trade Centre,

280 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong,
Fax: (852) 2635 1337

Email: ir@hanergythinfilmpower.com
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Making Enquiry to the Board (continued)

All enquiries shall be collected by the Company Secretary
who shall report to the Executive Directors periodically
on the enquiries collected. The Executive Directors shall
review the enquiries and assign different kinds of enquiries
to appropriate division head/manager for answering. After
receiving the answers of all enquiries from the relevant
division head/manager, the Company Secretary will collect
the answers for the Executive Directors’ review and
approval.

Shareholders Communication Policy

The Company's shareholders communication policy aims
to enhance the corporate communication effectively
between the shareholders, and the Board and the
senior management of the Company through various
official channels so that the shareholders can access the
Company’s public information equally in a timely manner.

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EEEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yuan, Yabin (“Mr. Yuan”), aged 49, was appointed
as an executive Director and the Chairman of the Board
on 20 May 2016. Mr. Yuan also acts as director and legal
representative of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Yuan obtained a bachelor degree in engineering from
Harbin Institute of Technology in 1990 and a master degree
in business administration from Tsinghua University in
2003. Mr. Yuan joined Hanergy Holding Group in 2013 and
currently acts as the deputy general director of Hanergy
Holding Group and President of Alta Devices, Inc. Prior
to joining Hanergy Holding Group, Mr. Yuan has worked
in CPPCC National Committee and Capital Aerospace
Machinery Corporation.

Dr. Lam, Yat Ming Eddie (“Dr. Lam”), aged 49, joined
the Board as an executive Director on 15 May 2014 and
was appointed as the Vice Chairman of the Board on
20 May 2016. Dr. Lam also acts as director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Dr. Lam has years of
experience in banking and financing. Dr. Lam is a post-
doctorate in Financial Engineering from the Shanghai
Jiaotong University and holds a doctor of philosophy
degree in Finance from the Hong Kong Chinese University.
Dr. Lam is also a Chartered Financial Analyst, Certified
Financial Planner and Fellow of The Institute of Financial
Accountants. Dr. Lam has worked at various financial
institutions, including CITIC Securities International, China
CITIC Bank International, BCT, Hong Kong Mortgage
Corporation, and Standard Chartered Bank.

Mr. Wang Xiong (“Mr. Wang”), aged 52, was appointed
as an executive Director and the Vice Chairman of the
Board on 1 November 2016. Mr. Wang obtained a bachelor
degree in engineering from the Harbin Engineering
University in the PRC in 1987 and obtained a master
degree in engineering from Tokai University of Japan
in 1993. Mr. Wang has over 20 years of experience
in investment management, corporate finance and
international marketing. He was an executive director of
China Success Finance Group Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 3623), a company listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”), from July 2016 to October 2016 and was
responsible for capital management of the Company. He
was an executive director and the vice chairman of Carnival
Group International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 996), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
from March 2013 to October 2014 and was responsible
for coordinating relationship with the government and
monitoring the implementation of strategies.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EEEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Si Haijian (“Mr. Si”), aged 39, joined the Board as
an executive Director on 21 December 2015 and was
appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company
on 20 May 2016. Mr. Si also acts as director and legal
representative of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Si obtained a bachelor's degree in accounting from
Shandong College of Economics (LR £&EERT)in 2002 and
an MBA degree from Beijing Jiaotong University (L 532 i@
AE)in 2008. Mr. Si is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants, a Certified Internal
Auditor and a Certified Public Accountant of the PRC. Mr.
Si has extensive experiences in financial management.
He joined Hanergy Holding in April 2014 and worked for
Hanergy Global Solar Power & Applications Group as chief
executive officer.

Mr. Huang Songchun (“Mr. Huang”), aged 52, was
appointed as an executive Director and the Financial
Controller of the Company on 21 December 2015. Mr.
Huang also acts as director of certain subsidiaries of the
Company. Mr. Huang obtained a bachelor's degree in
economics from Northern Jiatong University (1t 75 238K
) (currently known as Beijing Jiatong University 1t R
BAE) in 1988. Mr. Huang worked in Guangshen Railway
Company (B FE 42 7)) (currently known as Guangzhou
Railway (Group) Company E/M & (LB )AF]) from 1988
to 2004 and joined Hanergy Holding in 2004. Mr. Hunag
currently serves as the management in Hanergy Holding
and certain subsidiaries.

*  For identification purpose only
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Xu, Xiaohua (“Mr. Xu”), aged 39, was appointed
as an executive Director on 20 May 2016. Mr. Xu
obtained a master degree in microelectronics and solid-
state electronics from Institute of Semiconductors,
Chinese Academy of Sciences in 2004. Mr. Xu joined
Apollo Precision (Fujian) Limited in 2010 and currently
acts as management personnel of the Company. Mr.
Xu is currently responsible for the domestic operations
of Hanergy's flexible industrial application department
and research and development of new technology for
Hanergy's equipment business department. Mr. Xu
also acts as director and legal representative of certain
subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Zhang Bin (“Mr. Zhang”), aged 53, was appointed
as an executive Director on 1 October 2016. Mr. Zhang
also acts as director and legal representative of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Zhang obtained a master
degree in engineering from the Beihang University in 2009.
Mr. Zhang has over 20 years' experience in corporate
brand and sales management. Mr. Zhang had served as the
Vice President of Jomoo Kitchen & Bathroom Appliances
Co., Ltd. Mr. Zhang is currently the Senior Vice President
of Hanergy Holding Group Limited.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Lo Man Tuen, G.B.S., JP (“Mr. Lo"), aged 69, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 4
September 2017. Mr. Lo is currently the Chairman of Wing
Li Group (International) Limited and non-executive director
of China Shandong Hi-Speed Financial Group Limited (Stock
Code: 00412.HK). In 2013, Mr. Lo was appointed as the
President of the Hong Kong Association for the Promotion
of the Peaceful Reunification of China. In 2015, Mr. Lo
was appointed as the President of the China Peaceful
Development General Summit of the Hong Kong Macao

Taiwan Diaspora.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS (continued)

Prof. He Xiaofeng (“Prof. He"”), aged 62, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 4 September
2017. Prof. He obtained a Bachelor's degree and a
Master's degree in Economics in 1982 and 1984 from
Peking University, respectively. He is currently the
professor of the Department of Finance, School of
Economics of Peking University (b 5K 2 48 i 20 4 gh £
Z)since August 2000 and has been a doctoral supervisor
since August 20071 and a director of the Research
Center of Financial and Industrial Development of Peking
University(lt R K2 & BB E X E T+ 0 )since August
2005. He has taught in the School of Economics of
Peking University(db 3 K B2 48 % 22 fx)since 1984. Prof.
He has also has served as a council member of China
Enterprises Investment Association(dF B > 2 & & 5 2)
and deputy director of Financial Enterprises Investment
Committee(4® gl & 2 & & £ 8 & )from 2006 to present,
vice chairman of Beijing Private Equity Association(it R
IR B E 4 # € )from 2008 to present, has served as an
independent director of E Fund Management Co., Ltd.(5
FiEESEBRAR AT )from 2010 to May 2016 and served
as a director of Beijing Qingchang Power Technology Co.,
Ltd.(Jb )G T H £l Ik 15 B BR 2 71)(SZSE Stock Code:
430057) from February 2012 to February 2015, and has
served as a director of Beijing Fof Capital Co., Ltd from
2015 to present. He was appointed as a member of the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee
of the Beijing Capital Grand Limited (Stock Code: 1329) on
28 December 2016. He was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director and a member of each of the Audit
Committee and Strategic Investment Committee of the
Beijing Capital Grand Limited on 21 December 2013.

HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS (continued)

Prof. Zhang Qiusheng (“Prof. Zhang”), aged 49, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 4
September 2017. Prof. Zhang obtained a doctoral degree
in Economics from Beijing Jiaotong University in 1992. He
is currently a second-grade professor of Beijing Jiaotong
University, the Dean of the School of Economics and
Management of Beijing Jiaotong University, the party
secretary, the director of the Centre of China Mergers and
Acquisitions Research, a member of course evaluation
team of the Academic Degrees Committee of the State
Council, an candidate of “Accountant Specialist Training
Project” of the Ministry of Finance and the Vice Chairman
of China Federation of Logistics & Purchasing. He is also a
certified public accountant and a certified tax counsel in the
PRC. He served as the vice mayor of Liuzhou of Guangxi
Zhuang Autonomous Region, and external directors of
central enterprises.

Mr. Wang Dan (“Mr. Wang”), aged 40, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 4 September
2017. Mr. Wang obtained a Bachelor's degree in Law
from China University of Political Science and Law in
2001 and a Master’'s degree in Law from University of
Essex in 2004. He currently is the director and the senior
partner of The Longan Law Firm, the part-time professor
of China University of Political Science and Law, a member
of China Banking Law Society, a member of association
of Bankruptcy Law Association of East Asia. He is the
independent director of listed companies in the PRC, which
is principally engaged in securities issuance and listing, re-
financing, re-financing of non-listed companies, venture
capital investment and private equity funds, internet and
the e-commerce and risk prevention of corporate law. He
is currently the legal counsel of various listed-companies,
listed companies on National Equities Exchange and
Quotations, larger sized state-owned enterprises and IT
companies. He also publishes the book “Legal Practices of
Electronic Commerce(E FEFBERZER)".

*  For identification purpose only
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Ernst & Young
22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central, Hong Kong
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To the shareholders of Hanergy Thin Film Power Group
Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Hanergy Thin Film Power Group Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages
131 to 298, which comprise the consolidated statement
December 2017, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

of financial position as at 31

comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the
matter described in the Basis for qualified opinion section
of our report, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2017, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

RAKEEIEKET  Tel 5% +852 2846 9888
EBHBREE1% Fax BE: +852 2868 4432
HiEXRE221 ey.com
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

As at 31 December 2017, included in the Group’s trade
receivables and the gross amount due from contract
customers were amounts due from a third-party customer
amounting to HK$1,816,927,000 (2016: HK$2,536,745,000)
and HK$865,448,000 (2016: HK$796,204,000) respectively.
Subsequent to 31 December 2017, the Group received
HK$248,230,000 from the aforesaid third-party customer.
We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence about the recoverability of the Group’s remaining
trade receivables and gross amount due from contract
customers for contract works due from the aforesaid third-
party customer of HK$2,434,145,000. Consequently, we
were unable to determine whether any provisions are
required for these amounts. Any provision for recoverability
of these balances would reduce the net assets of the
Group as at 31 December 2017 and decrease the Group's
net profit for the year ended 31 December 2017.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’'s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “"Code"),
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe

and we have fulfilled our other ethical

that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. In addition to the matters described in the
Basis for qualified opinion section of our report, we have
determined the matters described below to be the key
audit matters to be communicated in our report. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below,
our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report, including in
relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included
the performance of procedures designed to respond to our
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion
on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

Impairment of property,
plant and equipment

As at 31 December

2017, property, plant and
equipment (“PP&E") of
HK$581 million contributed
a significant portion (75.3%)
of the Group's total non-
current assets. During the
year, certain entities in

the Group that have large
amount of PP&E were in
loss positions.

Management identified these
entities as different cash
generating units (“CGUs")
and performed impairment
assessment on their PP&E.
Determining whether an
impairment indicator exists
and estimating the recoverable
amount requires management’s
significant judgements and
estimates including estimation
of sales volume, selling prices,
manufacturing and other
operating costs, terminal

value and the discount rate.
Actual cash flows are likely

to be different from those
estimated or forecast since
anticipated events sometimes
do not occur as expected and
unforeseen events may arise,
and their impact on estimates
and forecasts may be material.

The accounting policy,
significant accounting
judgements and estimates
and disclosures about the
amount of provision and
the balance of PP&E are
included in notes 2.4, 3, 8
and 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

How our audit addressed
the key audit matter

We discussed with
management about

the business situation
and business plan of
each CGU, including
reading of current sales
agreements or sales
orders of such CGUs, to
assess management'’s
identification of
impairment indicators.
We assessed the key
assumptions adopted

in the impairment
assessment, such as

the sales volume, selling
prices and manufacturing
and other operating
costs by comparing with
historical trends and
referencing to the signed
sales contracts and
evaluating management'’s
adjustments in the future
by referencing to available
market information. We
also involved our internal
valuation specialist to
assess the methodology
and discount rate applied
in the model. We reviewed
the adequacy of disclosure
made in the Group's
consolidated financial
statements in respect of
the impairment of PP&E.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

Impairment of inventories

Inventories of the Group are
classified into raw materials,
photovoltaic (“PV") power
generation projects to be sold,
PV modules and PV application
products. The total amount

of inventories (before any
inventory provision) as at 31
December 2017 was HK$2,007
million and the inventory
provision provided was HK$317
million (15.8% of inventory
balance before any inventory
provision). The carrying amount
of inventories contributed a
significant part (9.0%) of the
Group's total current assets as
at 31 December 2017.

The estimation of the net
realisable value (“NRV") of
these inventories requires
management to make
judgements based on

these inventories' ages,
obsolescence, future usage
plan, estimated net selling
prices as well as inventory
disposal plans. Actual sales

or usages are likely to be
different from those estimated
or forecast since anticipated
events sometimes do not occur
as expected and unforeseen
events may arise, and their
impact on estimates and
forecasts may be material.

The accounting policy,
significant accounting
judgements and estimates

and the disclosures about the
amount of provision and the
balance of inventories are
included in notes 2.4, 3, 8 and
16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

How our audit addressed the
key audit matter

We obtained and understood
the progress of new projects
implemented in 2018 and
reviewed the subsequent
usage and sales of inventories
in 2018 together with the
management's plan for the
years after. We reviewed the
NRV calculation provided by
management to assess the
methodology, key assumptions
and parameters used. We
compared the price estimated
in the future sales with the
Group's historical data and
subsequent sales contracts.
We also reviewed the adequacy
of disclosure made in the
Group's consolidated financial
statements in respect of the
impairment of inventories.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

Impairment assessment of trade
receivables

As at 31 December 2017, trade
receivables of HK$7,233 million
contributed a significant portion
(38.5%) of the Group's total
current assets.

Management regularly conducts
assessments on possible
losses resulting from the
inability of debtors to settle
the amounts due to the Group.
The assessment is based, inter
alia, on the age of the debt
and the creditworthiness of
the debtors, which involved
significant management'’s
judgement and estimation
uncertainty.

The accounting policy,
significant accounting
judgements and estimates,

and the disclosures about the
amount of provision and the
balance of trade receivables are
included in notes 2.4, 3, 8 and
17 to the consolidated financial
statements.

How our audit addressed the
key audit matter

We obtained and evaluated
management'’s impairment
assessment of debtors by
testing the debtors’ ageing
analysis, discussing with
management about the status
of significant overdue individual
debtor balances, and reviewing
the historical settlement
pattern and subsequent
settlement of individual
debtors.

We also reviewed the
adequacy of disclosure made
in the Group's consolidated
financial statements in respect
of the impairment of trade
receivables.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

Revenue recognition on

contract work using percentage

of completion method (the
“POC” method)

The Group conducted several
construction contracts both

in Manufacturing segment

to deliver turnkey production
lines for the manufacturing

of amorphous silicon based
and CIGS thin-film solar
photovoltaic modules and
Downstream segment to
construct a series of solar
power stations for certain small
to medium-sized enterprises
and poverty alleviation projects.
Revenue from these fixed
price construction contracts
was recognised using the

POC method, measured by
reference to the proportion of
costs incurred to date of the
estimated total cost of the
relevant contract. Revenue
recognised using the POC
method during the year
amounted to HK$4,846 million,
which contributed a significant
part (78.8%) of the total
revenue of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2017.

How our audit addressed the
key audit matter

We obtained and understood
the terms of the construction
contracts the Group entered
with its customers. We
assessed the POC calculated
by management, including
assessing the total cost
budgeted by comparing with
its historical data for similar
contracts and test checked the
actual cost incurred to date to
relevant equipment purchase
contracts, goods delivery
notes and allocated labour
costs for service rendered. We
performed physical stocktaking
to a selected samples of
production lines and house-
hold rooftop solar systems. We
also assessed the adequacy

of disclosure made in the
Group” s consolidated financial
statements about the revenue
recognition on contract work
using the POC method.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

Revenue recognition on
contract work using percentage
of completion method (the
“POC” method) (continued)

Revenue recognition on contract
work is dependent on the
estimation of the total outcome
of the construction contract, as
well as the work performed to
date. Significant judgements

are required to estimate the
total contract costs, comprising
direct materials, the costs of
subcontracting, direct labour
and an appropriate proportion of
variable and fixed construction
overheads. Actual outcomes in
terms of total contract costs may
be higher or lower than those
estimated at the end of the
reporting period, which would
affect the revenue recognised

in the current period and in the
future periods.

The accounting policy and
significant accounting judgements
and estimates related to
construction contracts and
disclosures of contract revenue
are included in notes 2.4, 3, and
5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

How our audit addressed the
key audit matter
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the
the information included in the Annual Report, other than
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing,
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do
so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for
overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group's internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR™S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor's report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's
report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit
Committee, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Cheong Ming Yik.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 March 2018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
RERaRkEMGEEIER

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 &2 —_Z—+F+-_HA=+—HItFE)

2017 2016
S el = F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FETT FET
REVENUE WA 6,147,385 4,483,130
Cost of sales SHE R AR (3,472,144) (1,885,358)
Gross profit EA 2,675,241 2,597,772
Other income and gains NS 76,470 77,204
(Loss)/gain on disposal of subsidiaries, H&EHEBAR(EIE),/
net e F5E (5,568) 62,623
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHER (414,463) (404,769)
Administrative expenses T E R (990,090) (882,280)
Research and development costs 2 A AN (621,678) (567,165)
Other expenses HEmEH (214,449) (175,123)
Finance costs B E A (59,339) (49,867)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BANER 446,124 658,395
Income tax expense Fr8 iz (185,092) (406,781)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REEEF 261,032 251,614
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ REZMEEH 58
(LOSS) TO BE RECLASSIFIED TO ZEBZ2HM
PROFIT OR LOSS IN SUBSEQUENT &MUz~
PERIODS: (E18) :
Exchange differences on translation of #2&EGINER 2
foreign operations fERER 414,616 (408,183)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ ZAEEHME2EKE
(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR, NET OF (E18) » MKRHE
TAX 414,616 (408,183)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ ZEEZEWKE~
(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR (B8R 675,648 (156,569)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued)

mEREREMEZERER(E)

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 &2 —_Z—+F+-_HA=+—HItFE)

2017 2016
—E—tHF —E—RF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
i3 FET FET
Profit for the year attributable to: EAFERmF
Owners of the parent ISYNESIETZ-DN 261,099 251,620
Non-controlling interests FEEAR (67) (6)
261,032 251,614
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for E(RARGE2MHE
the year attributable to: Wz /(B8 ) 4@
Owners of the parent ISYNEIETFEPN 675,715 (156,563)
Non-controlling interests FEE AR = (67) (6)
675,648 (156,569)
HK cents HK cents
Bl BN
EARNINGS PER SHARE B RATEE AEN
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS BREAER
OF THE PARENT 11
Basic LN 0.62 0.60
Diluted i3 0.60 0.59

Details of the dividends for the year are disclosed in note AEERE ZHISHREAE T ERENRT10H
10 to the consolidated financial statements. 5% o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BT RS AR R

(As at 31 December 2017 R=—ZE—+F+-_H=+—H)

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Hiat FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BE R 13 581,302 606,111
Intangible assets B EE 14 35,467 12,685
Available-for-sale financial investments At HE S RIZE 15 66,097 —
Restricted cash ZERHIRE 22 4,104 1,878
Other non-current assets HMIERBEE 85,471 137,713
Total non-current assets IEMBEELRRR 772,441 758,387
CURRENT ASSETS nBEE
Inventories FE 16 1,689,670 1,648,717
Trade receivables B 5 WA 17 7,232,791 6,813,364
Tax recoverable AT U O] 5 18 2,766 2,571
Gross amount due from contract JERERZF 4%
customers 18 2,400,660 1,547,405
Other receivables H fth fE Y 5k IE 19 1,437,143 703,550
Bills receivable JEU =45 20 27,363 11,850
Deposits and prepayments e RIBHNFIE 21 3,369,336 1,391,403
Restricted cash PR 35 & 22 140,236 36,179
Cash and cash equivalents RERBEEFED 22 2,496,760 248,674
18,796,725 12,403,713
Assets of a disposal group classified HDEAFEZ HEHRS
as held for sale BE — 32,225
Total current assets MENVE EETE 18,796,725 12,435,938
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade and bills payables B 5 REBRENIA 23 1,737,876 1,295,630
Other payables and accruals H fth & {5 R I8 KR FEET
ZH 24 7,073,562 2,108,503
Interest-bearing bank and other R1T R E AT E
borrowings &K 25 597,610 465,880
Tax payable FESIREIE 1,005,374 927,593
Deferred income FEIEWA 20,447 51,610
10,434,869 4,849,216
Liabilities directly associated with the BEDIEAFEEETE
assets classified as held for sale BHEzEE - 13,850
Total current liabilities mEE B 10,434,869 4,863,066
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEETE 8,361,856 7,572,872
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHAERABARE
LIABILITIES 9,134,297 8,331,259
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(continued)

e BRI ERE

(As at 31 December 2017 R=—Z—+F+—-_F=+—H)

2017 2016
—E—+F —ET—RF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Hiat FET FET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBAE
Deferred tax liabilities BLEFTRAE 26 478,048 401,220
Interest-bearing bank and other 1T R E AT E
borrowings EEN 25 528,398 584,755
Other non-current liabilities HiIERBEE 20,049 4,262
Total non-current liabilities JEmE B ELRE 1,026,495 990,237
Net assets BEFRE 8,107,802 7,341,022
EQUITY ER
Equity attributable to the owners BATEEA
of the parent LR
Issued capital BT 27 105,364 104,647
Reserves E 29 8,001,902 7,235,772
8,107,266 7,340,419
Non-controlling interests IR ER 536 603
Total equity e ARER 8,107,802 7,341,022

Si Haijian
AR

Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

HITEEREEHTE

Huang Songchun

BREF

Executive Director and Financial Controller

BITEFERIBAEE



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REERBER

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 &Z2—Z—+F+-_HA=+—HItFE)

Attrbutable to owners of the parent

SA7E AR
Share Capital Share Retained profits/ Non-
[ssued premium ~ redemption Reserve  Contrbuted Exchange option ~ [Accumulated controlling
capital account* reserve* funds* surplus* reserve’* reserve* losses|* Sub-total interests Total
Bafl/
BEARE  RGEEE: EAEEEE e B4R Efgg BhEsE (28R Mt HikER a8
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKk§ 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HKs 000 HKs 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
FET 743 b7 AT AT iz AT TEL FAT FAL 74T
At 1 January 2016 R=E-7E-A-8 104367 11,207,664 7684 121,066 53,29 [197,908) BB BRG0  T4469%3 609 7447602
Proft for the year KERRH = - - - - - - 261,620 261,620 (6] 261,614
Other comprehensive loss for the year TEREN2ERE
Exchange differences related to freign SRR
operations 3523 - - - - - [408,183) - - (408,183 - (408,183
Total comprehensive loss for the year TERRAEREE - - - - - [408,183) - 251,600 (156,563 (6] (156,569)
Appropriation of reserve funds RAGES - - - 14023 - - - [14023) - - -
Exercise ofshare optons (note 27a) fisEREn270) 80 1697 - - - - (8,606] - 18631 - 18631
Share aption expense (note 28) ElRER (i25) - - - - - - 31,358 - 31,368 = 31,358
At 31 December 2016 RIE-RE
t2h=t-B 104,647 11,204,621 7,684 135,089 53,29 606,091) 8177 (3,667,003) 7340419 603 7,341,022
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves * RERBEEERPEEAMBRRARZES

of HK$7,235,772,000 (2015: HK$7,342,626,000) in the

consolidated statement of financial position.

ANNUAL REPORT 2017

f# 157,235,772,000% 7o(= T — & F ¢
7,342,626,000#7C) °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
(continued)

REEZBER(E)

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ2—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

Attributable to owners of the parent
0785 AR

Share Capital Share Retained profits/ Non-
premium  redemption Reserve  Contributed Exchange option ~ (Accumulated controlling

account® reserve* funds* surplus* reserve* reserve* losses)* Sub-total interests Total
[l

RbERE: KARORE: BEer  EEER*  EXRE  BBERE  (ZHER): Mt FERER a2

HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000

b7 &7 7ET 7E 7E1 & & & & &7

At1 January 2017 RZF-t§-A-A 104647 11,204,621 7,684 135,089 53295 606,091) 58177 3,657,003) 1340419 603 1341022
Proitfo the year FEREH - - - - - - - 261,099 261,099 (67) 261,032
Other comprehensive income for the year: FERRfRENE:
Exchange differences related to foreign HENRHAL
operations 3523 - - - - - 414616 - - 414616 - 414616
Total comprehensive income for the year TEERANGEE - - - - - 414616 - 261,099 675,715 67) 675,648
Agpropriation of reserve funds - - - 3,409 - - - 33,409) - - -
Exercise of share options (note 27(a)) n 70,940 - - - - - - 7,657 - 71,657
Share option expense (note 26 - - - - - - 19475 - 19475 - 19475
At 31 December 2017 KRBt
T2A=t-8 105,364 11,315,561 7,684 168,498 53,295 (191,475) 71,652 (3429,313) 8,107,266 536 8,107,802
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves — * ZEREREOREAUBERIRZES
of HK$8,001,902,000 (2016: HK$7,235,772,000) in the f# 158,001,902,000/% 7o(= T — /X F ¢
consolidated statement of financial position. 7,235,772,000 7T) °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mEREREBERK

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 &Z2—Z—+F+-_HA=+—HItFE)

2017 2016
TE-LF EEESaaNES
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Mt FET FET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING KEFRHEESHRE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax TR A 446,124 658,395
Adjustments for: I
Finance costs MiEER 7 59,339 49,867
Interest income from banks and other RITHEWA R
interest income from third parties FE=H2HMABEEKA 6 (28,039) (14,946)
Amortisation of intangible assets B A 8 1,489 1,885
Impairment of trade receivables B oW IERE 8 934 18,211
Impairment of prepayments TR FIRRE 8 — 20,231
Impairment of property, plant and equipment #13 - &= kR ERIE 45,522 —
Depreciation of items of property, M - BEREEEE 2
plant and equipment e 8 66,548 40,827
Write-down of inventories to net realisable  1F&#UF = Al #37 H(E
value 8 73,782 142,921
Reversal of inventory provision FERERE 8 (10,874) (22,180)
Reversal of impairment of trade receivables ZZEWFIEZ BERRE 8 (1,399) (28,830)
Reversal of impairment of other receivables H#EWFIE Z FERE 8 - (110,188)
Write-off of finance lease payables to profit JEfIElE & FKIEMIHE
or loss included in other expenses Bmat AHMAY — (28,787)
Loss on disposal of items of property, plant HEW% - BE KZE
and equipment IHE ke 8 464 4,516
Loss/(gain) on disposal of a subsidiaries HEWBARERE
/ (Yezs) 8 5,568 (62,623)
Product warranty provision EmREREE 8 38,468 37,188
Equity-settled share option expenses PARE 25 45 & O i 1 HR A
5 8 19,475 31,358
717,401 737,845
Decrease in inventories FERD 45,665 404,120
Increase in trade receivables B 5 FEMER IS AN (664,658)  (2,168,351)
Decrease in other receivables H b U IR 18,649 119,684
Increase in bills receivable JE USR8 N (15,513) (9,045)
(Increase)/decrease in deposits and e RIBMFIEGEM),
prepayments o (2,551,867) 192,437
(Increase)/decrease in restricted cash ZRRFIRS (B M), R (100,738) 55,421
Increase in trade and bills payables B 5 & E 5 R FIRE AN 324,499 269,463
Increase in other payables H RSB REER
and accruals #n 4,682,584 300,789
Cash from/(used in) operations REBRES,/(ER)Z
Re 2,456,022 (97,637)
Interest paid BERFE (44,465) (27,005)
Income taxes paid BN K (76,218) (143,156)
Net cash flows from/(used in) operating REBERELY/(FR)Z
activities REeEnEFE 2,335,339 (267,798)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

n'l_\ é EE' % 5ﬁ % $& % (/lﬁ'/n%g

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 &Z2—Z—+F+-_HA=+—HItFE)

2017 2016
—E—+F ZE—RF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Mt FET FET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REEBRESRE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of available-for-sale financial EEHREESHINE
investments (4,056) —
Purchase of items of property, plant and EEYE - BELEEEE
equipment (99,307) (193,755)
Purchase of intangible assets EEETEE (6,103) (1,711)
Acquisition of a subsidiary W — R B AR 32 (17,586) —
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—HKB AR 30 9,011 (5,670)
Interest received B E 25,286 20,243
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, HEWE « MENZREER
plant and equipment ZFTS50A 5,838 13,993
Proceeds from disposal of intangible assets H&EEFLEE 2 EHIE 1,983 3,036
Deposits to/received from an asset m—REEEEEARLN,
management company. Bz & (72,974) (239,260)
Net cash flows used in investing activities REEIHERAIIRELRE
JHEE (157,908) (403,124)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

RERTRERR(E

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 &EZ —Z—

tET-A=T—HLFE)

2017 2016
TE-LF EEESaaNES
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING BMETHEESRE
ACTIVITIES
Advances from the ultimate holding company FARIEIRA &) 2 R 1,184 3,514
Advances from related parties RAEE AN T2 AR 30,130 3,609
Advances from third parties %EﬁZiﬁ)\ — 257,632
Proceeds from other borrowings due to R AT 2 a2
related parties FT{S5k38 49,673 11,066
Repayments of other borrowings due to a 155&E1@1%?K7‘"*%%§ 5
related party AL (4,116) (3,849)
Proceeds from other borrowings due to HERE=Fz2EMERZ
third parties FT1S 5118 199,153 98,935
Repayments of other borrowings due to BEEMERTE=A
third parties (177,762) (42,443)
Proceeds from interest-bearing bank RITHY BB Z TS 5UR
borrowings 53,050 4,456
Repayment of interest-bearing bank BERITH BMER
borrowings (68,619) (129,431)
Decrease in restricted cash B X BR HI3R S 2 IR - 125,031
Repayment of finance lease payables BEENREMEIA — (8,129)
Proceeds from issue of shares upon E@ﬁﬁﬁﬂiﬁ?ﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁxfﬁz
exercise of share options FTi5 508 71,657 18,631
Net cash flows from financing activities MEBEEELAZ
BeR&ReE 154,350 339,022
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND BRERBEEEEYZ
CASH EQUIVALENTS i, (RY) $4E 2,331,781 (331,900)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FUz2HeMREEFEY
of year 248,674 447,826
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net MNESFE REE) v 2 - H%E (83,695) 132,753
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END SR ZHERBEEZEY
OF YEAR 2,496,760 248,679
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH ~ B&RBESZEMEH>
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the RiRA MBI RIIEZE
consolidated statement of financial position & NIRE&ZEY 22 2,496,760 248,674
Cash and bank balance attributed to a BEDEAGEZLE
disposal group classified as held for sale HE 2 Re RIRITHER — 5
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the RGEELRERIIEZR
consolidated statement of cash flow ENIREFZFEY 2,496,760 248,679
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION

Hanergy Thin Film Power Group Limited (the
“Company”) is an exempted company with limited
liability incorporated in Bermuda. The address of its
registered office is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM11, Bermuda and its principal place of
business is located at Room 2403A, 24/F, World
Trade Centre, 280 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay,
Hong Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) were
principally involved in (i) the manufacture of
equipment and turnkey production lines for the
manufacture of amorphous silicon and Copper Indium
Gallium Selenide (“CIGS") based thin-film solar
photovoltalic modules (“Manufacturing”); (ii) the
technological development and production of Gallium
Arsenide (“GaAs") thin-film power turnkey production
lines (“Manufacturing”); (iii) building ground-mounted
power stations or rooftop power stations for sale and
the sale of thin-film power modules (“Downstream”);
(iv) the research, development and sale of thin-film
power application products (“Downstream”); (v) sale
of electricity (“Downstream”); and (vi) providing
engineering services (“Downstream”).

The Company's shares are listed on the main board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The Group’s current operations
are principally based in Hong Kong, the People's
Republic of China (the “PRC" or “Mainland China”),
the Kingdom of Sweden (“Sweden”), the Federal
Republic of Germany (“Germany”), the United States
of America (the “United States”) and the United
Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern lIreland (the
“United Kingdom").

RAREEER

EEREEEEEFRAR(IAAR])
REREFMX L AEREBRAF °
Haf BRI A Clarendon House,
2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11,
Bermuda ' HF Z&Z XM MR E B
i 8 /8 5 T 4T 82805k t B 002448
2403A = °

ARAFREWBAR(FEAEE])
FARAEBRFNREY R FIR R KW
(TCIGS)ER ARG R e R RER
REMEREER(TRE]) : (i) B
([GaAs])BIREBRGEERIIME
EREE(RE]D  (NEEKGREL
EENMEREHRAHEE L HE TR
AETTHED (VX RELHEE
BREEEAEM(TED  (VHEE
HAT#D - RviiRHIRERBE(T
) e

RRABBNREEBARZABR AR
(MBEARPFT DER LT - AREERKUAE
B REARKME(FE I HERA
#)) WHRIB([RE])  BRESBH
AMBE(TRER]  XMNBERE(E
BDRRTIERIEERMES EE
(THE)ARETEZERM -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

On 20 May 2015, the stock price of the Company
plunged 47% to HK$3.91 per share from HK$7.38
per share before a suspension was announced by
the Company on that day. Then on 15 July 2015, the
Securities and Futures Commission (“SFC") directed
the Stock Exchange to extend the trading suspension.
As at the date of approval of these financial
statements, the trading of stock of the Company is
still suspended.

As at 31 December 2016, the immediate holding
company of the Company is Hanergy Investment
Limited (“Hanergy Investment”), which was
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI") and
the ultimate holding company of the Company is
Hanergy Holding Group Limited (“Hanergy Holding”),
which was established in the PRC.

As at 31 December 2016, the immediate holding
company of the Company is Hanergy Investment
Limited (“Hanergy Investment”), which was
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI") and
the ultimate holding company of the Company is
Hanergy Holding Group Limited (“Hanergy Holding”),
which was established in the PRC. During 2017,
there are certain equity reorganisation (refer to the
Company’'s announcement dated 2 June 2017 for
details) among Hanergy Holding and its concert
parties in respect of the Company's issued shares.
Upon completion of the reorganisation and as at
31 December 2017, the ultimate holding company
of the Company has become E&ENIRRIHRBR A A
(“Hanergy Photovoltaic”), which was established in
the PRC. Both the immediate holding company and
the ultimate holding company of the Company are
ultimately controlled by Mr. Li Hejun. In the opinion
of the directors, the ultimate controlling person of the
Company is Mr. Li Hejun, who holds 73.96% of the
issued share capital of the Company.

AAIREEER (&)

R-ZBE-—RERA=-1+H  ERARFR
RAEEHWEFEEAN ~NAFKER
BR738BITTH47%EERI91E
T RZEBE—RAFEA+HA  FHK
HESKERZES((REY ) ESH
REEREERFERE - RUEFEMBEREZ
HEBH  ARFBRZEEENAERE -

WR-ZB—RE+-_A=+—HB &2A
AZEEERAGARABELHS
([REBEZBE )M 2 Hanergy
Investment Limited ([Hanergy
Investment|) @ AR A2 &EIZER A
AIARPBIKY OEEERERBRA
A ([EREEERR]) o

R-ZBE—XRE+-A=+—8 ' &A
AIZEEREERAAARABE XS
(EBELEE )M 2 Hanergy
Investment Limited ([Hanergy
Investment]) » MAR Al Z &EIERA
A AR B 2 ZIEREEERA
AI(EEEER]) - R —tF 28t
EREE—SITBALTHARRBET
RETE TRESAGIBERARF
HEREA-ZE—tFNA-HAZAM) -
REBASHATKERR_E—tF+=
A=+—8H ARAZEKERARR
AR B 2 B RBH AR A A
([EREXR]) - XABcEEZERAA
REEERARHBATAE LERKE
fl e EFERE  ARRIZHKREFAL
RENFLE  ERFEARAARBEETR
2.73.96% °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

Zhengxin Solar Technology Co., Ltd.)

BHERNREAERAR)

(I REHEMERHEERAA)

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. REAREEER#)
INFORMATION (continued)
Information about subsidiaries MEBATZER
Details of the Group's principal subsidiaries are as NEBETFTEWNB AT BT :
follows:
Place of
incorporation/ Nominal value of issued/
registration and registered share capital/paid
business in capital Percentage of equity
Name AL/ BER BRf/dfkaEE/ attributable to the Group  Principal activities
£ EHnY &R AREELRERA  TZER
2017 2016
it SN T
Hanergy Hi-Tech Power International BVI Ordinary US§1,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
_ Limiteg* RBRARS EBR1.000%7 BEER
E AR RERRNER AR
Hanergy Hi-Tech Power (HK) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary US$77,218 880 100% 100%  Investment holding and trading
E Rt (EERHERAT Y L85 77,018,880 T of equipment and turnkey
_production lines
REBRREEZAREE
HER
Apollo Precision (Fujan) Ltd” The PRC/ Registered RMB 148,087,820 100% 100%  Manufacturing of equipment
EREGRELREARAT Mainland China HERARE 148,087,820 and turnkey production lines
hE /e R HERBREELER
Anollo Precision (Beijing) td. The PRC/ Registered RMB5,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing of equipment
IREH AR ERERRAR Mainland China ~ FEMEARARE5,000,0007 and tumkey production lines
hE/hER HEFRREELER
Apollo Precision (Kunming) Yuanhong The PRC/ Registered RMB20,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing of equipment
Limited” Mainland China AR ARS and tumkey production lines
RSB AR RN HERAT 4E/AEm 200007 YesBrEEEES
Apollo Precision (Kunming) Yuantong The PRC/ Registered RMB 30,790,918 100% 100%  Manufacturing of equipment
Limited” Mainland China AR AR% 30,790,918 and turnkey production fines
R ER AR EERAR HE/ SRR HEREREELESR
Hanergy Global Solar Power Group BVI Ordinary US$5,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited** ABRABS £1A0R5,000,000% 7 REERK
ERK KAEENERAT"
HGSG-NA Land Power 1, LLC The United States Registered US$50,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
%8 S &2 50,000 %7 REZR
Huaibei Qingyuan New Energy The PRC/ Registered RMB25,000,000 100% 100%  Solar power station
 Development Limited” Mainland China AR ARE WNCEEY
R EREARAT hE/hERD 25,000,0007C
Shizong Qingyuan New Energy The PRC/ Registered RMB60,000,000 100% 100%  Solar power station
Development Limited® Mainland China ~~ TERARS ABEEY
BrERRERREERAR hE/HER 60,000,00070
Hanergy Equipment Technology Group ~ The PRC/ Registered USD 1,069,640,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Co., Ltd. Mainland China &1l &751,069,640,000 %70 RERER
(formerly known as Beijing Hanergy 8 /B



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZE—=

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Details of the Group’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

—tEFFT-A=+—HLFE)

1. RAREEER®)

MEBARZER(E)
AEBTZMBRRFBENOT : (F)

Place of
incorporation/ Nominal value of issued/
registration and registered share capital/paid
business n capital Percentage of equity
Name Eﬂ’&ﬁﬂ/ Bk Eﬁﬂ/ SMRAEE/ attributable to the Group  Principal activities
£ EHnY AEEELRERA  TTER
2017 2016
TE-tE N
Xinjiang Hanergy Thin Film The PRC/ Regwtered RMB200,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Solar Power Investment L\mned Manland China ~~ SHTERARE RERK
TREARARRREARAT &/ HER 200,000,000
Solibro Research AB Sweden Paid in SEK158,865,899 100% 100%  Provision of research and
it B A7 158,865,899 development service
RERH AR R RS
Guangdong Hanergy New Energy The PRC/ Registered RMB300,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Investment Co, Ltd. * Manland China ~~ HTERARE RERR
ERE NPT REARAT &/ HER 300,000,000
Beijing Hanergy Household Thm Film The PRC/ Registered RMB90,000,000 100% 100%  Investment and sales of rooftop
Poier Technolog Co, Ltd’ Mainland China AR ARS _power station
AREYPEIERENRARAT hE/hER 90,000,000 RERRRHEERES
Shanghai Hanergy Thin-Film Power The PRC/ Registered RMB50,000,000 100% 100%  Sale of rooftop power stations
Co, Lid” Mainland China AR ARE HEERTN
LSRR EERAT hE/HER 50,000,000
Sichuan Hanergy Thin-Film Power Co.,  The PRC/ Hegwtered RMB60,000,000 100% 100%  Sale of rooftop power stations
d Mainland China AR ARE HEERSH
o) EsEREEARAR &/ HER 60,000,000
Hubei Hanergy Huazhong Thin-Film The PRC/ Registered RMB50,000,000 100% 100%  Sale of rooftop power station
Power Co, Lid.’ Mainland China A RARR BEEREN
R EREEARAT i,/ PE 50,000,000
Liaoning Hanergy Thm Film The PRC/ Registered RMB100,000,000 100% 100%  Dormant
Power Co, Lid.’ Manland China ~~ HFTERARS EEXH
EEILABYELRAT hE/HER 100,000,000 7¢
Guangdong Hanergy Thin-Film Power The PRC/ Registered RMB600,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Investmen and Development Co, Ltd!  Manland China ~ HHERARE RERR
EREARYERALRRRAA &/ HER 600,000,000
Zunhua Hanergy Yuhua PV Power Limited” The PRC/ Registered RMBG0,000,000 100% 100%  Solar power station
BlLEREEANETARAT Manland China A RARSE AR
hE/RERH 60,000,007
Shanxian Huayu New Energy Power The PRC/ Registered RMB10,000,000 100% 100%  Solar power station
Limited" Manland China ~~ HTERARS KRR
REETRARETARAR hE/HER 10,000,0007
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1.
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

PEAIREBER (&)
HEBATZER(E)

Details of the Group’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

AEETEMBRRFBENT : (&)

Place of
incorporation/ Nominal value of issued/
registration and registered share capital/paid
business in capital Percentage of equity
Name HMEL/ LR B/ ERRARE/ attributable to the Group  Principal activities
£ ERHH BhEx ARBELRERA  TERR
2017 2016
TE-1F e
Beijing Hanergy Solar Investment Co.,  The PRC/ Registered RMB50,010,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
Lt Mainland China ~~ EPERARR AR
FRERRBEERART hE/RER 50,010,007
MiaSolé Hi-Tech Corp. The United States Paid in US$152,314,366 100% 100%  Manufacturing of photovoltaic
%8 EIER152,314 366 T products and equipment
Bt Enkdh
Hanergy Thin Film Power (UK) Limited  The United Kingdom  Registered GBP5,000 100% 100%  Sale of rooftop power stations
EG S 5,000 28 HERTEEL
Global Solar Energy, Inc. The United States Paid in US$36,368, 156 100% 100%  Manufacturing of photovoltaic
e BB 36,368 156 F T products and equipment
Rk Enkih
Savanna Solar Limited Ghana Registered GHC400,000 70% 70%  Construction of photovoltaic
JIER AR 400,000 MAEH, _power generation projects
BRtREEER
Guangzhou Qiguang Solar Energy The PRC/ Registered RMB57,000,000 100% 100%  Investment in rooftop power
Technology Co. Ltd" Mainland China & AR 57,000,000 stations.
BN AR EERAT hE/RERY REERE
Alta Devices, Inc. The United States Paid in US6117,285,448 100% 100%  Provision of research and
e BIAR 117,085,448 5T development service
RERERAERS
Beijing Hanergy Thin Film Power Electrical The PRC/ Registered RMB70,000,000 100% 100%  Provision of engineering
Enginering Limited" Mainland China ~~ ERPERARR services
FRERABABRENTR e/ hEA 70,000,0007C RUTERE

BRAA

Fuhai Hanergy Hengyuan Thin Film Power The PRC/Mainland

Registered RMB100,000,000 100% 100%

Solar power station

_ Limited" China HMERARE ABHE

R EREREEARAT hE/RER 100,000,0007%

Jiangmen Qingyuan New Energy Power  The PRC/ Registered RMB6,000,000 100% 100%  Solar power station
Investment Limited"** Mainland China AR ARS AREEY

IR s S RERRAA &/ HER 6,000,0007C

Changde Hanergy Thin Film Solar The PRC/ Registered RMB900,000,000 N/A 100%  Solar power station
Technology Co, Ltd.*** Mainland China ~~ HERARY TER A E

RERVERAGEERERAA T hE/EN 900,000,000



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

2.1

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Details of the Group’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows: (continued)

* Direct subsidiaries of the Company.

* ¥ Disposal group classified as held for sale of the
Company

***  Disposal in 2017

Unofficial English transliteration or translations for
identification purpose only.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally
affected the results for the year or formed a
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) (which include all Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards ("HKASs") and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “"HKICPA"), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention. These financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
("HK$") and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated. Assets
of a disposal group held for sale are stated at the
lower of their carrying amounts and fair values less
costs to sell as further explained in note 2.4 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had a cash and
cash equivalents balance of HK$2,496,760,000 and
its current assets were in excess of current liabilities
by HK$8,361,856,000 which, as set out in notes 17
and 18, included trade receivables and gross amount
due from contract customers due from a third-party
customer with a total amount of HK$2,682,375,000.

2.1

AAIREEER (&)

MEARZERE)
AEBTZMBRRFBENOT : (F)

* KRR ZEEHBAR -
* DEAARAFEZHERS -

e RE—LEHE
© O REREXEERME - EEBS -

FRIMESERAR/IBZREARFERS
HIERAEESANEEFEND Z M B
RNA - BERR RHEEMHBARZ
HEEeSR\BANTTE -

mREXE
HERBHERRDBEELEFMAE
(BREdMAE NEMZEBME

SR EBMBHREERN ] 21
AT BMBHEED  HESER
([BEEHER D RRE) BEAR
S RARFBREGI 2 ERBER
E MAmse -

I I TS TRR TR E £ K AA R EL o it
EHHHRERTIABITLEY - BBEEP
LN TEHEAANBEEAGESR
BRETIL - FEZHEHEGNEERE
BRI (B B A FE MR & FEIR & R H &R
RARR  E—THBRGEMBEHREM
F£2.4 0

R=—Z—+tF+=-A=+—8"
TEBERESERBESCSEYDE %
2,496,760,0007%8 7T + MR B & E bR
& EHBH 8,361,856,000 7 7t ( B izt
171%18) ' mBEEBIEE HREWIE
NEW—ZFE=ZFEARBTFPHIBEATEAS
#2,682,375,000 %8 7T °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE —Z—

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

The directors of the Company are considering
measures to monitor and improve the cash flows
of the Group, including but not limited to the
collection of trade receivables due from Hanergy
Holding Group Limited (“Hanergy Holding"”) and
its affiliates (collectively referred to as “Hanergy
Affiliates”) and the third-party customers developed
for the manufacturing business, as well as further
expansion to the downstream business. The Group
received HK$2,283,175,000 and HK$194,394,000
from Hanergy Affiliates for the full repayment of trade
receivables and the interest penalty of the overdue
trade receivables subsequent to 31 December 2017
and up to 27 March 2018. The Group also received
HK$248,230,000 from the aforesaid third-party
customer to settle part of the due trade receivables
subsequent to 31 December 2017 and up to 27
March 2018. In addition, the Group also received
periodical repayments from third-party customers
of the manufacturing business for repayment of
the due trade receivables as disclosed in note
17. The Group has also put a lot of resources and
efforts in the downstream photovoltaic applications
and solar poverty alleviation projects. The Group
has approximately more than one thousand active
distributors, covering most of the markets at city
and county level across Mainland China as at 31
December 2017.

In light of the measures of the Group described
above, the directors of the Company are of the view
that the Group will have sufficient working capital to
finance its operations and is able to meet with its
liabilities as and when they fall due in the foreseeable
future. Accordingly, the directors of the Company
consider that it is appropriate to prepare these
financial statements on a going concern basis.

Comparative information

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified
to conform with the current year's presentation.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 December 2017.

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability

to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

tET-A=+—HLFE)

2.1 RBEE %)

ARRESREEREERRBELREE
BERE  HEREERRERIEEEE
BEBEARAA(NERER ) & HHE
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MHEE - R_E—tF+_A=+—H
BEE_ZE—NF=ZA=-+tH £&E
B Uz IJE;HZ B AR ZHENE ZER
mlﬁz 283175000,%7ELA&15HH%’%
JfE Y Fx 38 £1 8. 194,394,000 78 T © E"_
T — t¢+ A=+—HUEREZE

T NE=A-t++HILHE AEE
JTLIMJ ““_Exﬁm248230000
BITIIE U MRS B EAEWE 5

IH o AN K%WMMJ%%%%%%’E
Hé?ﬁi,ﬁﬁz%%x CAEMEIEE S EWK
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 2.1 MBEE®)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less
than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the carrying amount of
any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration
received, (ii) the fair value of any investment retained
and (iii) any resulting surplus of deficit in profit or
loss. The Group’'s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required
if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities.

Business combinations under common control are
accounted for using the merger accounting method.
Detailed accounting policy is set out in note 2.4 to
the consolidated financial statements.

?ﬁ\égiﬁ(%)

AENER L i N B S
ST 2 7 B4 7 B A 1
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EHIERIE BRI -
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RNAEE N KIFE R ek TG -
EW@EA?ET BERZERRART ° TE
SENEEERE CHZXFABHNE
ENEE - BE - e X RBRER
EiRaRDEH -

MREEEEMBERET 0 AR LR
m—%%%m%¢ BHAP—IAENZIE
HBNE  RNEBGEHFEREEE
%Eﬁlﬂ cHRMBRARIZEEERS
BMABRELEHE  BIEREOHZS A

EE

AAREERE—FME R R E 2 Hil R -
?&@ﬂtﬁgu%](l)uzwj.gﬁam/ E(/FE
FEEB)REE (i) ERFFERERD
FREE - RGESMERSHZEFTER
G &EE

(i) T AE B A F(E
(ii) FT % 2 Eﬂ&éﬁ’\]@ifﬁ&(iii)ﬁ
EENEABEAMRR EAEEEER
BEREEENREE  AEBEMSELA
Eﬁ\ﬁfﬂ b 5 o i AT A A AR

EESH \*EETE!@EM% i ) (20 5
ﬁﬁ)ﬁ@u?ﬂ €

ITT BTN 2EKBEHDREHFEIHE
c AN G RRENEE P BR
%WE‘IZAO

147



148

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs
for the first time for the current year's financial
statements.

Amendments to Disclosure Initiative
HKAS 7
Amendments to Recognition of Deferred Tax
HKAS 12 Assets for Unrealised Losses
Amendments to Disclosure of Interests in Other
HKFRS 12 included in Entities: Clarification of the
Annual Improvements to  Scope of HKFRS 12

HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle

None of the above amendments to HKFRSs has
had a significant financial effect on these financial
statements. Disclosure has been made in note 31
to the financial statements upon the adoption of
amendments to HKAS 7, which require an entity to
provide disclosures that enable users of financial
statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both changes
arising from cash flows and non-cash changes.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 EMEMEERERNERBYE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not
yet effective, in these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 2
Amendments to HKFRS 4
HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 15
Amendments to HKFRS 15

HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 40

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

Annual Improvements
2014-2016 Cycle

Annual Improvements
2015-2017 Cycle

January 2018
January 2019

January 2021

Classification and Measurement of Share-
based Payment Transactions'

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
with HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts'

Financial Instruments'

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation’

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture'

Revenue from Contracts with Customers'

Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers'

Leases’

Insurance contract’

Long-term Interests in Associate or Joint
Venture®

Transfers of Investment Property’

Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance
Consideration’
Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments’

Amendments to HKFRS 1 and HKAS 28'

Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11, HKAS
12 and HKAS 23°

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

No mandatory effective date yet determined but

available for adoption
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are
expected to be applicable to the Group is described
below. Of those standards, HKFRS 9 and HKFRS
15 will be applicable for the Group’s financial year
ending 31 December 2018 and are expected to
have a significant impact upon adoption. Whilst
management has performed a detailed assessment
of the estimated impacts of these standards, that
assessment is based on the information currently
available to the Group, including expectations of the
application of transitional provision options and policy
choices. The actual impacts upon adoption could be
different to those below, depending on additional
reasonable and supportable information being made
available to the Group at the time of applying the
standards and the transitional provisions and policy
options finally adopted.

The HKICPA issued amendments to HKFRS 2 in
August 2016 that address three main areas: the
effects of vesting conditions on the measurement of
a cash-settled share-based payment transaction; the
classification of a share-based payment transaction
with net settlement features for withholding a
certain amount in order to meet the employee’s
tax obligation associated with the share-based
payment; and accounting where a modification to
the terms and conditions of a share-based payment
transaction changes its classification from cash-
settled to equity-settled. The amendments clarify that
the approach used to account for vesting conditions
when measuring equity-settled share-based payments
also applies to cash-settled share-based payments.
The amendments introduce an exception so that
a share-based payment transaction with net share
settlement features for withholding a certain amount
in order to meet the employee’s tax obligation is
classified in its entirety as an equity-settled share-
based payment transaction when certain conditions
are met. Furthermore, the amendments clarify that
if the terms and conditions of a cash-settled share-
based payment transaction are modified, with the
result that it becomes an equity-settled share-based
payment transaction, the transaction is accounted
for as an equity-settled transaction from the date of
the modification. On adoption, entities are required
to apply the amendments without restating prior
periods, but retrospective application is permitted
if they expect to adopt the amendments from 1
January 2018. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 EMEMEERERNERBYE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

In September 2014, the HKICPA issued the final
version of HKFRS 9, bringing together all phases of
the financial instruments project to replace HKAS 39
and all previous versions of HKFRS 9. The standard
introduces new requirements for classification and
measurement, impairment and hedge accounting.
The Group will adopt HKFRS 9 from 1 January 2018.
The Group will not restate comparative information
and will recognise any transition adjustments against
the opening balance of equity at 1 January 2018.
During 2017, the Group has performed a detailed
assessment of the impact of the adoption of HKFRS
9. The expected impacts relate to the classification
and measurement and the impairment requirements
and are summarised as follows:

(a) Classification and measurement

Upon adoption of HKFRS 9, the Group
expects that there will be change in the
current classification and measurement of
the financial assets. The Group currently has
equity investment that held as available-for-
sale financial investments measured at cost
less any impairment of HK$66,097,000 as at
31 December 2017, such investment will be
classified as available for sale measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income
under HKFRS 9 as the investments are intended
to be held for the foreseeable future and the
Group expects to apply the option to present
fair value changes in other comprehensive
income. Gains and losses recorded in
other comprehensive income for the equity
investments cannot be recycled to profit or loss
when the investments are derecognized.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE —Z—

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

(b) Impairment

HKFRS 9 requires an impairment on debt
instruments recorded at amortised cost or
at fair value through other comprehensive
income, lease receivables, loan commitments
and financial guarantee contracts that are not
accounted for at fair value through profit or loss
under HKFRS 9, to be recorded based on an
expected credit loss model either on a twelve-
month basis or a lifetime basis. The Group will
apply the simplified approach and record lifetime
expected losses that are estimated based on
the present values of all cash shortfalls over
the remaining life of all of its trade receivables.
Furthermore, the Group will apply the general
approach and record twelve-month expected
credit losses that are estimated based on the
possible default events on its other receivables
within the next twelve months. The effect of
adoption on the Group's financial statements is
not expected to be material.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011)
address an inconsistency between the requirements
in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture. The amendments
require a full recognition of a gain or loss when the
sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture constitutes a
business. For a transaction involving assets that do
not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the investor's
profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor's interest in that associate or joint venture.
The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The
previous mandatory effective date of amendments
to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by
the HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory
effective date will be determined after the completion
of a broader review of accounting for associates
and joint ventures. However, the amendments are
available for adoption now.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 EMEMEERERNERBYE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 15, issued in July 2014, establishes a new
five-step model to account for revenue arising
from contracts with customers. Under HKFRS 15,
revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects
the consideration to which an entity expects to be
entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services
to a customer. The principles in HKFRS 15 provide
a more structured approach for measuring and
recognising revenue. The standard also introduces
extensive qualitative and quantitative disclosure
requirements, including disaggregation of total
revenue, information about performance obligations,
changes in contract asset and liability account
balances between periods and key judgements and
estimates. The standard will supersede all current
revenue recognition requirements under HKFRSs.
Either a full retrospective application or a modified
retrospective adoption is required on the initial
application of the standard In June 2016, the HKICPA
issued amendments to HKFRS 15 to address the
implementation issues on identifying performance
obligations, application guidance on principal versus
agent and licences of intellectual property, and
transition. The amendments are also intended to
help ensure a more consistent application when
entities adopt HKFRS 15 and decrease the cost and
complexity of applying the standard. The Group plans
to adopt the transitional provisions in HKFRS 15 to
recognise the cumulative effect of initial adoption
as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
earnings at 1 January 2018. In addition, the Group
plans to apply the new requirements only to contracts
that are not completed before 1 January 2018. The
Group expects that the transitional adjustment to
be made on 1 January 2018 upon initial adoption
of HKFRS 15 will not be material. However, the
expected changes in accounting policies, as further
explained below, will have a material impact on the
Group's financial statements from 2018 onwards.

The Group's principal activities consist of (i)
manufacture of equipment and turkey production lines
for the manufacture of both amorphous silicon-based
and CIGS based thin film solar photovoltaic modules
and the technological development and production
of GaAs thin film power turnkey production lines,
and (ii) construction of solar power stations, rooftop
power stations, household system, small to medium-
sized enterprises (“SME") commercial systems etc.,
and sale of solar power stations, operation of rooftop
power stations, sale of solar photovoltaic panels,
photovoltaic application products and electricity, and
provision of engineering service.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

The expected changes in accounting policies arising

from the adoption of HKFRS 15 on the Group are
summarized as follows:

(a)

Variable consideration on the sale to
distributors

The Group sells rooftop stations through
distributors and provides some volume discount
upon certain pre-conditions have been met by
distributors. Currently, the Group recognizes
revenue from sale to distributors by taking
consideration of two identifiable components:
(i) sales revenue of delivered rooftop solar
power systems is recognised when the rooftop
solar power systems have been delivered; (ii)
installation service revenue is deferred and then
recognised as revenue when the installation
service is performed. Under HKFRS 15, a
transaction price is considered variable if a
customer is provided with volume discounts.
The Group is required to estimate the amount
of consideration to which it will be entitled
in the sales of delivered rooftop solar power
systems and the estimated amount of variable
consideration will be included in the transaction
price only to the extent that it is highly probable
that a significant reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur
when the uncertainty associated with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
The Group has decided to use the expected
value method to estimate the amount of volume
discount to be granted as this method better
predicts the amount of variable consideration
to which the Group will be entitled. The Group
has estimated that, when it adopts HKFRS 15,
an adjustment to reduce revenue for the volume
discount will be required, however, the overall
impact for 2017 will be immaterial. The Group
will account for the revenue deduction impact
from provision of volume discount to distributors
as deferred revenue in the consolidated
statement of financial position upon the adoption
of HKFRS 15.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

(b)

Presentation and disclosure

The presentation and disclosure requirements
in HKFRS 15 are more detailed than those
under the current HKAS 18. The presentation
requirements represent a significant change
from current practice and will significantly
increase the volume of disclosures required in
the Group’s financial statements. Many of the
disclosure requirements in HKFRS 15 are new.
In particular, the Group expects that the notes
to the financial statements will be expanded
because of the disclosure of significant
judgements made on determining the transaction
prices of those contracts that include variable
consideration, how the transaction prices have
been allocated to the performance obligations,
and the assumptions made to estimate the
stand-alone selling price of each performance
obligation. In addition, as required by HKFRS 15,
the Group will disaggregate revenue recognised
from contracts with customers into categories
that depict how the nature, amount, timing
and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows
are affected by economic factors. It will also
disclose information about the relationship
between the disclosure of disaggregated
revenue and revenue information disclosed for
each reportable segment.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 16, issued in May 2016, replaces HKAS
17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether
an Arrangement contains a Lease, HK(SIC)-Int 15
Operating Leases — Incentives and HK(SIC)-Int 27
Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving
the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out
the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases and requires
lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for most
leases. The standard includes two recognition
exemptions for lessees — leases of low-value assets
and short-term leases. At the commencement date
of a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make
lease payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an asset
representing the right to use the underlying asset
during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). The
right-of-use asset is subsequently measured at cost
less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses unless the right-of-use asset meets the
definition of investment property in HKAS 40, or
relates to a class of property, plant and equipment
to which the revaluation model is applied. The lease
liability is subsequently increased to reflect the
interest on the lease liability and reduced for the lease
payments. Lessees will be required to separately
recognise the interest expense on the lease liability
and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use
asset. Lessees will also be required to remeasure
the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain
events, such as change in the lease term and change
in future lease payments resulting from a change in
an index or rate used to determine those payments.
Lessees will generally recognise the amount of the
remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment
to the right-of-use asset. Lessor accounting under
HKFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from the
accounting under HKAS 17. Lessors will continue
to classify all leases using the same classification
principle as in HKAS 17 and distinguish between
operating leases and finance leases. HKFRS 16
requires lessees and lessors to make more extensive
disclosures than under HKAS17. Lessees can choose
to apply the standard using either a full retrospective
or a modified retrospective approach.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 EMEMEERERNERYE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 16 from 1 January
2019. The Group is currently assessing the impact of
HKFRS 16 upon adoption and is considering whether
it will choose to take advantage of the practical
expedients available and which transition approach
and reliefs will be adopted. As disclosed in note 33(a)
to the financial statements, at 31 December 2017,
the Group had future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases in aggregate of
approximately HK$2,203,196,000. Upon adoption of
HKAS 16, certain amounts included therein may need
to be recognised as new right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities. Further analysis, however, will be needed
to determine the amount of new rights of use assets
and lease liabilities to be recognised, including, but
not limited to, any amounts relating to leases of low-
value assets and short term leases, other practical
expedients and reliefs chosen, and new leases
entered into before the date of adoption.

Amendments to HKAS 40, issued in April 2017, clarify
when an entity should transfer property, including
property under construction or development, into or
out of investment property. The amendments state
that a change in use occurs when the property meets,
or ceases to meet, the definition of investment
property and there is evidence of the change in use.
A mere change in management’s intentions for the
use of a property does not provide evidence of a
change in use. The amendments should be applied
prospectively to the changes in use that occur on or
after the beginning of the annual reporting period in
which the entity first applies the amendments. An
entity should reassess the classification of property
held at the date that it first applies the amendments
and, if applicable, reclassify property to reflect the
conditions that exist at that date. Retrospective
application is only permitted if it is possible without
the use of hindsight. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments prospectively from 1 January 2018. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22, issued in June 2017, provides
guidance on how to determine the date of
the transaction when applying HKAS 21 to the
situation where an entity receives or pays advance
consideration in a foreign currency and recognises
a non-monetary asset or liability. The interpretation
clarifies that the date of the transaction for the
purpose of determining the exchange rate to use on
initial recognition of the related asset, expense or
income (or part of it) is the date on which an entity
initially recognises the non-monetary asset (such
as a prepayment) or non-monetary liability (such as
deferred income) arising from the payment or receipt
of the advance consideration. If there are multiple
payments or receipts in advance of recognising
the related item, the entity must determine the
transaction date for each payment or receipt of
the advance consideration. Entities may apply the
interpretation on a full retrospective basis or on a
prospective basis, either from the beginning of the
reporting period in which the entity first applies the
interpretation or the beginning of the prior reporting
period presented as comparative information in the
financial statements of the reporting period in which
the entity first applies the interpretation. The Group
expects to adopt the interpretation prospectively from
1 January 2018. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 BEMEEKRERNE BEF

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23, issued in July 2017, addresses the
accounting for income taxes (current and deferred)
when tax treatments involve uncertainty that affects
the application of HKAS 12 (often referred to as
“uncertain tax positions”). The interpretation does
not apply to taxes or levies outside the scope of
HKAS 12, nor does it specifically include requirements
relating to interest and penalties associated
with uncertain tax treatments. The interpretation
specifically addresses (i) whether an entity considers
uncertain tax treatments separately; (ii) the
assumptions an entity makes about the examination
of tax treatments by taxation authorities; (iii) how an
entity determines taxable profits or tax losses, tax
bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and
tax rates; and (iv) how an entity considers changes
in facts and circumstances. The interpretation is to
be applied retrospectively, either fully retrospectively
without the use of hindsight or retrospectively with
the cumulative effect of application as an adjustment
to the opening equity at the date of initial application,
without the restatement of comparative information.
The Group expects to adopt the interpretation from 1
January 2019. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business combinations and goodwill

The acquisition of subsidiaries and business under
common control, where applicable, has been
accounted for using merger accounting method. The
financial statements of the businesses under common
control are prepared for the same reporting period as
the Company, using consistent accounting policies.

The merger method of accounting involves
incorporating the financial statement items of the
combining entities or businesses in which the
common control combinations occurs as if they had
been combined from the date when the combining
entities or businesses first came under the control
of the controlling shareholder. The net assets of
the combining entities or businesses are combined
using the existing book values from the controlling
shareholder’'s perspective. No amount is recognised
in respect of goodwill or the excess of the acquirers’
interest in the net fair value of acquirees’ identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the
cost of investment at the time of common control
combination.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income include the results of each
of the combining entities or businesses from the
earliest date presented or since the date when the
combining entities or businesses first came under
common control or since their respective dates of
incorporation/establishment, where this is a shorter
period, regardless of the date of the common control
combination. All intra-group balances, transactions,
unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-
group transactions and dividends are eliminated on
consolidation.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERBE®)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Business combinations, other than business
combinations under common control, are accounted
for using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair
value which is the sum of the acquisition date fair
values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in
the acquiree that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net
assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or at
the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with
the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This
includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE —Z—

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset
or liability is measured at fair value with changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and
any fair value of the Group’s previously held equity
interests in the acquiree over the identifiable net
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of
this consideration and other items is lower than the
fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is,
after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a
gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs
its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31
December. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, irrespective of whether other
assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERBE®)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) to which the goodwill
relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is
less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss
is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and
part of the operation within that unit is disposed of,
the goodwill associated with the operation disposed
of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is
measured based on the relative value of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating
unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its equity investments at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value
is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement
date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence
of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability. The principal or the
most advantageous market must be accessible by
the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability
is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in
its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is
measured or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described
as follows, based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which

the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERBE®)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories, construction contract assets,
financial assets and disposal group held for sale),
the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. An
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’'s or cash-generating unit’'s value in use and its
fair value less costs to sell, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case
the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is
charged to profit or loss of the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income in the period in
which it arises in those expense categories consistent
with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such
an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss
of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if
there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but
not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to profit or loss of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in the period in which it
arises.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

or

the party is a person or a close member of that

person’s family and that person

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;

has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of
the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(i)

the entity and the Group are members of
the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or of a parent,
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other
entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures
of the same third party;
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies: (continued)

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a); and

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
When an item of property, plant and equipment is
classified as held for sale or when it is part of a
disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not
depreciated and is accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 5, as further explained in the accounting
policy for “Non-current assets and disposal groups
held for sale”.The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE —Z—

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such
as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to
profit or loss of the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income in the period in which
it is incurred. In situations where the recognition
criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of
the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be
replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts
as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis
to write-off the cost of each item of property, plant
and equipment to its residual value over its estimated
useful life. The principal annual rates used for this
purpose are as follows:

3% — 5%

4% — 20%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20% — 33%
20% — 25%
over the shorter

Land and buildings
Plant and machinery

Motor vehicles

Leasehold improvements
of lease term or
20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of
that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among
the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
least at each financial year end.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERBE®)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or
loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit
or loss of the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in the year the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.

Construction in progress represents plant and
machinery under construction, which is stated at cost
less any impairment losses, and is not depreciated.
Cost comprises the direct costs of construction and
installation. Construction in progress is reclassified
to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for
sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified
as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be
recovered principally through a sales transaction
rather than through continuing use. For this to be the
case, the assets or disposal groups must be available
for immediate sale in their present condition subject
only to terms that are usual and customary for the
sale of such assets or disposal groups and their sale
must be highly probable. All assets and liabilities
of a subsidiary classified as a disposal group are
reclassified as held for sale regardless of whether the
Group retains a non-controlling interest in its former
subsidiary after the sale.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for
sale (continued)

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than
investment properties and financial assets) classified
as held for sale are measured at the lower of their
carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell.
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
classified as held for sale are not depreciated or
amortised.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured
on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is the fair
value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of
intangible assets are assessed to be finite. Intangible
assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised
over the useful economic life and assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERBE®)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are
tested for impairment annually either individually or at
the cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets
are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible
asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to
determine whether the indefinite life assessment
continues to be supportable. If not, the change in
the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Technology know-how

Purchased technology know-how (including general
contractor licence) is stated at cost less any
impairment losses and is amortised on the straight-
line basis over its estimated useful life of 5 to 19
years.

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to profit or loss of the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new
products is capitalised and deferred only when the
Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale, its intention to complete
and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the
asset will generate future economic benefits, the
availability of resources to complete the project and
the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
the development. Product development expenditure
which does not meet these criteria is expensed when
incurred.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE —Z—

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards
and risks of ownership of assets to the Group, other
than legal title, are accounted for as finance leases.
At the inception of a finance lease, the cost of the
leased asset is capitalised at the present value of
the minimum lease payments and recorded together
with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to
reflect the purchase and financing. Assets held under
capitalised finance leases, including prepaid land
lease payments under finance leases, are included in
property, plant and equipment, and depreciated over
the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such
leases are charged to profit or loss of the statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income so
as to provide a constant periodic rate of charge over
the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a
financing nature are accounted for as finance leases,
but are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks
of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are
accounted for as operating leases. Where the Group
is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases
net of any incentives received from the lessor are
charged to profit or loss the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income on the straight-
line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating
leases are initially stated at cost and subsequently
recognised on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERBE®)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)

When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably
between the land and buildings elements, the entire
lease payments are included in the cost of the land
and buildings as a finance lease in property, plant and
equipment.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition,
as financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, loans and receivables and availible-for-sale
financial investments. When financial assets are
recognised initially, they are measured at fair value
plus transaction costs that are attributable to the
acquisition of the financial assets, except in the case
of financial assets recorded at fair value through profit
or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the
date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. After initial
measurement, such assets are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for
impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition
and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in other income and gains
in profit or loss of the statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income. The loss arising
from impairment is recognised in profit or loss of the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income in finance costs for loans and in other
expenses for receivables.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-
derivative financial assets in unlisted equity
investments. Equity investments classified as
available for sale are those which are neither
classified as held for trading nor designated as at fair
value through profit or loss.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments
cannot be reliably measured because (a) the variability
in the range of reasonable fair value estimates is
significant for that investment or (b) the probabilities
of the various estimates within the range cannot
be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair
value, such investments are stated at cost less any
impairment losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention
to sell its available-for-sale financial investments in
the near term are still appropriate. When, in rare
circumstances, the Group is unable to trade these
financial assets due to inactive markets, the Group
may elect to reclassify these financial assets if
management has the ability and intention to hold the
assets for the foreseeable future or until maturity.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-
for-sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the
date of reclassification becomes its new amortised
cost and any previous gain or loss on that asset that
has been recognised in equity is amortised to profit
or loss of the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income over the remaining life of
the investment using the effective interest rate. Any
difference between the new amortised cost and the
maturity amount is also amortised over the remaining
life of the asset using the effective interest rate. If
the asset is subsequently determined to be impaired,
then the amount recorded in equity is reclassified to
the statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERBE®)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from
the Group's consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if and to
what extent it has retained the risks and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control
of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group's
continuing involvement in the asset. In that case,
the Group also recognises an associated liability.
The transferred asset and the associated liability
are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset
and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE —Z—

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is objective evidence that
a financial asset or a group of financial assets is
impaired. An impairment exists if one or more events
that occurred after the initial recognition of the
asset have an impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the financial asset or the group of financial
assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of
impairment may include indications that a debtor
or a group of debtors is experiencing significant
financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments, the probability that they will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and
observable data indicating that there is a measurable
decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such
as changes in arrears or economic conditions that
correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the
Group first assesses individually whether objective
evidence of impairment exists individually for financial
assets that are individually significant, or collectively
for financial assets that are not individually significant.
If the Group determines that no objective evidence
of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes
the asset in a group of financial assets with similar
credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses
them for impairment. Assets that are individually
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment
loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not
included in a collective assessment of impairment.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERBE®)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost
(continued)

The amount of any impairment loss identified is
measured as the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses
that have not yet been incurred). The present value
of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at
the financial asset’s original effective interest rate
(i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through
the use of an allowance account and the loss is
recognised in profit or loss of the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income. Interest
income continues to be accrued on the reduced
carrying amount using the rate of interest used to
discount the future cash flows for the purpose of
measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables
together with any associated allowance are written
off when there is no realistic prospect of future
recovery and all collateral has been realised or has
been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
estimated impairment loss increases or decreases
because of an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the
allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered,
the recovery is credited to other expenses in profit
or loss of the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss
has been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument
that is not carried at fair value because its fair value
cannot be reliably measured, or on a derivative asset
that is linked to and must be settled by delivery of
such an unquoted equity instrument, the amount of
the loss is measured as the difference between the
asset's carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial asset.
Impairment losses on these assets are not reversed.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERBE®)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group
assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that an investment or a
group of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale investment is impaired, an
amount comprising the difference between its cost
(net of any principal payment and amortisation) and its
current fair value, less any impairment loss previously
recognised in the profit or loss of the statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
is removed from other comprehensive income and
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

In the case of equity investments classified as
available for sale, objective evidence would include a
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an
investment below its cost. The determination of what
is “significant” or “prolonged” requires judgement.
“Significant” is evaluated against the original cost of
the investment and “prolonged” against the period
in which the fair value has been below its original
cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the
cumulative loss — measured as the difference
between the acquisition cost and the current fair
value, less any impairment loss on that investment
previously recognised in profit or loss of the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income — is removed from other comprehensive
income and recognised in profit or loss of the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. Impairment losses on equity instruments
classified as available for sale are not reversed
through profit or loss of the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income. Increases
in their fair value after impairment are recognised
directly in other comprehensive income.

The determination of what is “significant” or
“prolonged” requires judgement. In making this
judgement, the Group evaluates, among other factors,
the duration or extent to which the fair value of an
investment is less than its cost.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERBE®)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition,
as loans and borrowings. The Group determines
the classification of its financial liabilities at initial
recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and
bills payables, other payables and accruals, interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings and other non-
current liabilities.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Trade and bills payables and other payables

They are recognised initially at their fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss of the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest
rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in profit or loss of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset
and the net amount is reported in the statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable
legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted
average basis and, in case of work in progress and
finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads.
Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal.

The non-current assets of the photovoltaic power
generation projects that are included in the scope
of consolidation and are held for sale are classified
as inventories and are measured in the same way
as other inventories, including the borrowing costs
capitalised until they are ready for use.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERBE®)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Inventories (continued)

If a photovoltaic power generation project held for
sale has been in operation for over one year and has
no corresponding purchase commitment, purchase
option or similar agreements, the non-current assets
related thereto are transferred from “Inventories” to
“Property, Plant and Equipment” in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and demand deposits, and short term
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when
acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash
management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
financial position, cash and bank balances comprise
cash on hand and at banks, including term deposits,
and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not
restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a
past event and it is probable that a future outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Provisions (continued)

When the effect of discounting is material, the
amount recognised for a provision is the present
value at the end of the reporting period of the future
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present
value amount arising from the passage of time
is included in finance costs in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

Provisions for product warranties granted by the
Group on certain products are recognised based on
sales volume and past experience of the level of
repairs and returns, discounted to their present values
as appropriate.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit
or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current
and prior periods are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on
all temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERBE®)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, the carryforward
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow
all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised
to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
are offset if and only if the Group has a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets
on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or
assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair values
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, which it is intended
to compensate, are expensed.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE —Z—

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that

the economic benefits will flow to the Group and

when the revenue can be measured reliably, on the

following bases:

(a)

from the manufacture of turnkey production
lines and construction of solar power stations for
certain small to medium-sized enterprises and
poverty alleviation projects, on the percentage
of completion basis, pursuant to which costs to
complete a contract are estimated and revenue
is recognised based on the estimated progress
to completion, as further explained in the
accounting policy for “Construction contracts”
below, depending on the structure and terms of

arrangements;

from sale of goods (including the photovoltaic
power generation projects) are recognised when
the goods have been delivered and title thereto
has been transferred. Sale of photovoltaic power
generation projects whose non-current assets
are classified as inventories is recognised under
“Revenue” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income for
the total price of the shares of the photovoltaic
power generation projects plus the amount of
the net borrowings relating to the facility (total
debt less current assets). At the same time,
the related inventories are derecognised with a
charge to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income. The
difference between the two amounts represents
the operating profit or loss obtained from the
sale. Each photovoltaic power generation project
adopts the legal structure of a private limited
liability company, the financial statements of
which are fully consolidated in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements;
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)

(c) from sales to distributors, two identifiable
components of the revenue shall be considered:
(i) sales revenue of delivered rooftop solar
power systems is recognised when the rooftop
solar power systems have been delivered; (ii)
installation service revenue is deferred and then
recognised as revenue when the installation
service is performed;

(d) from sale of electricity, revenue is generally
earned and recognised upon transmission
of electricity to the electricity purchasing
companies or provincial grid companies;

(e) from the rendering of services, when the
services are rendered;

(f)  interest income, on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate
that exactly discounts the estimated future
cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset; and

(g) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right
to receive payment has been established.

Construction contracts

Contract revenue comprises the agreed contract
amount and appropriate amounts from variation
orders, claims and incentive payments. Contract
costs incurred comprise direct materials, the costs
of subcontracting, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of variable and fixed construction
overheads.

Revenue from fixed price construction contracts
is recognised using the percentage of completion
method, measured by reference to the proportion of
costs incurred to date to the estimated total cost of
the relevant contract.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERBE®)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Construction contracts (continued)

Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon as
they are anticipated by management. Where contract
costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less
recognised losses exceed progress billings, the
surplus is treated as an amount due from contract
customers. Where progress billings exceed contract
costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less
recognised losses, the surplus is treated as an
amount due to contract customers.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success
of the Group’'s operations. Employees (including
directors) of the Group receive remuneration
in the form of share-based payments, whereby
employees render services as consideration for equity
instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with
employees is measured by reference to the fair value
at the date at which they are granted. The fair value
is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model, further details of which are given in note 28
to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised
in employee benefit expense, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period
in which the performance and/or service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised
for equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the
extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group's best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to profit or loss of the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE —Z—

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions
are not taken into account when determining the
grant date fair value of awards, but the likelihood
of the conditions being met is assessed as part
of the Group's best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant
date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an
award, but without an associated service requirement,
are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-
vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value
of an award and lead to an immediate expensing
of an award unless there are also service and/or
performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-
market performance and/or service conditions have
not been met, no expense is recognized. Where
awards include a market or non-vesting condition,
the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective
of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or
service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are
modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised
as if the terms had not been modified, if the original
terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense
is recognised for any modification that increases the
total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at
the date of modification.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERBE®)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is
treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation,
and any expense not yet recognised for the award
is recognised immediately. This includes any award
where non-vesting conditions within the control
of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the
cancelled award, and is designated as a replacement
award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification
of the original award, as described in the previous
paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected
as additional share dilution in the computation of
earnings per share.

Other employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the
“MPF Scheme"”) under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees
who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit
or loss of the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group's employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which
operate in the PRC are required to participate in
a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute to a certain percentage of
their payroll costs to the central pension scheme.
The contributions are charged to profit or loss of the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the central pension scheme.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZE —

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognized at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer
of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs involving the payment of
termination benefits.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional
and presentation currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising
on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in profit or loss of the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is
treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss
on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
differences on the items whose fair value gain or loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss, respectively).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TESTBERBE®)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas
subsidiaries are currencies other than the Hong Kong
dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the
assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
The resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the exchange reserve. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the component of other comprehensive
income relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in profit or loss of the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on
acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates
for the year.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those
assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs
ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned
on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period
in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist
of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in
connection with the borrowing of funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally, and
used for the purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, a
capitalisation rate has been applied to the expenditure
on the individual assets. There is no capitalisation of
interest in 2017 (2016: Nil).

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when
they are approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the
note 10 to the financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and
their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes
that could require a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE —Z—

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(continued)

Judgements (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Deferred tax liabilities

The Group recognised deferred tax liabilities
for all the foreign-invested subsidiaries’
undistributed earnings of HK$344,194,000 (2016:
HK$401,220,000). Under the prevailing income
tax law of the PRC and its relevant regulations,
dividends paid by PRC enterprises out of
profits earned after 31 December 2007 to non-
PRC tax resident investors are subject to PRC
withholding tax of 10%. A lower withholding
tax rate of 5% may be applied if there is a tax
treaty between the PRC and the jurisdiction of
the foreign investors. The Group in the past was
charged with withholding tax at a rate of 5%
when those PRC subsidiaries distributed profits
to their holding companies outside Mainland
China. Therefore, the Group applied 5% to
provide for withholding taxes on retained profits
distributable by those subsidiaries established in
the PRC in respect of their earnings generated
from 1 January 2008 (note 26).

Operating segment

The Group currently has certain business units
based on their products and services to be
provided to the customers and each business
unit is identified as an operating segment.
Among these operating segments, certain
operating segments have similar economic
characteristics including the nature of the
products and services to be provided, the
nature of the production processes, and etc.
and therefore could be aggregated into a single
operating segment. As at 31 December 2017,
there are two aggregated operating segments
which are Manufacturing segment and
Downstream segment. Each of the aggregated
operating segments meets the quantitative
thresholds to be identified as reportable
segments. Further details are given in note 4 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING e

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(continued)
Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year,
are described below.

(i)  Construction contracts

As further explained in note 2.4 to the
consolidated financial statements, revenue and
profit recognition on contract work is dependent
on the estimation of the total outcome of the
construction contract, as well as the work
performed to date.

Significant judgements are required to
estimate the total contract costs, comprising
direct materials, the costs of subcontracting,
direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
variable and fixed construction overheads. Also
significant assumptions are required to estimate
the total contract costs that will affect whether
any provision is required for foreseeable
losses. The estimates are made based on
past experience and knowledge of project
management.

Actual outcomes in terms of total contract costs
may be higher or lower than those estimated
at the end of the reporting period, which would
affect the revenue and profit recognised in
future years.

TESE AR A

(%)

fEEr N EAE R

BRARKZ EEBRARE AR IHRE H
AXeR TEMBRFELEERBERAMB
TREAFHERR 2 EZMETHRARE
HHMAT ©

(i)

BERER

MANERE B TSR M T 2.4 P s —
FRE - SRR Z A Rim F e
RAHURMEFHER S R RAEHE
ARie5 B e THE °

HEtERKANBEREERNE
B BEEEYE - 28EKEK B
BETREEDL 2 A # REEH
TR ASE - [E5rE R EE
FIVEERZ2RE - K2R
JABLAITE R 2 B8 VE(E (I 845 o 1t
AR AR ELR R IE B IR A
RELEMIEL -

RBEHMR - ARKTBEZER
ERIGRNIERGEAESE - X
%%QEEX@EFMEE%ZH&ZE&&
2 Al o

//

9\@

SH



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING e
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(ii) Impairment assessment on property, plant
and equipment and intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets of the Group are reviewed by
management for possible impairment when
events or changes in an operating environment
indicate that the carrying amounts of such
assets may not be fully recoverable. In
determining the recoverable amounts of these
assets, expected cash flows to be generated
by the assets are discounted to their present
values, which involves significant level of
estimates relating to sales volume, selling prices
and manufacturing and other operating cost,
terminal value, growth rates and the discount
rate. When a decline in an asset’'s recoverable
amount has occurred, the carrying amount is
reduced to its estimated recoverable amount.
Further details are given in notes 13 and 14 to
the consolidated financial statements.

(iii) Impairment assessment on available-for-sale
financial investments

The Group classifies certain assets as available
for sale and states at cost less any impairment
loss. The Group assesses at the end of each
reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that the investment is impaired. In
determining the objective evidence, the Group
will assess whether there is a significant
or prolonged decline in the fair value of an
investment below its cost, whereas the
determination of what is “significant” or
“prolonged” requires judgement. Further details
are given in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.

(iv) Impairment assessment on trade receivables
and other receivables

The Group regularly conducts assessments on
possible losses resulting from the inability of
debtors to settle the amounts due to the Group.
The assessment is based, inter alia, on the age
of the debt and the creditworthiness of the
debtors. If the financial condition of the debtors
deteriorates, allowance for doubtful receivables
would be required. Further details are given in
notes 17 and 19 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING e

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(continued)
Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(v) Impairment assessment and net realisable
value of inventories

Inventories of the Group are carried at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Management
conducts assessments on the net realisable
value of inventories by reference to their age,
obsolescence, future usage plan, estimated
net selling prices, inventory disposal plans.
If the actual selling prices of inventories are
substantially less than those expected due to
an adverse market condition or other factors,
an impairment loss on inventories may result.
Further details are given in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

(vi) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in various
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required
in determining the provision for income taxes.
There are many transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business.
The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated
tax based on estimates of whether additional
taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provision
in the period in which such determination is
made.

Recognition of deferred tax assets, which
related to tax losses and deductible temporary
differences, depends on management’s
expectation of future taxable profits that will
be available against which the tax losses or
the asset can be utilised. The outcome of their
actual utilisation may be different. Further details
are given in note 9 and 26 to the consolidated
financial statements
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group identifies operating segments and
prepares segment information based on the regular
internal financial information reported to the executive
directors for their decisions about resource allocation
to the Group’s business components and for their
review of the performance of those components.
The business components in the internal financial
information reported to the executive directors are
determined according to the Group’s major products
and service lines.

For management purposes, the Group is organised
into business units based on their products and
services and has two reportable operating segments
as follows:

— manufacture of equipment and turnkey
production lines for the manufacture of both
amorphous silicon-based and Copper Indium
Gallium Selenide (“CIGS") based thin film solar
photovoltaic modules and the technological
development and production of Gallium Arsenide
("GaAs"”) thin film power turnkey production
lines (“Manufacturing”);

— construction of solar power stations, rooftop
power stations, household systems, small to
medium-sized enterprises (“SME") commercial
systems etc., and sale of solar power stations,
operation of rooftop power stations, sale of solar
photovoltaic panels, photovoltaic application
products and electricity, and provision of
engineering service (“Downstream”)

Management monitors the results of the Group's
operating segments separately for the purpose of
making decisions about resource allocation and
performance assessment. Segment performance is
evaluated based on reportable segment profit or loss,
which is a measure of adjusted profit or loss before
tax. The adjusted profit or loss before tax is measured
consistently with the Group’s profit or loss before
tax except for certain of the interest income, finance
costs as well as head office and corporate expenses
are excluded from such measurement.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets,
available-for-sale financial investments and other
unallocated head office and corporate assets as these
assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude deferred tax liabilities and
other unallocated head office and corporate liabilities
as these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to
third parties at the then prevailing market prices.
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For the year ended BE-Z—t& Manufacturing Downstream Total
31 December 2017 +t-RA=t+—-HLEE S T &t
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
Segment Revenue 2 EUEA
Sales to external RSN P IHE
customers 4,241,755 1,905,630 6,147,385
Segment Results DEPEE 1,477,711 (965,260) 512,451
Including: BIE
Interest income I 2 U A 6,177 2,130 8,307
Finance costs MsER (563,112) (6,227) (59,339)
Research and B AR
development costs (569,910) (51,768) (621,678)
Reconciliation of segment — 5 ZFZAE 45 -
results:
Segment results DEELE 512,451
Interest income FEMA 19,732
Unallocated other income k2 EH LA KUk zs
and gains 55
Corporate and other 12 REAM RS B &
unallocated expenses (86,114)
Profit before tax ot Bl F 446,124




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 75 R R B aE

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE—Z—+F+—-A=+—HILFE)

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. BEFWWER®)

(continued)

As at R-E—+F Manufacturing Downstream Total
31 December 2017 +=-—A=+—H Bl T a5
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
Segment Assets PHEE 16,898,967 5,328,399 22,227,366
Reconciliation: HiE -
Elimination of intersegment %f$5% &0
receivables JEWTRIR (2,848,995)
Available-for-sale financial ~ AJftH&
investments TRIE 66,097
Corporate and other R HAD
unallocated assets RAOBEE 124,698
Total assets BELRE 19,569,166
Segment Liabilities SHEE 8,433,987 5,327,729 13,761,716
Reconciliation: #ik -
Elimination of intersegment %1$% #5
payables FETRIA (2,848,995)
Deferred tax liabilities ELERIEAE 478,048
Corporate and other 3R HEAM
unallocated liabilities AOBEEE 70,595
Total liabilities BERE 11,461,364
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(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE—Z—+F+—-A=+—HILFE)

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. BEFWWER®)

(continued)

For the year ended HE-Z—tF Manufacturing Downstream Total
31 December 2017 tZA=t—-BLEE guE T At
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FEx FET
Other Segment Hth o &
Information
Reversal of impairment of & S EWFHIE 2 M E# D
trade receivables — (1,399) (1,399)
Impairment of property, Y% - BB REERE
plant and equipment - 45,522 45,522
Impairment of trade B Z MG IRRE
receivables - 934 934
Write-down of inventories  7F & HUR = Al &35 F(E
to net realisable value 39,170 34,612 73,782
Reversal of inventory FEREERD
provision (9,661) (1,213) (10,874)
Depreciation and IrEREH
amortisation 22,231 45,410 67,641
Reconciliation: Hhk -
Corporate and other rEREMADETE
unallocated depreciation R
and amortisation 396
Total depreciation and e RE R
amortisation 68,037
Capital expenditure* BRI * 128,293 26,523 154,816
Reconciliation: #ik -
Corporate and other TEREMARDE
unallocated capital EeNGES
expenditure 41
Total capital expenditure ~ EAFI 5 154,857
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, * EXRAXBRERNENE  BERRE
plant and equipment and intangible assets. REFLERE
HANERGY THIN FILM POWER GROUP LIMITED EEREEEBERAR
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Bt 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

4, R

& EEE(E)

mr

For the year ended BE-_Z—XF Manufacturing Downstream Total
31 December 2016 +tZA=t+—-HLEE B T &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET F&T
Segment Revenue 2 WA
Sales to external customers [RISMNEFEPHHE 3,028,182 1,454,948 4,483,130
Segment Results o EEE 1,402,869 (584,682) 818,187
Including: B
Interest income FEWA 3,448 11,390 14,838
Finance cost MER (40,974) (6,577) (47,651)
Research and development 2R A
cost (566,122) (1,043) (567,165)
Reconciliation of segment 7 &5 15 -
results:
Segment results DEEE 818,187
Interest income FBUA 108
Finance costs % E A (2,316)
Unallocated other income AP BECE MUK A
and gains e lzs 4,689
Corporate and other ¥R EA
unallocated expenses ADBLE A (162,273)
Profit before tax AT Al 658,395
For the year ended BE-Z— X% Manufacturing Downstream Total
31 December 2016 +tZA=+—-HLEE S04 T &&t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET &
Segment Assets PHWEE 12,930,268 3,031,997 15,962,265
Reconciliation: HE -
Elimination of intersegment % 44> 25 FE W A
receivables (2,789,397)
Corporate and other rEREMARDEEE
unallocated assets 21,457
Total assets BERTE 13,194,325
Segment Liabilities SHEE 3,418,722 4,784,134 8,202,856
Reconciliation: B -
Elimination of intersegment %f$5% &0
payables FE FRIE (2,789,397)
Deferred tax liabilities EEHEEE 401,220
Corporate and other 2R EAD
unallocated liabilities AAOBEE 38,624
Total liabilities BREE 5,853,303
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(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

(continued)

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. BEFWWER®)

For the year ended HE-Z-RE Manufacturing Downstream Total
31 December 2016 TZA=t+-HLEE BIE T =5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET FET
Other Segment Information HEnp &R
Reversal of impairment of trade & 3 EWFUE
receivables ZRERE — (28,830) (28,830)
Reversal of impairment of other  Efti FEIFUE
receivables ZHERE — (110,188) (110,188)
Impairment of trade receivables &5 &K FUARE — 18,211 18,211
Impairment of prepayment BNFERE 20,231 — 20,231
Write-down of inventories to net  FEHIHZE
realisable value AERHE 127,757 16,164 142,921
Reversal of inventory provision 775 & /&R (22,180) — (22,180)
Depreciation and amortisation 4 R # s 4,999 37,243 42,242
Reconciliation: % -
Corporate and other unallocated (¥R EMADE
depreciation and amortisation ~ FTER & 470
Total depreciation and amortisation 172 J # /448 42,112
Capital expenditure* EARx 293,605 8,441 302,046
Reconciliation: -
Corporate and other unallocated 1% & H At
capital expenditure APBREREX 794
Total capital expenditure BRRYBE 302,840
o Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, 3 BARZBERBME  BELKERE
plant and equipment and intangible assets. REFEE -
Geographical information ih = E R
(a) Revenue from external customers (a) KENIKREFZHKA
2017 2016
St T F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Mainland China B A3, 6,110,236 4,412,827
United Kingdom HE 1,551 4,675
United States = 30,355 33,055
Europe &M 4,234 32,083
Others HAh, 1,009 490
6,147,385 4,483,130

EXZWAEHTIRBRX N EmL
RHRG  EHLZT -

The revenue information above is based on the
locations to which the goods were delivered or
the services were provided.
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(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. BEFWWER®)

(continued)
Geographical information (continued)

(b) Non-current assets

HEER(E)
(b) HREBEE

2017 2016

—E—+F —F—RF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FEx FEIT

Mainland China AR A 3B 315,213 337,077
United States E&H 365,272 401,751
Hong Kong BB 566 963
United Kingdom HEE 10,254 14,420
Others EAh 15,039 4,176
706,344 758,387

The non-current asset information above is
based on the locations of the assets.

Information about major customers
2017

Revenue of HK$2,463,821,000 was derived from sales
by the Manufacturing segment to Shandong Zibo
Hanergy Thin Film Power Ltd. (“Shandong Zibo")

Revenue of HK$1,262,618,000 was derived from sales
by the Manufacturing segment to Jingzhou Shunbai
Solar Power Company Limited (“Jingzhou Shunbai”).

2016

Revenue of HK$2,091,900,000 was derived from sales
by the Manufacturing segment to Shandong Macrolink
New Resources Technology Limited (“Shandong
Macrolink”).

Revenue of HK$903,659,000 was derived from sales
by the Manufacturing segment to Hanergy Affiliates.

REVENUE

Revenue mainly represents an appropriate proportion
of contract revenue of construction contracts
and the sale of solar power stations, the sale of
rooftop stations, sale of solar photovoltaic panels,
photovoltaic application products and electricity.

EXZIRBEEERIREEE
ZFRE 25 o

FRXTEEFZEH
—E—+tF

I A 2,463,821,000 7 7T, J5 5 B 8445 5
B E L RS EE e B IR E AR A A
(ML ERSTE )ETHE -

WA 1,262,618,000%8 7T T3 2k B &iE 5
BEFMNIEERBEENERAR(H
MIEME ) ETTIHE -

=i
I A 2,091,900,000 % Jt. J5 3 B &4 5

ERAILR M EB I LR RER QA
(MR | )ETIHE -

g A 903,659, oooiafcﬁz}@%%%ﬁ%%%
FEREHE B A HEITIHE

L ON

WATERBEIREONEERDER
WARRZEFHEKGREE  HERE
BB - HEKBGREANE LR - R
FEREmMNMENZHA -
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5. REVENUE 5. WA
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WAZ DT
2017 2016
= =<
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Contract revenue & RHA 4,845,660 3,024,927
Sales of solar power stations HEKI5REB UL — 88,203
Sales of solar photovoltaic panels HE KBZRE N IRE IR 62,742 111,883
Sales of rooftop stations HEETRE L 1,199,987 1,234,999
Sales of photovoltaic application HENXKERER 7,751 2,908
Sales of electricity SHES 31,245 20,210
6,147,385 4,483,130
6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 6. HittAKW=
An analysis of other income and gains is as follows: HAWARIBE AT -
2017 2016
TE—LF RN
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Government grants* B #l G * 11,544 17,245
Bank interest income (note 8) RITH BN (A2 8) 11,761 2,444
Other interest income (note 8) E MR B A (HaES8) 16,278 12,602
Gain on provision of services R ARTS 2 Wz 16,378 21,376
Others H A 20,509 23,637
76,470 77,204
*  Government grants are tax refunds and funds for * BNWEMREEERBER X ZAE
the research and innovation works of the Group's BB A BT KA T EmE R
subsidiaries to which the related expenses have ZHARER °
already been incurred.
7. FINANCE COSTS 7. MBEHA
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: HBERZAMAT !
2017 2016
- S T F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Interest on other borrowings from FEASEAEE 5 e R 2 FI &
related parties 18,534 14,521
Interest on other borrowings from FER RS = F BBk 2
unrelated third parties ) 2 30,014 20,351
Interest on bank borrowings IRITIEERE 10,791 13,839
Interest on finance lease ERREHER S - 1,156

59,339 49,867
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8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 8. BiAlZA
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after AEBZBADEFE MR (GTA) T3
charging/(crediting): BE :

2016
—T—REF
HK$'000
&
Bank interest income RITHBUA (11,761) (2,444)
Other interest income H b F S YA (16,278) (12,502)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of subsidiaries, HERBAREE, (W)
net (note 30) R (MEE30) 5,568 (62,623)
Auditor’s remuneration ZEEE &
Audit service ZE R 16,300 23,594
Others HAh 6,470 7,673
Amortisation of intangible assets EE 1,489 1,885
Depreciation of items of property, plant %% - &= &%
and equipment EEZIE 66,548 40,827
Employee benefit expenses**: EERNER** :
Salaries, allowances and benefits e EZEREYNG
in kind 816,403 628,465
Employment termination benefits E BB A
included in administrative expenses (GTATTRER) 18 10,324
Pension schemes RG] 43,254 31,567
Equity-settled share option expenses S L E R R D EER S 19,475 31,358
Sub-total /Nat 879,150 701,714
Research and development costs LI DN 621,678 567,165
Foreign exchange losses, net* PEHIBL  JFRE 1,802 62,645
Impairment of property, plant and M - BB
equipment* (note 13) REEHE* (M 13) 45,522 —
Impairment of trade receivables* (note 17) &5 EWFIERIE * (faL17) 934 18,211
Impairment of prepayment* BRRIERE * - 20,231
Reversal of impairment of trade B EWIE 2
receivables* (note 17) ERE * (ffit17) (1,399) (28,830)
Reversal of impairment of other H i fEM IR 2
receivables* (note 19) BERED * (f7F19) - (110,188)
Write-down of inventories to net FEMRZE
realisable value* A A3R A * 73,782 142,921
Reversal of inventory provision* TFE R ERD * (10,874) (22,180)
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEME  BEL
plant and equipment* HEIEE CEE 464 4,516
Minimum lease payments under operating &% E
leases: ZE&EHES
Land and buildings T RIETF 252,738 184,714
Equipment B 3,975 24,444
Product warranty provision EnRERE 38,468 37,188
@ These items are included in “other expenses” on the * ZEHEBFALAEEGRABE REM
face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss EEREXRZHMERIA -
and other comprehensive income of the Group.
**  This item include the directors’ and chief executive's > ZHEVEASEMNESZTREIETHA
remuneration and key management emolument of the EFHMEEEEEAEMNS -
Group.
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(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

g

INCOME TAX

The Company is incorporated in Bermuda and conducts
its primary business through its subsidiaries in the PRC
and other countries. The Company, under the current
laws of Bermuda, is not subject to tax on income
or capital gains. The Hong Kong profits tax rate was
16.5% (2016: 16.5%) during the years reported. The
Company’s Hong Kong subsidiaries have both Hong
Kong-sourced and non-Hong Kong-sourced income. The
latter is not subject to Hong Kong profits tax and the
related expenses are non-tax-deductible. No provision
for Hong Kong profits tax was made as such operations
did not generate any assessable profits arising from
Hong Kong during the year. Furthermore, there are
no withholding tax in Hong Kong on the remittance of
dividends.

Effective from 1 January 2008, the PRC's statutory
corporate income tax (“CIT") rate is 25%. Certain of
the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC were designated as
“High New Technology Enterprises” and were entitled
to a preferential CIT rate of 15%. The Company’s other
PRC subsidiaries are subject to income tax at 25%
on their respective taxable income as calculated in
accordance with the CIT Law and its relevant regulations
except for Apollo Precision (Kunming) Yuanhong Limited
(“Apollo Kunming”). In 2013, Apollo Kunming received
written confirmations from the local tax bureau that
Apollo Kunming was taxed on a deemed profit method
based on the deemed profits at the 25% statutory tax
rate. The deemed profit was determined at 10% of the
sales of Apollo Kunming. The Company's subsidiary
in Sweden is subject to income tax at a rate of 22%.
The Company’s subsidiary in the United Kingdom is
subject to income tax at a rate of 19%. The Company’s
subsidiaries in the United States are subject to income
tax at rates ranging from 26% to 30%. The Company’s
subsidiaries in Germany are subject to income tax at
a rate of 29%. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere
have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the
jurisdictions in which the Group operates. No provision
for income tax was made for the overseas subsidiaries
as there were no assessable profits during the current
and prior years.

Frig®i

RABRBREZMAY  WEBEF
BREMERMNBARETEEELS -
BIEAREZEELR  RERELH
FXAL 2 AR R B BB BT BB s E AU
HH o MERFR BEEFBHRRERA
16.5% (ZZ—7%F : 16.56%) ° KA &
ZEBWB AR ERE BB RIER
BEBZIKRA - #ELBEZNEEFNE
i MABERERA X A TR o ARZE
BERAFEER B EE (T ERR
m Al B RS RS R R o
AN+ RAE A LR B 2 B BTE
-

B-TENF-A-—BBEM PE
AECEMERTEEREBRDER
25% o ANEEE T EK B A RERE
RlEFEMEE] B ZEE8EE
PSR E 15% AR A2 E A B
BRARARBEEMSHAREMERA
MAEREEB ZERBRKALZ 25% &
NAEH - EABBERERRRE
RAB([EHAMAE DR - R=F—=
F O ERNGEREZHHBZ EME
R EAABARBIEEN X 25% iR
A MR E FE IR R E A
RERBEG ZHE10%ETE - ARFZ
T B BB A R 7R 1% 22 % MU PSR © X
NEZ REM B ARAE 19% BMPAS
B o RRABZEBEMHEBARER26% =
30% M - ARRZIEEMEB A
BIZRIR 29% B PTISHE o B A )7 FERR
Wi M) 2 BB TH IR A SR B 48 & P 4 Rl
REETZREFE - gRBINBER
A ERAFEIBEFEHRFERN
A o R L EAE L P S T  o



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

9. INCOME TAX (continued) 9.

Under the prevailing CIT Law and its relevant
regulations, any dividends paid by the Company's PRC
subsidiaries from their earnings derived after 1 January
2008 to the Company's Hong Kong subsidiary are
subject to a 5% or 10%, depending on the applicability
of the Sino-Hong Kong tax treaty, PRC dividend
withholding tax. For the Group, the historical applicable
rate is 5%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding
taxes on retained earnings distributable by those
subsidiaries established in the PRC in respect of their
earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

FiE%H @)

RIBRITEEMETOELEBBER
R-ZEZENF—A—B& ARQFZH
BB ARARNATZEENE QA
Pk 2 EMBEBAITEZRER
5% 3% 10% » 157 F 7 78 B U 1 & = B A
EEMBEREBER - RAKEME -
BEERRER/LS% - Bt - "EEA
RE—TTENF-A-—HELZEMNA
ZERTBEKZZHMBARN FTHIKL
RE g A P B TEIN AR -

2017 2016
—g—+t5 RN
HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET
Current BN EA
The PRC B

Income tax expense for the year REFZHSH T H 107,489 423,138

Under provision in respect of prior BEFERETR
years — 24
107,489 423,162
Deferred (note 26) BIE(H17E26) 77,603 (16,381)
Total tax charge for the year AEEHBE T HRRER 185,092 406,781
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(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE —Z—

9. INCOME TAX (continued)

tET-A=+—HLFE)

9. FB®H#)

A reconciliation of the income tax expense applicable TR E (AR R RE KD KB AR
to profit before tax at the PRC statutory tax rates MATEM) < EER EAEBARAE
which the Company’'s majority subsidiaries are BMADE Mz RMISH X BB EHAS
domiciled to the actual income tax expense is as HERMOT
follows:
2016
- P T F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Profit before tax At Al A 446,124 658,395
Tax at the PRC statutory tax rate LR BNEEB R E 2 Hi18 111,531 164,599
Effect of differences in international  BIEXXER|ER & ith HERE B jth
and domestic preferential tax rates MEEZH I ZE (241,217) (98,454)
Adjustments in respect of current tax @7 EARSENEAR I8 2 FHEE
of previous periods — 24
Effect of the deemed profit method — B{EHFFH E 2 & — 1,827
Expenses not deductible for tax TRNFL R 4,794 10,647
Effect of super-deduction on PRC BB FR R B A 3 2 A
research and development costs 2B (8,861) (11,661)
Deferred tax assets not recognised RERRBEZBEEFRIBEEE R
for impairments and other Hi gt =2
temporary difference 41,480 62,459
Tax losses not recognised RIERR 2 T IAES 18 529,711 599,136
PRC dividend withholding tax R B BB A B ) 9 O ) TR
o (51,411) (8,194)
Utilisation of temporary differences ) A A HA I ERER 2
not recognised in prior periods TR (200,974) (314,579)
Others HAb 39 977
Income tax expense FiB R 185,092 406,781
10. DIVIDENDS 10. RE
The Board does not recommend to declare a final EESTERREEHE_Z—tF1+=
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: é—;) EUZEJ*Z?KHHHQ —F—R
Nil). RS
11. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 11. BARES AEBEESRAR

TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share
amount is based on the profit for the year attributable
to the owners of the parent, and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares of 41,866,989,000
(2016: 41,751,928,000) in issue during the year.

EREARBIZEENRESARES
AEEFERFARFRNEZEITERE
2 hn#E 19 £041,866,989,000 i (==

— X4 1 41,751,028,000 f8)SHE S o
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(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE —Z—

11.

tET-A=+—HLFE)

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 1. BRARBEEANELERERN 2
TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT (continued)
The Group had share options and subscription rights AR B AR TT(F BE A A N RR B ] A X
outstanding which could potentially dilute basic EK%E’\JE%%Z]KE%IJ%EX BESEY
earnings per share in the future. The calculation of B RN _E—tFR T NFEEHRE
the diluted earnings per share amount in 2017 and BRANNSEIREER T%EAVTE
2016 is based on the profit for the year attributable to FRESAFE(METMAE)
the owners of the parent without any adjustment. The 2 INESEE SR RB B ETE iﬁxﬁﬁm
weighted average number of ordinary shares used FEFABBITEBREE & () RE
in the calculation is the number of ordinary shares in Tﬁ{ﬁﬁf’ﬁﬁﬁu EERELTE Hx%l«/ﬁ
issue during the year, as used in the calculation of BT 2 BRIk NE TG E ¢ K (i)
basic earnings per share plus (i) the weighted average LHXJJD%?i’]%(ET’Euﬂ iml?%ff
number of ordinary shares assumed to have been —_=— tirﬁﬂiﬂ@iﬁ’]ﬁﬁﬂxﬁ%ﬁa%@]
issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise MtkEKEfIJ HEESTE N
of subscription rights into ordinary shares; and (i) an T—NE AR Tfﬁkﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁ%ﬁ"]%@
adjustment has been made to the weighted average AR hNREFE e AR - RRSHEST
number of ordinary shares as the outstanding options EINEARERBFEEEREELE -
had a dilutive effect on the basic earnings per share
amount presented in 2017. In 2016, no adjustment
has been made to the weighted average number of
ordinary shares regarding the outstanding options as
they had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic earnings
per share amount presented.
When calculating the diluted earnings per share, an RFESFREBESEANNE  BEFEHRE_Z
estimated share price of 2017 and 2016 were used —tFR=F /\¢ZfE§+H§fE - Thi%
which was calculated by market value of 100% equity ARAF100% pe#E 2 mfﬁ(r?ﬁfﬁJ)@M
interest of the Company (the “Market Value”) divided BEERBBBETEMNZROBEGTE -
by total outstanding shares as at each valuation date. BRAARFRGOE =S — ﬁiﬁﬂ -+
The Market Value was estimated by an independent HE—EEEEET  MEH BB
valuer (the “Valuer”) as the trading of the Company’s ERD([{EEE ) (EEET o (HERMERAT
shares had been suspended since 20 May 2015. B3k ﬁ%ﬁiﬁ’j RLLEUE - BiBD
The Valuer adopted the market approach, which M ET ARz 88 B S8R M bR
is basically a comparison method which estimates EETTHIGEE - MAENF ARS TSR
market value from analysing sales and financial data BIEATRIEETE o
and ratios of comparable public companies. The
Market Value was derived after a discount of lack of
marketability.
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per FRENREE R YRIET5IEE &
share are based on: =
2017 2016
it Sl T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FETL
Profit attributable to the owners REsTE BIRE AR ZF
of the parent, used in the basic ZERARIHER A
earnings per share calculation BB AEGETR 261,099 251,620
Profit for the purposes of diluted REstEEBRE S AT
earnings per share calculation Za Al 261,099 251,620
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(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZE—=

1. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE  11.
TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT (continued)

—tEFFT-A=+—HLFE)

BRAHEABRLERER &)

Number of shares

BB E
2016
— N4
‘000
FAR
Shares & 17
Weighted average number of ordinary F{Ezt & &FIEKREF
shares in issue during the year ZFERERITEBR
used in the basic earnings per In#EF9 8
share calculation 41,866,989 41,751,928
Effect of dilution-weighted average ey 2
number of ordinary shares: — TR NREFI9E
Assumed issue at no consideration NEEBRIEITENA
on deemed exercise of all share AT {8 BB AR T 1R %
options outstanding during the year  #E(E31T 78,587 —
Deemed exercise of subscription BT R
rights 1,831,592 920,004
Weighted average number of ordinary F{Es+ & & R%#E 2 A
shares in issue during the year ZERNBERITEBR
used in the diluted earnings per N 392
share calculation 43,777,168 42,671,932
12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 12. EERFETHRAEBFHFMRE
REMUNERATION AND KEY EEEAEME

MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the
year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section
383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is

REEREEZMeRBE TR - F
78X AEAIZ 383(1)(a) ~(b) “(c) K (f) {6k -
AR AE(REEENDRER)ROIFE2
BT

as follows:
2016
—E—RF
HK$'000
FET
Fees we 2,342 2,423
Other emoluments: Hms :
Salaries, allowances and benefits in  #& - EELREWHIER
kind 13,973 10,430
Equity-settled share-based payments A% g 45 EHA% T’\iﬁ 1,079 2,588
Contributions to retirement benefit RRA Eaﬂ%’ﬂ‘%ﬁ 3R
schemes 75 37
15,127 13,055
Total 48z 17,469 15,478

The directors and chief executive represent the key
management personnel of the Company.

FETBRABEARARRETEER

>l
0 it
® %1
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(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE—Z—+F+—-A=+—HILFE)

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION AND KEY
MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS (continued)

In prior years, certain Directors were granted share
options, in respect of their services to the Group,
under the share option scheme of the Company,
further details of which are set out in note 28(b) to
the financial statements.

(a) Executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors

12.

BEERTETHRAEFMHRE
EEEBEAEME 2

RBEFE FTEFIRSFHAKE
Z RIS REAR R B E IR B R
Pt - — BB IS R R
28(b) °

(a) BITEERBUFYTES

Salaries, Contributions
allowances Equity-settled to retirement
and benefits share-based benefit
Fees in kind payments schemes Total
g4 2RR WEREEN YNHIRE |
ik BNE R A i3 &
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FE7 FAT 77 &% Fér
2017 tE-tf
Executive directors: UTES:
Mr. Yuan Yabin RS 24 3,167 - 3 3440
Dr. Lam Yat Ming Eddie Bt 234 4,290 259 18 4,801
Mr. Wang Xiong TRk 234 1,066 - 18 1318
Mr. Si Haijian ABEEE 234 1,766 820 - 2,820
Mr. Huang Songchun ENERE 234 884 - - 1,118
Mr. Xu Xiaohua fEERE 24 1,034 - - 1,268
Mr. Zhang Bin FLE 234 1,766 - - 2,000
1,638 13973 1,079 75 16,765
Independent non-executive ~ HUFHTES:
directors:
Ms. Zhao Lan /} HELL/) 9 - - - 97
Mr. Wang Tongbo /i TRAEEN 9 - - - 9
Professor Xu Zheng /i) BIHR ) 97 - - - 97
Dr. Wang Wenjing (i INERL 9 - - - 9
Mr. Lo Man Tuen (v) EXRRE W) 79 - - - 79
Professor He Xiaofeng /i)~ W/ME5& 1) 79 - - - 79
Professor Zhang Qiusheng (v B2 i) 79 - - - 79
Mr. Wang Dan (v FA5E (il 79 - - - 79
704 - - - 704
Total emoluments ZT-tERe
for the year 2017 ] 2,342 13,973 1,079 75 17,469

ANNUAL REPORT 2017

211



212

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION AND KEY
MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) Executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors (continued)

12. EERFETHRAEFMRE
EEBAEME 2

(a)

BITESRBIUFHTES(E)

Salaries, Contributions
allowances Equity-settled to retirement
and benefits share-based benefit
Fees in kind payments schemes Total
b 2R WEREEH RMETE
ik Enila Riastt 3 Al
HK$'000 HK$:000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT AT FAT FAT
2016 ZB-AF
Executive directors: HrES:
Mr. Yuan Yabin FIt] ik 14 470 - - 614
Dr. Lam Yat Ming Eddie il 234 4,151 466 18 4,869
Mr. Wang Xiong TRk 36 164 - 3 203
Mr. Si Haijian ABRLE 234 1,084 2122 - 3,440
Mr. Huang Songchun ENERE 234 780 - 1,014
Mr. Xu Xiaohua e 143 449 - - 592
Mr. Zhang Bin R L 59 4 — = 501
Mr. Li Hejun FERE 140 - - - 140
Mr. Frank Mingfang Dai Frank Mingfang Dai £ 5 140 1441 - 8 1589
Dr. Feng Dianbo BERET 140 - - - 140
Mr. Chen Li RA%E 84 936 - 8 1,028
Mr. Liu Jianjun YpEts 97 177 = = 274
Mr. Zhang Bo RRTE 17 - - = 17
Mr. Lin Qi MR 45 336 - - 381
1847 10,430 2,588 37 14,902
Independent non-executive ~ BUFHAES:
directors:
Ms. Zhao Lan (i HEXL() 144 - = = 144
Mr. Wang Tongbo (i TRAAE 144 - - - 144
Professor Xu Zheng (i TR, fii) 144 = - - 144
Dr. Wang Wenjing (i IEEL 14 - - - 14
576 - - - 576
Total emoluments “T-ERe
for the year 2016 8% 2403 10,430 2,588 37 15,478




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION AND KEY
MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) Executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors (continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

Ms. Zhao Lan resigned as an independent non-
executive director of the Company with effect
from 4 September 2017.

Mr. Wang Tongbo resigned as an independent
non-executive director of the Company with
effect from 4 September 2017.

Professor Xu Zheng resigned as an independent
non-executive director of the Company with
effect from 4 September 2017.

Dr. Wang Wenjing resigned as an independent
non-executive director of the Company with
effect from 4 September 2017.

Mr. Lo Man Tuen, G.B.S., JP, was appointed as
an independent non-executive director of the
Company with effect from 4 September 2017.

Professor He Xiaofeng was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the
Company with effect from 4 September 2017.

Professor Zhang Qiusheng was appointed as
an independent non-executive director of the
Company with effect from 4 September 2017.

Mr. Wang Dan was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company with
effect from 4 September 2017.

12. EERFETHRAEFMRE
EEEAEME 2

(a) BOTEERBYFANTES(E)

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

R Z T B BHEAR R RB L I
TEE A Z—tFAAEA
REAERR -

ITRBELECHEARRBYL
FHITEE AT —tFNA
O EEAERL o

IRAFHUR B BHEAR R BB I
TEE A Z—tFAAEA
REAERR -

IXHELICHEARRBYL
FHITEE AT —tFNA
O EEAERL o

EXim%E, G.B.S.» KFat
EEZERARRRHBILIFAIT
BEE AT tFAANAR
BERW @

M NEHEEERERARRAN
BIYFRTEE AT —tF
NATBERER -

RREHEEEZERARAN
BIYFMTEE AT —tF
NATBERER -

ITRARLECEZESERAN
BYFATEE B_FT—t
FAAMBRER -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION AND KEY
MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors (continued)

No emolument was paid by the Group to any
director as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group, or as compensation for loss of office
during the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016:
Nil).

There was no arrangement under which
a director waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year ended 31
December 2017 (2016: Nil).

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were
the highest in the Group for the year included
two (2016: one) directors whose emoluments
are included in the analysis presented above.
The emoluments payable to the remaining three
(2016: four) individuals during the year are as
follows:

(a)

(b)

12. EERFETHRAEFMRE
EE

BAEME @)
HTESRBYFNTES(H)

BE_FT—tF+-A=1t—HLt
FE  AEEBERETANEFEIN
M - ARSI RFMAREERR
MAREE R ERRI - I REE
BAE(ZT—REF E)-

BE_FT—tF+-A=1t—HL
FEYEFHEEHNEXRAER
BURBEAME 22 H(ZFT—X
FE)

TEREHFMAL

RAEE  KEBREHZSEHMA
TEEME(CTE—XRF: —F8)
EEREFEITHRAL  HMEBEH
REXDIT - FREMNHT =5
—E—RF mB) AL ziEan
™

2017 2016

TE LG EEEiayNGa

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Salaries and other emoluments FekEMMe 8,848 10,057

Discretionary bonuses EIBIEAL 2,238 5,713

Equity-settled share-based payments  LAREzS 45 & H9 I 2 1+t 461 395
Contributions to retirement benefit RIREFIFT B 5K

schemes 125 155

Total #aza 11,672 16,320




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 12. EERFETBRAEHFMRE

REMUNERATION AND KEY EEBAEME 2

MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals(continued) (b) EEESFMAL(E)
No emolument was paid by the Group to 2 E—+tF+-_A=+—HI1kt
any top five highest paid individuals as an EE AEEBERENRE R
inducement to join or upon joining the Group, =R A S A - RS

or as compensation for loss of office during the

£ [/ 5 ) £ @B 1 A
year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: Nil). MAKRSRB D MAK S BF AR

WY ERBERME(CT X

FrfE)-
The number of non-director and non-chief- e N AT ESEE T EEENIEE
executive, highest paid employees whose FAHAE - BEHEHES AW
remuneration fell within the following bands is N
as follows:
Number of employees
BEAH
2016
— N4
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 BT E
3,500,000 87T 1 2
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 BT E
4,000,000 7T 1 1
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 B LE
4,500,000 7T - =
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,500,001 B L=
5,000,000 7T 1 —
HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 5,000,001 BT E
5,500,000 % 7T — 1
3 4
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 75 R R B aE

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE—Z—+F+—-A=+—HILFE)

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ¥1% - BERRE

Leasehold
improvements,
fumiture,
fixtures
Land and Construction Plant and and Motor
buildings in progress machinery equipment vehicles Total
HEY
£ Al .
THRET ERIR HER#EE RERRM AE it
HKs 000 HKs 000 HKs 00o HKs 009 Hes 000 HKs 000
AT A1 7T T 7 AT
31 December 2017 ZE-tE{Zf=1-H
At 1 January 2017; RB-+5-R-R:
Cost A 68,708 447,175 774,060 523108 23,814 1,836,865
Accumulated depreciation and impairment LTERRE (68,708) (253,853) (569,074) 331,233) (17,886) (1,230,754)
Net carrying amount EEFE - 193,322 214,986 191,875 5928 606,111
At 1 January 2017, net of accumulated RZT—+E-f-B HREH
depreciation and impairment TERH - 193,322 214,986 191,875 5,028 606,111
Additions HE - 115,948 2,192 137 1,001 131,168
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 30) hE-RHBAR K50 - - - (600) (3,130) (3,730)
Disposals e - (1,393) (2,213) (2,637) (59) (6,302)
Transfer i - (68,056) 68,056 - - -
Other transfer in AN - - 7,048 - - 7,048
Other transfer out EfisEh - (78,042) - - - (78042)
Depreciation provided during the year FRfERE - - (24,989) (40,741) (818) (66,548)
Impairment R - (39,728) (5,794) - - (45,522)
Exchange realignment EiAR - 7,289 19,79 9,714 322 37,119
At 31 December 2017, net of accumulated ~ R-E—+E+-A=1-H"
depreciation and impairment MEZTERAE - 129,340 279,680 168,988 3,294 581,302
At 31 December 2017: W=B-tEtzA=t-8:
Cost A 68,708 422,91 869,537 540,962 21,998 1,924,126
Accumulated depreciation and impairment ~ ZHHERE (68,708) (293,581) (589,857) (371,974) (18,704) (1,342,824)
Net carrying amount SEFE - 129,340 219,680 168,988 3,29 581,302
31 December 2016 ZE-AETAZ1-R
At 1 January 2016 R=2—RE-R-H
Cost A 68,708 303,777 669,370 471,567 2389 1,533,305
Accumulated depreciation and impairment ZHTERAE (68,708 (253,853) (551,013) (300,618) (16,406) (1,190,59)
Net carrying amount BEAE - 49,924 108,357 176,939 1481 342,707
At 1 January 2016, net of accumulated RZZ-nE-A-B - fIREH
depreciation and impaiment TERAE - 49,924 108,357 176,939 7487 342,707
Additions ﬁ - 274,749 19,440 6,419 521 301,129
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 30) LE-BHBAR K2 - - - 13 (374) (387)
Disposals i - - (1,546) (16,964) - (18,509)
Transfer &R — (127,482) 62,227 65,136 119 -
Other transfer AfpiEg - (717 48,801 - - 48,084
Depreciation provided during the year FRTERE - = (8,061) (30,615) (1,480) (40,156)
Exchange realignment EiAE - (3,152) (14,233) 9,027) (345) (26,757)
At31 December 2016, net of accumulated K= E-RE+=A=1+-8"
deprecation and impairment MR HERAE - 193,322 214,986 191,875 5928 606,111
At 31 Decerber 2016: RB—AET-R=1-R:
Cost WA 68,708 147,175 774,060 523,108 23814 1,836,865
Accumulated depreciation and impairment  Z3HAERAE (68,708) (253,853) (559,074) (331,233) (17,886) (1,230,754)
Net carrying amount HEHE — 193,322 214,986 191,875 5928 606,111
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ¥1% - BERRE#)

(continued)

An impairment of HK$5,794,000 has been recognised
for a self-owned solar power plant included in “plant
and machinery” in the Downstream segment for the
year ended 31 December 2017. The solar power plant
was loss making for the year ended 31 December
2017. This indicated that the carrying amount of the
solar power plant may be less than its recoverable
amount as at 31 December 2017. The recoverable
amount of HK$10,254,000 was determined by the
directors of the Company, based on value-in-use
calculations covering a detailed 22-year budget plan.
The 22-year budget plan is based on the expected
useful life of core assets of the solar power plant.
The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow
projections is 9% (2016: Nil).

An impairment of HK$39,728,000 has been
recognised for certain assets included in
“construction in progress” in the Downstream
segment for the year ended 31 December 2017.
These assets were in obsolescence or physical
damage and their economic performances were
expected to be worse than originally planned in
the foreseeable future. These indicated that the
carrying amount of the assets may be less than their
recoverable amount as at 31 December 2017. The
recoverable amount was determined by the directors
of the Company, based on the fair value less costs of
disposal of each individual asset which was assessed
as nil. All these assets are fully impaired as at 31
December 2017 (2016: Nil).

2 E—t+Ft+-_A=+—BItHF
E ' BTN S BE RS I TS
# B B A5 8 & # e R (B 5,794,000
BIL e ZAGHEERREE-_Z—tF
T A=+ HLEFEHBER - B
Rz AR B A BREE A B E R E R
—E—+E+-A=t+—BEnTkE s
% o A Yk [0] %8 10,254,000 7% 7T Jh R AN
RABEERBE—TH 22 FHEEERER
FRAEENSETE - %22 FFEEHE
ER AR AL ERIZ L& E 2 TaEA (A
FHET REREEBEA ZFATA
WERAEI% (ZT—NF &) -

BHE-_ZT—+tF+-_A=+—RHLF
B ERTHIBIEEZIRI TR
=T EEMRRMES9,728,000/8 T © #%
ZEECRENBE  HEBEXRREH
fEr] R RS BNIREFE - ST
EEEMREENREERENR = —+
F+_A=+—HBHmrE S5 - ATk
BE&BEIHAT  NHEARAERRE
BEREEZ A TFERLEEKNAEE
RZZT—+tF+_A=+—8: FiB%
EEECRERE(ZZT—RF &) -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

14. B EE

Technology Customers’
know-how contracts Total
B 1 EEAME S5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
31 December 2017 —E—+F
+=B=+—H
Cost at 1 January 2017, net of R-Z—+%F—H—H
accumulated amortisation and  #RAANE ¢
impairment Mk 2t B RORE 12,685 - 12,685
Additions NE 6,103 — 6,103
Acquisition of a subsidiary U iE—FE B B A R
(note 32) (Hi7#32) 17,586 - 17,586
Disposals HE (1,983) - (1,983)
Amortisation provided during F NSRS
the year (1,489) - (1,489)
Exchange realignment P 3 AR 2,565 - 2,565
At 31 December 2017 R-Z—+F
+-A=1+—H 35,467 — 35,467
At 31 December 2017: R-E—+F
+=-A=1t—8
Cost (5N 1,641,509 374,613 2,016,122
Accumulated amortisation SHEE MORE
and impairment (1,606,042) (374,613) (1,980,655)
Net carrying amount REFE 35,467 — 35,467
31 December 2016 —E—RE
TERETF=E
Cost at 1 January 2016, net of R-ZE—X FE—H—H
accumulated amortisation and  IRAKANE - HIkR 25T
impairment i NORE 16,597 — 16,597
Additions =T 1,711 — 1,711
Disposals HE (3,036) — (3,036)
Amortisation provided during FNEEEE
the year (1,885) = (1,885)
Exchange realignment b 5 S (702) — (702)
At 31 December 2016 RZZE—RF
+=-B=+—8” 12,685 — 12,685
At 31 December 2016: RZE—RE
+=ZA=+—H":
Cost (%N 1,619,803 374,613 1,994,416
Accumulated amortisation BETEENRE
and impairment (1,607,118) (374,613) (1,981,731)
Net carrying amount REFE 12,685 — 12,685
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

15. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL 15. AItHESTMRE

INVESTMENTS

2017 2016
—z-+5 EREET
HK$7000 HK$'000
FHAT FATE

Unlisted equity investments, at cost

FEEMBAERE - A

66,097 =

On 17 October 2017, Apollo Precision (Beijing)
Ltd., an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into a sales and purchase
agreement with Huafengyuan Investment (Beijing)
Co Ltd., (“Huafengyuan Beijing”), to sell 91%
equity interests of Changde Hanergy Thin Film Solar
Technology Co. LTD., (“Changde Hanergy”) with
a selling price of RMB519,044,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$613,238,000). The Group's interest
in Changde Hanergy was subsequently diluted from
100% to 9%. On the date of disposal, the Group
accounts for the equity interests in Changde Hanergy
at fair value.

In the opinion of the directors, the fair value of the
Group's equity investment in Changde Hanergy
cannot be reliably measured because (a) the
investment does not have quoted market prices in an
active market; (b) the range of reasonable fair value
estimates is significant for the investment; and (c)
the probabilities of the various estimates cannot be
reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value.
As such, the Group's equity investment is stated at
cost less any impairment losses.

RZZ—+tF+A+tH ARFM
E2EWB AR RBEHAGER
BERARHEELREEGER)ER
AR(ZEERER DL —HEE W
o NHEEEEREEERGRERNE
RAFI([EEER]DNN%KRE &
845 AR#519,044,000 T(HHE R 4
613,238,000 77T ) - AEBR FEIZRE
R H % H100% BH#EE 9% R
BRER  AEBREEEEIERUA
FEHK -

ESERR ARERFREENBER
BONRFENERASEE  E-HER
(a) I E R A BT H I EH IS RE (o)
SZRENREAFEMGTHEERK &
() BETRFT < MERHU A BT L AR
fBEFAFE - Filt - AREHRERE
BRABETREBEZS -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

16. INVENTORIES 16. &
2017 2016
et T RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Raw materials JR¥ 1,432,109 1,066,212
Photovoltaic modules SRR 15 370,251 573,162
Photovoltaic application products JEIRFE A E 8,749 B1%
Photovoltaic power generation BT REHIKEEIRE

projects to be sold 195,905 248,358
2,007,014 1,888,247
Less: impairment provision 8 BB (317,344) (239,530)
1,689,670 1,648,717

The cost of inventories sold for the year ended HE-_T—+tF+-_A=1+—HI%F

31 December 2017 was HK$3,472,144,000 (2016:
HK$1,885,358,000). A provision for impairment of
inventories of HK$317,344,000 was made for the year
ended 31 December 2017 (2016: HK$239,530,000)
to write down the inventories to their net realisable

value.

E- FE & KK &3,472,144,000
B L(=Z T — /X F : 1,885,358,000/8
) BEZZE—+tF+=-A=1+—H
LHEE AMRTEZN2RFE 7
B ERE A317,344,0008 T( ==
—75N4 : 239,530,00087T) °



17. TRADE RECEIVABLES

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

17. EZERRIE

2017 2016
TE—F ey
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Hiat F#ET FET
Trade receivables: B S W
— Due from Hanergy Affiliates — FEUWCEREEE A A (i) 2,283,175 3,913,807
— Due from third parties — EWE= (ii) 5,009,089 2,957,487
7,292,264 6,871,294
Less: Impairment of amounts due & © fBUEE =5 2B
from third parties BIE (59,473) (57,930)
7,232,791 6,813,364
Notes: Bt

(i)  Trade receivables from Hanergy Affiliates

The balances are mainly related to contracts with

Hanergy Affiliates, settled in accordance with the

terms of the respective contracts which are generally

from 3 to 10 days. The Group does not hold any

collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade

receivable balances. Based on the invoice date, the
ageing analysis of the Group's net trade receivables
from Hanergy Affiliates is as follows:

(i) EURERBRBARZEZRE

MR T EEER B

AR ZARA

M REBEARZGREE  — R
RIEI10H - AEBEI R EE 5 E
W FRIE SR BE 5 A A fr) 3 1R 2 L A A
BIEEERE - AEHEUEEBER
AE SRR FERBEZAHZIREK

DATER

2017 2016

—E—tF —E—RF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAET

Within 3 months 3EAA 735,640 1,394,950
3 to 6 months 3E61EA - 54,146
6 months to 1 year 6EA=1F - 68,857
More than 1 year il E 1,547,535 2,395,854
2,283,175 3,913,807
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

17. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 17. ESEWRKIE (&)

Notes: (continued) Hiez - (&)

(i)  Trade receivables from Hanergy Affiliates (continued) (i) EUEEHBARZEZE(E)
The ageing analysis of the trade receivables from JE W Z REESE /B R 5] B 5 3K IA P I
Hanergy Affiliates that are not individually nor 15518 Bl ek B R (E 2 B 5 Uk
collectively considered to be impaired is as follows: HIBZ R OITIAT -

2017 2016

—E—+tF —E—REF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Neither past due nor impaired 7 % 480 HA K Rk (B - 1,394,950
Less than 3 months past due R0 318 A 735,640 =
3 to 6 months past due mHASEGEA - 54,146
6 months to 1 year past due BEGEAZE1F 1,394,950 68,857
More than 1 year past due BEBIE 1 F 152,585 2,395,854
2,283,175 3,913,807

During this year, Hanergy Affiliates paid a total of
HK$2,611,152,000 (exclusive of Shandong Zibo) for
the previous construction contracts to the Group. The
Group issued certain payment request letters and legal
letters to Hanergy Affiliates requiring repayment of the
rest of the trade receivables and reserved rights to
take further legal actions on Hanergy Affiliates.

Trade receivables of HK$152,585,000 as at 31
December 2017 (2016: HK$2,395,854,000) were
past due for more than 1 year. Trade receivables of
HK$2,130,590,000 as at 31 December 2017 (2016:
HK$123,003,000) were past due for less than 1 year.
Subsequent to 31 December 2017 and up to 27 March
2018 (when the financial statements were approved
for issuance), Hanergy Affiliates repaid all the trade
receivables of HK$2,283,175,000 (translated from RMB
by using the respective spot rates at the date of the
payments made) to the Group.

FRERBBARMASEBEINE
ZEXERXNE££2,611,152,0007%
(T BREILREE) o REBEmZERE
Bt B A B 3% R T SRR R AR
EREERTEZERFIE  WIRE
YR B D R REGE — AR TE
ZHER o

R-_ZT—+F+-_A=+—H B
JfE 4R 7178 152,685,000 78 TL(=ZZ —7
4F : 2,395,854,00078 T ) © @ Hi 1A
B—F RZE—tFF+_A=+—
B Z 5 k&5 IE2,130,590,000 7%
(=2 — 7Xx & : 123,003,000 7T )
BB OR—F - RZZT—tF+=
A=+—HB&REE=Z—N\F=
A+ tB(HBHRERERETIEZE
) ZEBMBARRAAEREBEESS
E 5 fE W 5K T8 2,283,175,000 7 JT. (3%
NRBEHz&EAHERR ARE R

st
%)c
ZAF

/" Nl

faks]



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZE —

17. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 17.

Notes: (continued)

(i) Trade receivables from Hanergy Affiliates (continued)

Furthermore, pursuant to the relevant sales contracts,
the Group is entitled to claim Hanergy Affiliates
interest penalty on the overdue progress payments.
Interest penalty is calculated at 0.04% per day of the
overdue trade receivables. No interest penalty was
recognised due from Hanergy Affiliates for the year
ended 31 December 2017 (2016: Nil). The balance
of interest penalty due from Hanergy Holding that
included in other receivables was HK$194,394,000 as
at 31 December 2017 (2016: HK$194,394,000). Up to
27 March 2018 (when the financial statements were
approved for issuance), Hanergy Holding repaid all the
interest penalty of HK$194,394,000 (translated from
RMB by using the respective spot rates at the date of
the payments made).

(ii)  Trade receivables from third parties

a. Trade receivables from Shandong Macrolink

The balances are mainly related to contracts with
Shandong Macrolink, settled in accordance with
the terms of the contracts which is generally
from 3 to 7 days. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements over its
trade receivable balances.

Based on the invoice date, the ageing analysis of
the Group's net trade receivables from Shandong
Macrolink is as follows:

—tEFFT-A=+—HLFE)

EZEWFEE®)
Kiat - (&)

(i) EYREEBBARIESREGE)

o REHABEBEEGR  A5EH

B 3B B ESRIE [FE BE B A B B
RE L - FEEHE Z EKFIAR

BHOM%FAE - BE-_T—LtF
Jr*)EI:Jr*EIJtiF* + 37 5t R U
& BB /TJ\IE%JLIFQ( T—K
F 7/%7E) T—+F+_H
=+—8" E‘éuﬁlf;ﬁeﬁﬁ EAR 2 E1 B EREE
(5T A H fth & W 3K I8 ) /4 194,394,000
B T(= & — 75 F 1 194,394,000 7%

L) BEZZTE-—NF=A= thE
(MM ERETEER) - EaeiE
fi%)& (& 2 36 51 8. 194,394,000 /% Tt (%
NRBH 2% GEIHAE XA A REHR
CHR)

(i) EWE=FzEZRNE

a. BRURMEHZESHE

AL AR B S I BRI SR
AR BEAERGEHIEE - —&
RBETR - AEBEWARREE
5 W IR M R R A (T o
Sk H At IN58 = B 5

7K g L SR BT B B B
EFERIE RS BB R DI
mF :

2017 2016

—E—+tF —EF—REF

HK$’000 HK$°000

FET FET

6 months to 1 year 6MEAZE14 — 1,599,964
More that 1 year BiE1F 1,816,927 936,781
1,816,927 2,536,745
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

17. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 17. EZEWRIE &)
Notes: (continued) Kt : (&)
(i)  Trade receivables from third parties (continued) (i) EWE=FZBERE(E)
Trade receivables from Shandong Macrolink a. [BRLFFEHESHEE)
(continued)
The ageing analysis of the trade receivables from e L BRI 2 B BRI
Shandong Macrolink that are not individually EWAR AERSERMREZE
nor collectively considered to be impaired is as SEWRIE 7 BRE ST T
follows:
2017 2016
—E—tF ZE—REF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
3 to 6 months past due #HA3E6{EA — 980,186
6 months to 1 year past due mAGEAZE1F — 619,778
More than 1 year past due BEBIE 1 F 1,816,927 936,781
1,816,927 2,536,745
During this year, Shandong Macrolink paid a total RAEE - LERFTER AR EE
of HK$734,685,000 to the Group. Subsequent 734,685,000 c R=Z
to 31 December 2017 and up to 27 March 2018 —tEF+A=1T—HEREZE
(when the financial statements were approved —E-NE=A=-+ BB
for issuance), Shandong Macrolink repaid WMEERETIZRER) - LR
HK$248,230,000 (translated from RMB by using B [m) 7N &2 [B] 5 22 248,230,000
the respective spot rates at the date of the BTN RE Bz & B AHE
payments made) to the Group. ERARKKBE) -
Trade receivables from Jingzhou Shunbai b.  EWFMIEEZEZE

The balances are mainly related to contracts with
Jingzhou Shunbai, settled in accordance with
the terms of the contracts which is generally
15 days. The Group does not hold any collateral
or other credit enhancements over its trade
receivable balances.

ZAEHER REFIMNIBEZE
Rl - RS RIGEREE - — &S
16K AEETAREBLFE
Wk IR A AR A R e
IR IEE L5



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

17. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 17. EZEWRIE &)
Notes: (continued) Kiet - (&)
(i)  Trade receivables from third parties (continued) (i) EWE=FzBZ7FEE)
b.  Trade receivables from Jingzhou Shunbai b. ERFIMIEEZE S E (&)
(continued)
Based on the invoice date, the ageing analysis of AEE UGN BEE 5B F
the Group’s net trade receivables from Jingzhou R ERZER RS TN
Shunbai is as follows: T
2017 2016
—E—+t5F ZE—REF
HK$°000 HK$°000
FHET FET
Within 3 months 3fEAA 138,368 —
138,368 —
The ageing analysis of the trade receivables FE WM IEME B 5 kI8 A 3 48 1
from Jingzhou Shunbai that are not individually RAER MR HE L E S
nor collectively considered to be impaired is as FEUFRIE Z BRER D AT T -
follows:
2017 2016
—E—tHF ZE—REF
HK$°000 HK$°000
FHET FET
Neither past due nor impaired 7 % 480 HA K Rk (B 138,368 =
138,368 —

During this year, Jingzhou Shunbai paid a total
of HK$410,030,000 to the Group. Subsequent
to 31 December 2017 and up to 27 March
2018 (when the financial statements were
approved for issuance), Jingzhou Shunbai repaid
HK$130,770,000 (translated from RMB by using
the respective spot rates at the date of the
payments made) to the Group.

FR - FMNIBMER A E B X
410,030,000/ 7L c R=F—+
E+-_A=+—RABREE=
E-NF=A=++BGEI%ER
RERERIZEZR) - FIMNIERFE
) 2N 5 (@175 {2 130,770,000 7% 7T
(RN BH 2 &8N HERH
AREEHRE) -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

17. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 17.

Notes: (continued)

(ii)  Trade receivables from third parties (continued)

EZEWFEE®)
Kiat - (&)

(i) ERE=FZEZREE)

Trade receivables from Shandong Zibo

The balances are mainly related to contracts with
Shandong Zibo, settled in accordance with the
terms of the contracts which is generally 3 to
7 days. The Group does not hold any collateral
or other credit enhancements over its trade
receivable balances.

Based on the invoice date, the ageing analysis of
the Group’s net trade receivables from Shandong
Zibo is as follows:

BRI RS2 B 557

SEBERSRENREEZ A
Rl - mRE RIGEREE - —&S
BETR - AEBMAIRHEE S
WK IR A R FS B R TR s 3k
HA pnsa S S 556 -

R B ML RIS EE 5 FRIEF
BREBEEZAHPZERESNN
T

2017 2016

—E—tF —E—RF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET

Within 3 months 3fEAA 1,321,274 —
6 months to 1 year 6EAZE14F 391,435 —
1,712,709 —

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables
from Shandong Zibo that are not individually
nor collectively considered to be impaired is as
follows:

JE ML BRO 188 B 5) RIA AP I SR A
BRER K XRMRELES
FEWTRIRZ BREC A ITAA T

2017 2016

—E—+F —T—RF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAET FE&T

Neither past due nor impaired 37 4% 360 HA RO (E 1,321,274 =
3 to 6 months past due B3 = 618 A 391,435 —
1,712,709 —

During this year, Shandong Zibo paid a total
of HK$551,458,000 to the Group. Subsequent
to 31 December 2017 and up to 27 March
2018 (when the financial statements were
approved for issuance), Shandong Zibo repaid
HK$583,012,000 (translated from RMB by using
the respective spot rates at the date of the
payments made) to the Group.

FERIURSERAER L
551,458,000/ 7L - "= —+
F+-A=+—HBEREZE=
T N\F=A=-+tBEBER
RERETZEZR) - LR
M7~ £ #7518 583,012,000 7 7T
(RNFBHzSEHAEXRAR
AREIE) o



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

17. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 17. EZEWRIE &)
Notes: (continued) Hiaz - (4&)
(i)  Trade receivables from third parties (continued) (i) EWE=FEZFHEE)

d. Trade receivables from Huafengyuan d.  BREZE () FERRES
(Chengdu) New Energy Technology Co Ltd. RA=G([EE R ) ZEZ5
(“Huafengyuan Chengdu”) 15
The balances are mainly related to contracts with REEREE SR EELRKEZ
Huafengyuan Chengdu, settled in accordance &R - RBRERIEREE - —R
with the terms of the contracts which is BER - AEBUWRGFEEFE
generally 5 days. The Group does not hold any W R IE 4 ER FE A AR R m sl H
collateral or other credit enhancements over its i ansR s EE i o
trade receivable balances.

Based on the invoice date, the ageing analysis N5 [ e W E LR EDE 5 08
of the Group's net trade receivables from FHERBEZEARZRR ST
Huafengyuan Chengdu is as follows: R
2016
—ERF
HK$'000
FAET
Within 3 months 3fEAA 382,012 —
382,012 —
The ageing analysis of the trade receivables from FE L 2= SR i F1 28 5 TR0 AR N 4
Huafengyuan Chengdu that are not individually AR AER s X RMBEZE
nor collectively considered to be impaired is as SEWIAE Z RO -
follows:
2016
ZE—RF
HK$'000
FET
Neither past due nor impaired 7 % 480 HA K Rk (B 382,012 =
382,012 —

During this year, Huafengyuan Chengdu paid
HK$30,365,000 down payment of a construction
contract to the Group. Subsequent to 31
December 2017 and up to 27 March 2018
(when the financial statements were approved
for issuance), Huafengyuan Chengdu repaid
HK$181,880,000 (translated from RMB by using
the respective spot rates at the date of the
payment made) to the Group.

F LR R AR A AN 5 B 5
Z % A [/ 3 130,365,000 7T
BAR - R=ZF—+F+=A
=t+—HEBREE_T—)\F=
A=+t B (B 7% s = E 8L T
BTER) ELRRAALAEE
75 18 181,880,000 7t (% i &
HE 2 & B8 BNEAfE R A R#E

s
E1) @
>
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

17. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 17. EZRWRIE %)
Notes: (continued) Hiet : (&
(i)  Trade receivables from third parties (continued) (i) EWE=FZEZREE)
G Trade receivables from other third parties e. FEREME=TZE55E
The credit period is generally one month, —REABRA—MEA  HEEE

BEPAUERE=EAZERY
R AEBMEUEME=7EH

extending up to three months for major

cusltomers. ?ased on the invoice datfe, the AR R TS O A BE S AT AN
ageing analysis of the Group's trade receivables T

from other third parties is as follows:

2017 2016
—Z2—+tF ZE—REF
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET
Within 3 months 3fEAA 194,430 66,549
3 to 6 months 3Z61EA 111,839 119,537
6 months to 1 year 6IEIAZ=1F 343,998 142,741
More than 1 year BB F 308,806 91,9156
959,073 420,742
Less: Impairment O ORE (59,473) (57,930)
899,600 362,812
The ageing analysis of the trade receivables FEMH (55 =77 8 5 SR+ ¥ &%
from other third parties that are not individually AR 73 18 5l sk R stRLE 2 B

ZIEWGRIBZ R DT a0 T

nor collectively considered to be impaired is as

follows:
2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Neither past due nor impaired 7 4% 480 HA K Rk (B 172,172 65,979
Less than 3 months past due B 83> 3 A 61,668 119,525
3 to 6 months past due BmHASEG6MEA 324,150 148,555
6 months to 1 year past due BmHGEAZE1F 173,750 3,601
More than 1 year past due B AR A 1 167,860 25,152

899,600 362,812
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

17. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 17. EZEWRIE &)
Notes: (continued) izt - (&)
(i)  Trade receivables from third parties (continued) (i) EWE=FEZFHEE)
e. Trade receivables from other third parties e. [BEWEME=H>B525E %)
(continued)
The movements in provision for impairment of B 5 W SRR E R E R E B
trade receivables are as follows: T
2017 2016
—=E—+t5F ZE—REF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FHET FET
At 1 January m—A—A 57,930 197,220
Impairment losses recognised BRI EEE
(note 8) (H1zE8) 934 18,211
Disposal of a subsidiary & —RHHE R — (125,150)
Reversal of impairment (note 8) ERE (HiF8) (1,399) (28,830)
Exchange realignment bE A 2,008 (3,521)
At 31 December R+=A=+—8H 59,473 57,930

Included in the above provision for impairment
of trade receivables is a provision for individually
impaired trade receivables of HK$59,473,000
(2016: HK$57,930,000) with a carrying amount
before provision of HK$59,473,000 (2016:
HK$57,930,000).

The individually impaired trade receivables relate
to customers that were in financial difficulties or
were in default in principal payments and none
of the receivables is expected to be recovered.

Receivables that were neither past due nor
impaired relate to a large number of diversified
customers for whom there was no recent history
of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired
relate to a number of independent customers
that have a good track record with the Group.
Based on past experience, the directors of the
Company are of the opinion that no provision
for impairment is necessary in respect of these
balances as there has not been a significant
change in credit quality and the balances are still
considered fully recoverable.

The directors of the Company considered that the fair
values of trade receivables are not materially different
from their carrying amounts because these amounts
have short maturity periods at their inception.

Fi B SRR FERERERRE
18 51 50 (B & 5 & 4R 30 M) 4R
59,473,0008 T (—Z & — /N F ¢
57,930,000 7T ) + K 003 B
Al 79 B T & /559,473,000 % 7T
(= =& — /X % : 57,930,000
JL) °

18 511370 (8 2 55 18 U 3K 0 S T o
BRES R AL RENETFE
W - BTRHE AR R SR T
T -

A #5360 A X (B 2 FE U TR B2 R
EZTCEPER  WEIHY
R RACEE ©

B A BB RRME 2 FEURIAE %
EBURFAR  RERAEE
ZRERE o HRERR AR
Y BNMERERTE
REEE  YRREXRDA T2
Blem - BURAR % E AR ETT
IERE -

B P B U BR SR B R A A AT S HR R 2
H SARAEZR/ZFREAZLA
FEEEFMEIBEENER -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

18. GROSS AMOUNT DUE FROM 18. BREREF&AE
CONTRACT CUSTOMERS
The Group’s gross amount due from customers for AEBREWERARFAHELE THBAE
contract work was related to contracts with certain EEEGNER  RETHILERER
customers in relation to the turnkey production lines, AEEB 2 ARNEREKEEE AR -
construction of solar power stations for certain small BRERIE ARSI ¢

to medium-sized enterprises and poverty alleviation
projects. The movement of gross amount due from
contract customers is as follows:

2017 2016
—E—+F g
HK$’000 HK$000

FET TFETT
At 1 January Rn—A—H 1,547,405 2,930,836
Contract costs incurred plus recognised BEEAERKAINE#E
profits less recognised losses R AR MR R 5,366,670 3,280,988
Progress billings HERRE IR (4,708,435)  (4,196,857)
Exchange realignment b 195,020 (467,562)
At 31 December R+=-A=+—8H 2,400,660 1,547,405
As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s gross amount RZZE—+tF+-_F=+—8 ' &~&E
due from construction contract customers for contract HENREED HAAE F LIEEUGE
work that were shown in Manufacturing segment BERBP ZBRENT

were listed as follows:

2017 2016
—g-+5 JEESE
HK$7000 HK$'000

F#ET FET
Hanergy Affiliates e A= /NG - 729,826
Shandong Macrolink 1L R R EE R 865,448 796,204
Jingzhou Shunbai N NE{F 810,941 —
Shandong Zibo LIRS 724,271 16,102
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 2,400,660 1,642,132
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

19. OTHER RECEIVABLES

19. HbEWRIE

2017 2016
LRk TN
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B et FET FE&T

Other receivables: Hoh e SRIE
— Due from Hanergy Holding — FEMOEREIERR (i) 194,879 194,820
— Due from Hanergy Affiliates — EWOEREE B A A 4,210 2,621
— Due from third parties — EBWE=7 (ii) 1,262,590 529,032
1,461,679 726,473
Less: Impairment 8RB (24,536) (22,923)
1,437,143 703,550

The movements in provision for impairment of other

receivables are as follows:

Hib UGB E R HERE ST -

2017 2016

—E—tF g

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET BT

At beginning of year REH] 22,923 237,099
Reversal during the year (note 8) FREE(AE8) — (110,188)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE— B AR — (94,416)
Exchange realignment & 5 1,613 (9,572)
24,536 22,923
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZE —

19. OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Note:

(i)

(ii)

The balances of other receivables due from Hanergy
Holding mainly represented the interest penalty on the
overdue progress payments of the contract work. As
disclosed in note 17, pursuant to the relevant sales
contracts, the Group is entitled to claim Hanergy
Affiliates interest penalty on the overdue progress
payments. Interest penalty of HK$194,394,000
at a rate of 0.04% per day of the overdue trade
receivables was included in other receivables due
from the Hanergy Holding as at 31 December 2017
(2016: HK$194,394,000). Up to 27 March 2018 (the
date of approval of these financial statements),
Hanergy Holding repaid all the interest penalty of
HK$194,394,000 (translated from RMB by using the
respective spot rates at the date of the payments
made) to the Group.

The balance of other receivables due from third
parties mainly represented unutilised value added
tax (“VAT") input of HK$162,122,000, consideration
receivables due from a third party with respect of
disposal of Changde Hanergy of HK$611,363,000
(note 30), and the balance related to investment from
an asset management company of HK$321,791,000.
Subsequent to 31 December 2017 and up to 27 March
2018 (when the financial statements were approved
for issuance), the third party repaid RMB360,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$446,972,000) to the
Group in relation to the disposal of Changde Hanergy.

Included in the above provision for impairment of
other receivables is a provision for individually impaired
receivables of HK$24,536,000 (2016: HK$22,923,000)
with a carrying amount before provision of
HK$24,536,000 (2016: HK$22,923,000).

The individually impaired other receivables relate to
debtors that were in financial difficulties or were
in default in principal payments and none of the
receivables is expected to be recovered.

Except for those other receivables that are already
impaired and the interest penalty due from Hanergy
Holding, the financial assets included in the above
balance relate to receivables for which there was
no recent history of default with no fixed terms of
repayment.

The directors of the Company considered that the fair
values of other receivables are not materially different
from their carrying amounts because these amounts
have short maturity periods at their inception.

—tEFFT-A=+—HLFE)

19. HtEEW R
it -

(i)

(i)

RIE ()

Hth FEYOR BEFE IR FRIR 4 85 - =215
&R ITREER IEE’H&HHFE °ﬂﬁﬂ
MIEE17 IR ER - RIZMERHE

ZKEE*E%#ZEHWEFMIEW%FM st

BARHAR Fgow—f +F+=
B =+ — B B U= B 4% AR H i 8 U R
THE 0 B §E S 8 194,394,000 7 7T

(== —7%F :194,394,00087T) * Jb
% B H ”%FELI&*AIET*EHO 04% B
Tn“—ﬁ @? 7)\£F H +‘t
El(ﬁt/ﬁﬁﬁ%#ﬁ%* H )F‘rﬂ: /%ﬁb 4
IR mZAEBER 25508 194,394,000
B RN RB S8R EERA A
Rising

ZEMERE=ZTRELEHETEE
*iﬂﬁﬁiﬁwri‘%ﬁﬁj)iﬁlﬁ}éa
162,122,000 7T * FLHE B2EaE

Hﬁz%zﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂ%sm,sa&oooﬂém

(KI5E30)  WERBH—HEEEER
A)H) % & B4 #£2321,791,00078 T ©

RZE—+&E+-_A=+—HEEKEHE
E_T-N\EZA=-t+tHEBHRE
EHETIRER)  E=FREEFRE
EeEM A EE B AR 360,000,000
TC(4FE R 446,972,000/ 7T) °

J:?ﬁﬁ‘rlﬂ%%lmlﬁdaﬂﬁﬁéﬁ@%
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BF [ {8 4 24,536,0008 T(=Z = — X
£ : 22,923,000 7T) °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

20. BILLS RECEIVABLE 20. BEWEE

At 31 December 2017, certain subsidiaries of the
Group endorsed certain suppliers in order to settle
the trade payables due to such suppliers with a
carrying amount in aggregate of RMB190,674,000
(equivalent to HK$228,103,000). Included in these
bills receivables, RMB176,037,000 (equivalent
to HK$210,594,000) of the bills receivables have
been derecognised (the “Derecognised Bills”).
The Derecognised Bills had a maturity of one to
twelve months at the end of the reporting period. In
accordance with the Law of Negotiable Instruments
in the PRC, the holders of the Derecognised Bills
have a right of recourse against the Group if the
PRC banks default (the “Continuing Involvement”).
In the opinion of the directors, the Group has
transferred substantially all risks and rewards
relating to the Derecognised Bills. Accordingly, it
has derecognised the full carrying amounts of the
Derecognised Bills and the associated trade payables.
The maximum exposure to loss from the Group's
Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills and
the undiscounted cash flows to repurchase these
Derecognised Bills is equal to their carrying amounts.
In the opinion of the directors, the fair values of the
Group's Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised
Bills are not significant.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group
has not recognised any gain or loss on the date of
transfer of the Derecognised Bills. No gains or losses
were recognised from the Continuing Involvement,
both during the year or cumulatively. Besides, the
Group did not discount any bill receivables to the
bank for the year ended 31 December 2017.

RZZT—tF+_A=+—0 ' ~5H
ETHBARMEE THERSEE - MU
BRNERZERERNE S EMNRIE -
BR M & E A A K ¥190,674,000 (48
E 12 228,103,00087T) - ZEZHEEK
HIEEF - 5 AR 176,037,000 7t (48
E1210,594,000 87T ) < B FEWGRIE
EFRIEBR(ARLEERER] - RNk
HHR  RIEBREER—Z+=@A
FER o BEBPRAEREE - MPBRZRIT
B RUERRARBZFEABRBIY
AEBEMERE((HESH]) - EFR
B ASEEEBRRIIEREEERZ
RIS R RER  WEIUHERR
IHERER 2 2 REERABEE 5 E
NRIE - AEBFEL2HEKR ERAER
RBEZERIIBERRBRZAMBARS
mEEEEECEARBAEENEERT
B-EFTRA AEBEBFESHERKIHE
REEZ RN FEILTK o

HE_Z—+tF+_A=+—HIHF
B AEBEREEXLERAZEE BT
ERRAEELZR - RAFEE B ER
B2HEBERN B ERMEMEBERE - It
G REBEZZE—+tF+ZA=+—8H
IEFE - ARE BN &R RITHTER A 8
WERE -

233



234

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

21. DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS 21. EERAFRE

2017 2016

—E—+F N3

Note HK$’000 HK$'000

Hfat FET BT

Deposits ®e 69,405 47,768
Prepayments paid to: BENFUTALZE

FRIA -

— Hanergy Affiliates — BRI BN F] (i) 112,665 405,991

— Third parties — %=FH 3,232,179 981,683

3,344,844 1,387,674

Less: impairment JB - ORME (44,913) (44,039)

3,369,336 1,391,403

Included in the above assets, HK$441,379,000 (2016:
HK$1,100,740,000) of the prepayments has an ageing
over 1 year, whereas all the remaining deposits and
prepayments have an ageing less than 1 year.

Except for those prepayments already impaired,
certain assets included in the above balance are
related to prepayments for certain uncompleted
purchase contracts which the Group is currently kept
communicating with the suppliers for settlement of
these contracts.

T EERBERERBRATFE®
441,379,000% (= T — X F:
1,100,740,000 /& 7T ) ARSI FIH - B 8RFT
Bz RIENFIEZRRE DR F o

BRE TIRERTFAENKIRIN - Ll B ERFT
BRENETEERETAREREBEAR
WA AR - ANKE L RERE
BT EARETAE



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZE —

21

DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

(continued)

Note:

(i)

The balances mainly represented the prepayments for
the purchase of photovoltaic (“PV"”) modules under
the master agreement signed with Hanergy Holding
on 11 April 2012. The master agreement is effective
for three years from 1 January 2012 to 31 December
2014. During 2013, the Company’'s subsidiaries
entered into several PV module purchase subcontracts
(“Subcontracts”) with Hanergy Affiliates, nominees
of Hanergy Holding, to purchase PV modules with
a total capacity of 677.9 MW for construction of
the downstream photovoltaic power generation
projects. According to the terms of the Subcontracts,
approximately 50% of the total contract amounts
have been paid by the Company’s subsidiaries on the
placement of the orders in 2013. As of 31 December
2013, a total of 58.5 MW PV modules have been
delivered by Hanergy Affiliates.

The delay of delivery of the PV modules was mainly
due to the production arrangement by Hanergy
Affiliates, which has caused the delay in the
construction of the photovoltaic power generation
projects by the Group. Accordingly, the Group reached
mutual agreement with Hanergy Affiliates to return
the prepayments of HK$1,262,629,000 before 31
December 2014 in relation to a total capacity of 459.4
MW PV modules and terminate these Subcontracts
simultaneously.

During 2014, the Company's subsidiaries also entered
into several new Subcontracts with Hanergy Affiliates
to purchase PV modules with a total capacity of
558 MW for the construction of the downstream
photovoltaic power generation projects. According to
the terms of the Subcontracts, approximately 50%
of the total contract amounts have been paid by the
Company's subsidiaries on the placement of the
orders in 2014.

A total of 28.8 MW PV modules have been delivered
by Hanergy Affiliates in year 2014. As of 31 December
2014, a total capacity of 689.2 MW PV modules have
not been delivered by Hanergy Affiliates.

The Company and Hanergy Holding entered into a
PV module supply agreement on 30 April 2015 for
the purchase of PV modules for the year ended 31
December 2015.

On 20 January 2015, the Company entered into a
supplemental agreement to the 150 MW PV modules
supply contract signed on 23 December 2013 with
Hanergy Holding on the settlement of the prepayments
made in 2013 by offsetting this with the payables of
delivered PV modules under the 150MW PV modules
supply contract, and the original total capacity of 150
MW was reduced to 80.9 MW.

—tEFFT-A=+—HLFE)

. RERANE

(i)

RIH (42)

EHRETEERBER-_ZT—Z-FWTA
+—REZERIEREE 2 BhE 0 B
BAXRKTHERDEFZ S ZTERR
HoBipEn T ——F—H—HB=Z%
—ENFEF+-_A=+—H=FM4%
Wo%:%fii AR ZHBA
AIELEREE B AR  EAEIER 2R E
A'Hﬁ%ﬁtkmﬁ%AWﬁmé
(M EiHmE]) - BhER Tﬁtﬁ%*
IHH B ABERRRG677.9MW Zyt
A BIBEHBIRZGER AR
WEQﬂEK:?—:ETLﬁﬁk
TRHARBELENL0% R_T—=
FE+-A=+—8 ZEEKBARD
R EERE 4 58.5MW Z Y R4 14 o

Lé SR AB 1 3 B R R A B

72&?&%%&$Elkﬂ%
ﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁoﬁ%v$
EEEEERBBE RN ENKEH W
FURZE—mFE+=—A=+—8©
i[O B A EE BE 5 459.4AMW EY S (R 48
IR TER X 1,262,629,0008 7T
I EI B4R L 1 B BB s o

—MEM - ARRZH B AR H

% w%gjﬁﬁﬂﬁ%@%mgﬁ

» LARE B B EERE A 558MW K Y IR 4R

# ARERE T EAREEEE - 8

BZEWBIRBEZIER  ARa 2K

BRAREN -_ZE—MNFERETERT
NAREEEL50% °

TP - SRR *H
%m8MW2tX@ﬁ ﬁ
F+=-ZRA=+—H " #E&

I 7R 321+ 48 E BE 689. ZMWZﬁWﬁ

FFol | R
oﬂE%H

%

—RFEMA=+H " AQAEH
%ablﬂx?ﬁb”\%é_f hAE+—A
=+t HIEFEBERRAMFRI L
IR RE 173 -

R-B—RE—HA=-+H AARH®
R-ZE—=F+-_A=-+=HTuYHN
1%MW%R@#¢¢AWQ£%I
RN REE NAEEEER =T
—=F{EHRTEMFKIE - LA150MW
RAEGHESDTERFRA G
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)
21. DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS  BERAEMKEE

(continued)

Note: (continued) Kt : (&)

(i) (continued) (i) (%)
During 2015, the Company's subsidiaries entered R=ZF—RF  ARBIMBERABE
into several new Subcontracts with Hanergy Affiliates S AR 7B 14 2L 155k BV RE S BB R R R
under the PV module supply agreement to purchase NEMHE R BB BERE
PV modules with a total capacity of 57.7 MW for BS5TIMWR L KRB MM ARER
the construction of the downstream photovoltaic TR IREEEE - REZZSH B R
power generation projects. According to the terms BLIER KRB ZMBARIERZ
of the Subcontracts, approximately 50% of the total T-—AFFNETERINERESEL
contract amounts have been paid by the Company's 50% -
subsidiaries on the placement of the orders in 2015.
A total of 316 MW PV modules have been delivered RZT—RF - EZREBBARIE RN
by Hanergy Affiliates in the year 2015. As of 31 EREEIIBMWZ X IKAH - R=ZF
December 2015, a total capacity of 362.8 MW —hAF+=ZA=+—H  EEHEL
PV modules have not been delivered by Hanergy AlM AR EEE £362.8MW Z H K
Affiliates. #HH o
During 2016, the Company signed certain new R-ZE—RNF AR A EZEHEB
purchase orders with Hanergy Affiliates for a total ARV E THHBITE BER
capacity of 1.2 MW PV modules. A total capacity EfgA12MWZ K RAHE - R=F
of 136.0 MW PV modules have been delivered by —NF EREHB AR E RN EEE
Hanergy Affiliates in 2016. As at 31 December 2016, a 136.0MW Z KRB - R=ZF—RF
total capacity of 228.0 MW PV modules have not been +ZA=+—8  ZEEBHB AR HAK
delivered by Hanergy Affiliates. RIHEREA ££228.0MW Z Je R 2R -
On 31 December 2017, the Group reached two mutual R—_ZT—+tFE+-_A=+—"H" K
agreements with Hanergy Affiliates. One was to return SEEZRHMB AR EKNMAES
the prepayments of HK$6,939,000 in relation to a ek F— RV AREHBEEER
total capacity of 10MW and terminate the Subcontract 10MW 2 78 {5 3k 756,939,000 % T *
simultaneously. The other was to net off the W R IEMBIHE o 2 —RIIBR
prepayments of HK$225,925,000 with trade payables —ET—+tF+ZA=t+—HAIMAERE
in relation to the purchase of the PV modules from HEARBEXREHZESEMNK
Hanergy Affiliates before 31 December 2017 and the TE K $5 78 3 51 78 225,925,000 % 7T -
undelivered PV modules under the subcontract would i BT BB #9518 T 1 R XA 2 K AR 4R 4
still be delivered in the future. BREMEETRM -
During 2017, the Company did not sign any new RZZT— L& N2 ) I £ 8% gL B
purchase contracts with Hanergy Affiliates. A total BRaE% uﬂﬂﬂ%ﬂ;&ﬁ%uhﬁ o MZF
capacity of 64.6 MW PV modules have been delivered —+HF - EhE NAEB R RERE
by Hanergy Affiliates in 2017. As of 31 December 64. 6MWZ7H7(,ZE1¢ o MZE—+F
2017, a total capacity of 153.4 MW PV modules has +=—A=+—H ' ZEBBARDK
not been delivered by Hanergy Affiliates. RATHEEERE 153.4AMW 2 AR o
On 26 March 2018, the Company reached a mutual RZZT—N\F=RA=+"8 ' ARF
agreement with Hanergy Holding. Pursuant to the R 2 B 128 AR X 175 5 o IRAR X 1 Ak
agreement, the parties mutually agreed that if Hanergy EHHERRE  WMEEBHBARR=
Affiliates could not deliver the PV modules to the $—J\¢+_HE+—EW*§EWZJ§
Group before 31 December 2018, then the remaining SBERX M RABG - BIgg T RERMZ
unsettled other receivables due from Hanergy H b [ % BB B /A 1 3AIE 4,695,000
Affiliates of HK$4,695,000 (note 19) and the unsettled 78 7T (B = 19)&%E%Eﬁﬂi%§é B A
prepayments made to Hanergy Affiliates by then will CIEE AT Iﬁﬂi%%ﬁ D B
be settled against trade payables and other payables 7N £ [ JE 12 Al Bl ﬂZF&EH‘\%
due to Hanergy Affiliates by the Group. Meanwhile, %kﬁ&,\ﬁﬁﬂgﬁ IES'ZH o [A] B - 7;3;
Hanergy Affiliates are not entitled to call for REHMEB AR EEEREZER - —
repayment of the aforementioned trade payables and ¢+_ﬂf‘f’ = ﬁﬂiféﬁiﬁZi%LﬁﬁE
other payables to the extent of the other receivables 5188 5 5038 I E A FE 15 R IE (LA FE(-DE
due from Hanergy Affiliates and prepayments made REBSE B A ) 2 H b B WK IE R TR 3R
to Hanergy Affiliates that are outstanding before 31 HRR) -

December 2018.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 22. BERREEBYRZIRGEIER
RESTRICTED CASH €

2017 2016
TE—LF [N
HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET
Cash and bank balances He MRTTHET 2,496,760 248,674
Restricted cash R HE e 144,340 38,057
Less: Restricted cash 6 ZRFIRE (144,340) (38,057)
Cash and cash equivalents HekREeFEY 2,496,760 248,674
The breakdown of cash and cash equivalents and RZFE—t&F+=-A=+—8 " & &E
restricted cash by denominated currency as at 31 BRI v He kB EEYRIRH
December 2017 is as follow: e 2 BT

2017 2016
TE—LF ey
(HK$ equivalent) HK$’000 HK$°'000
(BrEE) FET FET
Cash and bank balances A3 E®EHE 2
denominated in: Be RIRT4HF

RMB AR 2,329,179 123,895
UsD = 112,903 104,112
HKD BIT 11,591 12,292
EUR BT 28,035 5,238
Others EAh 15,052 3,137
Total #azE 2,496,760 248,674
Restricted cash denominated in: LATSE#EHE 2 LR TR
RMB AR 140,236 23,859
UsD = 4,104 14,198
Total #azE 144,340 38,057
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZE—=

22.

23.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
RESTRICTED CASH (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash
equivalents and the restricted cash of the Group
denominated in RMB amounted to HK$2,469,415,000
(2016: HK$147,754,000). The RMB is not freely
convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment
of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies
through banks that are authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based
on daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits
are made for varying periods of between one day
to three months depending on the immediate cash
requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the
respective short term time deposit rates. The bank
balances and restricted cash are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

—tEFFT-A=+—HLFE)

22 RERBEEEBEYRZIREFHR

cAC D,

RS HA R $%M}\E¢%€<%$ﬁ
Z2EERBEEUWRARIRAIRE
7%2,469,415,000/8 (= & — N F
147,754,000 70 ) - ARERT B A 5
MmAeEEMEK . %ﬁﬁ BEF B R 2
INEE B GG R ATEEIBRT - AEE
Zéﬁt/&ﬁﬂﬁéﬁ’éut?l\@%ﬁ%Zﬁﬁ
BAREEaEME -

fﬁﬁiﬁﬁfﬁiﬁlﬁfﬁ TERFIENE 2
FREBAL - BHFRFR2FRBA
hM—BE={H/ % - LEELZIKE@ZEH
RSB RME - WIREEHPTERFR
BEREBMAE - RITEFRZRERES
TFHRNMEE R 4T BRI R EC 8 2 R
17 °

23. EERRERNRIA

2016
—E—RF
HK$'000
T/E87T
Trade and bills payables due to: FEH%MT}\iZ%f%&E—EE
JE{S FE
— Related parties — @ﬁ@}\:t 268,708 409,469
— Third parties — $=5 1,469,168 886,161
1,737,876 1,295,630

Based on the invoice date, the ageing analysis of the
Group's trade and bills payables is as follows:

REZZAH  AKEEZREEEN
FIAZ REDITIAT ¢

2017 2016
2T EEtyNGE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TE8T
0 — 30 days 0 — 30K 583,185 372,940
31 — 60 days 31 — 60X 102,969 53,963
61 — 90 days 61 — 90X 51,916 73,741
Over 90 days 90 R E 999,806 794,986
1,737,876 1,295,630

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and the B REMNZBEIL AR » —RIERER

credit terms are normally 60 days.

ABOK °



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

(continued)

24, HttENRERESER (2)

2016
—E R
Notes HK$000
KiaE FET
Deposits e 5,970 6,238
Other payables due to: JER T AR A2 HAth
FESTFRIE

— Hanergy Holding — EBIE R (i) 5,115 3,931
— Hanergy Affiliates — BREEB AR (ii) 128,748 98,618
— Third parties —EH=7 (iif) 1,334,288 984,685
Sub-total INET 1,468,151 1,087,234
Advances from customers EY=S NN (iv) 5,239,848 698,705
Accruals FEETE A (v) 316,419 289,564
Provision for product warranties EmrERE (vi) 43,174 26,762
7,073,562 2,108,503

Notes: Hiat -

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Payables to the Hanergy Holding represent the
advances from Hanergy Holding to the Group for the
daily operation purpose. The balances are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

The balance included the advances of HK$79,914,000
(2016: HK$56,558,000) from Hanergy Affiliates to
the Group for the daily operation purpose, and the
balance of HK$48,834,000 (2016: HK$42,060,000)
payable to Sichuan Hanergy Photovoltaic Limited
(“Sichuan Hanergy”), Hanergy Holding's affiliate,
relating to rental of a production line, office premises,
factory premises and staff dormitory, and the usage
of relevant equipment, material and facilities, etc.
The above balances are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

The balance due to third parties mainly consisted of
VAT payables amounting to HK$899,549,000 (2016:
HK$569,999,000) and reputation deposit amounting
to HK$213,533,000 (2016: HK$237,622,000) collected
from downstream distributors.

The balance mainly represented the advances
from turnkey production line construction contract
customers and downstream distributors. An amount
of HK$4,285,281,000 (2016: HK$96,939,000) was
from turnkey production line construction contract
customers to the Group for the construction of turnkey
production lines in various industrial parks in certain
provinces in China. An amount of HK$336,756,000
(2016: HK$326,717,000) was from downstream
distributors to the Group to buy the household rooftop
power stations and photovoltaic application products.

(iii)

JE A Bx A% FE AR 1 B) 2 FRIA R R BE 1R R
RABEERNNTAKREZBNR
B RTRHBAERR  2ERRE
SREFE A ©

HEHEEEEBEARNAEELER
K T A& B 2 T84 50IE 79,914,000
B (= & — /X F 1 56,558,000/8
L) RBMERAEER WAL
IHEFMREIEEAREABBR
& - MR R AR S ) A R R 2 B
ARYIERENXKBRAE(MEIIIE
8% ) FEfT 2 8275 48,834,000 T (= F
—7N%F 1 42,060,000/87T) ° FaigEs
BEEE - 2B RN EREFER o

ERNE=ZF2E&EGETERERA N IF
5> 48 78 2 JFE {+f 3 (B % 899,549,000 78
TT(—Z—754 : 569,999,000/8 7T ) &
B 2124 213,633,000/ (T —~
£ 1 237,622,0007T) °

EHRTEARABRBREERERAYD
BEERTHEDHEPMBERARK Hh -
7 804,285,281,0000% T(= & — 7~
% 196,939,000 L) BEBREELR
ERANEFRETHEETEALS T
¥ERELEGEERAAEEEN
2 FRIE o A #1336,756,0008 L(— &
— N4 326,717,000 7T) B N5
HEEREEFPAEEEM A XAER
EmAAEBBENZFF -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(v)

(vi)

The balance mainly consisted of an amount of
HK$220,499,000 (2016: HK$166,873,000) salaries and
bonus payable to the employees of the Group; and
an amount of HK$20,056,000 (2016: HK$43,930,000)
which represented the maximum expense which the
Group would be charged on certain current lawsuits.

Provision for product warranties

24, HttENFRERESER (2)

Hret - (&

(v)

EHRFTZoEREMNASEREE ZH
% & It 41220,499,000 T(= &
— /N4 : 166,873,000/ 7T ) - & A
#(20,056,0007 o(= T — N F ¢
43,930,000 87T ) AL EHE TR
FAB T AHRAFAL -

EmRERA

2017 2016

—E—tF NS

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FET

At 1 January »—H—H 26,762 —
Provided during the year FAEE 38,468 37,188
Amounts utilised during the year FREFEASTE (24,454) (9,544)
Exchange realignment bE 5 2 2,398 (882)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 43,174 26,762

The Group provides three to ten years warranties to
its customers on certain of its photovoltaic modules,
inverter and rooftop power stations, under which
faulty products are repaired or replaced. The amount
of the provision for the warranties is estimated based
on sales volumes and past experience of the level of
repairs and returns. The estimation basis is reviewed
on an ongoing basis and revised where appropriate.

All amounts are short term and hence the carrying amounts

of other payables and accruals are considered to be a

reasonable approximation of their fair values. Save for

those disclosed above, other payables and accruals are

non-interest-bearing and are normally has no fixed term of
settlement.

REEGE T RRAMT  BRBRE
BEHRHE=ZZ=E+FRFRE Bt E
mANE SR - A TSR - (R
BBz eBDREEEIBEEER
RERKFZBEHABELE o Bt EAETY
EfmE - WEAEEN MEK -

FrESBRAREE - FubH e 308 R ER
ERZREEREAEATEZAENN -
Bk Lt EEON - BN RIB R ERT B RS
et LEEEEEDRR -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S 75 R R B aE

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE—Z—+F+—-A=+—HILFE)

25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 25. 817 K% H it B &2k
BORROWINGS

31 December 2017 31 December 2016
“E-tEtZR=1-R “E-nEtZA=1-H
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity HK$ 000 rate (%) Maturity HK$ 000
FHEE kS
s &1 (%) H#A AT
Current; 04
Bank loans — uaranteed BORT - CER o 87 08 5045 8511 0§ 558
Bank loans — quaranteed and secured ~ RAET — ZEMRER ) 87 2018 4,78 - - -
Interest-bearing other borrowings EfHERS
Related parties — unsecured B - EER (f 56 2018 2005 56 017 2038
Related parties — unsecured B — BER (f 3 2018 11,647 3 w017 1,561
A Third party — unsecured §=5 — EEf 5 2018 2345 = = =
A Third party — unsecured £=5 — EER - - - b 07 5588
A Third party — unsecured §=5 — EER - - - 2 017 42
Current portion of long-term borrowings ~ REER 2SS
Bank loans — quaranteed FeR - BER (o 5% above PBOC 018 5,98 5% above PBOC 017 5031
benchmark lending rate benchmark lending rate
NTEEERAE MIEEEIHZ
LR5% i)
Related parties — unsecured By - BER 3 W8 292,361 3 017 2676%
Related parties — unsecured B — BER 3 2018 78,015 3 017 71399
Related parties — unsecured Fﬁﬂ?ﬁi EfR 3 w18 137,107 3 2018 -
A Third party — secured £ - B4R (o) 10 018 1289 = = =
Totel ait 597,610 465,880
Non-current; b1
Bank loans — guaranteed Bk —BER (o H%abovePBOC 2019~ 103,360 5% above PROC 20182029 107,768
benchmark lending rate 209 benchmark lending rate
AFEEERHZ MIEREGHE
LE5% L#5%
Interest-bearing other borrowings EHHSER
Releted parties — unsecured Bin — 2R 3 2020 1,954 3 018 141607
A Third party — secured BY, - oER (t) 10 2021 34,87 = = =
A Third party — quaranteed F25 —BER (c] PBOC benchmark 2022 358,690 PBOC benchmark 2022 335,380
lending rate lending rate
ATEEERHZ MTERERHE
A Third party — guaranteed 255 —BER (o) 2 204 29,907 - = -
528,398 584,755
Totel fit 1,126,008 1,060,635
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZE—=

25.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

—tEFFT-A=+—HLFE)

25. RITREMHEERE)

2017 2016
—B—+F —E—REF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET &
Analysed into: V=
Bank loans and overdrafts ERITEERES
repayable:
Within one year or on demand —FRYEERER 61,012 60,928
In the second year E-FR 5,981 5,690
In the third to fifth years, F=ZZRFAN(EEMEBELEA)
inclusive 11,963 14,533
Beyond five years HBAF 85,416 87,645
164,372 168,696
Other borrowings repayable: Hofth FE & 5K
Within one year —FRN 536,598 404,952
In the second year F-FR - 141,607
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F-EERFN(EEMEBEEAN) 395,131 =
Beyond five years BBAF 29,907 335,380
961,636 881,939
Total &t 1,126,008 1,050,635
Notes: BiEr
(@)  The loan matured on 30 June 2016. Guarantee from (a EBERERZZE—AR"E~NA=1+HEH
Hanergy Holding did not release upon maturity. o JERE TR R AT R R B HABF 15 K
The borrower, Apollo Precision (Fujian) Ltd (”Fujian %%ﬂf R-ZZE—RNFNA=1+H"
Apollo”), a subsidiary of the Company, did not ERFEEMAGRELIIXFEER A A
repay the loan as contracted on 30 June 2016. An ((EEHEB | AR2rzZHWE R A)

interest penalty thus incurred and was calculated at
an annual rate of 30% above the contracted interest
rate. On 2 September 2016, RMB42,000,000 of the
aforementioned loan was extended at an annual
rate of 8.7% with maturity to September 2017 and
guaranteed by Hanergy Holding. The loan was further
renewed to September 2018 at its maturity. The
remaining balance of RMB8,000,000 defaulted loan
has been repaid before 30 June 2017.

YEZNEEEER - WEME S
8 o 5 BIRKE M B M30% 2 F F =
HE -R-_ZT—XRENA-R Lt
ERFRE AR 42,000,000 7T A 4 A
KBTI ETEH RZF—tFNA

I WHIERIERER - ZERE
RE B E - FEHE—T— \F N

A o Het AR# 8,000,000 T2 @ HfE
BEERZZ—tFRA=THAEE -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

(c)

(e)

(f)

The bank borrowings are secured by property,
plant and equipment with a net book value before
impairment of RMB9,128,000 (be equivalent to
HK$10,920,000) held by Fujian Apollo, and guaranteed
by Hanergy Holding.

The bank borrowings and other borrowings are
guaranteed by Hanergy Holding.

The balances were a borrowing from Utica Leaseco
LLC., with the principal of USD6,600,000. The
borrowing covered a period of 51 months and was
secured by the pledged property, plant and equipment
of Alta Devices Inc. with a net book value before
impairment of USD12,433,000.

The other borrowings are guaranteed by Hanergy
Equipment Technology Group Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of
the Company.

Default of borrowings from Hanergy Affiliates

Hanergy Thin Film Power UK Ltd., a subsidiary of
the Company, did not repay the loan from Hanergy
Global Investment And Sales Pte Ltd., one of Hanergy
Affiliates, as contracted on its maturity date 18 May
2017. The loan principal was SGD300,000 with an
annual interest rate of 5%. As stipulated in the original
contract, there would be no penalty if borrower failed
to make payment of the loan, thus no penalty was
charged by Hanergy Global Investment And Sales Pte
Ltd. in the event.

Hanergy Thin Film Power America Inc., a subsidiary
of the Company, did not repay a loan from Hanergy
Holding America, Inc., one of Hanergy Affiliates, as
contracted on its maturity date 30 June 2017. The
unpaid loan principle was USD200,000 with an annual
interest rate of 3%. As stipulated in the original
contract, the parties agreed and acknowledged
that there would be no financial or other penalty if
borrower failed to make payment of the loan, thus no
penalty was charged by Hanergy Holding America, Inc.
in the event.

As at 31 December 2017, the remaining default bank
loans of SGD300,000 and USD200,000 were still
unpaid and incurred no penalty.

25. |ITREMHEERE)

Hiet - (&)

(b)

(e)

(f)

SBITIE R BRI A RERNR
R E A A R%9,128,000 7T (#HE R
10,920,000 8 70) Z W% - BB M &E
P& 4 30 /R 22 RE PR AR HEAR o

SRTT 18 3R N B At £ 5K Eh 0% BE 4% AR it

#% 4 #% 5 K B Utica Leaseco LLC.

%8 5 6,600,0003 T 2 & & °

BERREZHEAIEA XA

Alta Devices Inc. BB AT 8RB /FE A

12,433,000 T2 EEHYWE - B FE
RABATIRIR -

HAfE 5B A R B MME R REEER
M SEAER A RRMEIER -

/R FE 1) RE B B A RIE K

A A & M B A FlHanergy Thin Film
Power UK Ltd. 3 &2 47 R EI#A A
ZE—tFRATN\BEEHZE
%8B /A &) Hanergy Global Investment
And Sales Pte Ltd. Rtz EFHK - B
XN % 58 £ 300,000 37 i3 T 0 F F
KR5% o RIREKIFTHE » MIERA
REZHNER BTISELSTE - &
Ilt Hanergy Global Investment And
Sales Pte Ltd. 37 & Bt E UKER ST & ©

X 7] [t B A & Hanergy Thin Film
Power America Inc. i £ % 4 & %
A= —+tHFA=1+RHEZS
— B 72 8L B B /A ) Hanergy Holding
America, Inc. iRt 2 B RH &
AL 58 /5200,000E T 0 FF KA
3%  BRAHFET  sINEFHE
WHERMEBERAREINLER - &1
SEAPBIEMEE] - HUk Hanergy
Holding America, Inc. 3 £ &t it W R

g e

R-_ZT—+t&+-_A=+—8" ' &T
H6 /R K 38 2 $8 77 B $X300,000 ¥ A0 3
JC &% 200,000 T HAZf S BT
ELAMES o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

26. DEFERRED TAX 26. ELEBIIE

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets

during the year are as follows:

ENEEREARREAEZ EHNT

Recognition
of
differences
on revenue
of
construction  Withholding
contracts Tax Total
BRER
ERWAZRE BB =
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET &
1 January 2016 “E-R"¥—H—H (8,355) (409,051) (417,406)
Deferred tax credited to the FARNERREMEZEY

statement of profit or loss and mRPETAZELERIR

other comprehensive income (H17£9)

during the year (note 9) 8,187 8,194 16,381
Exchange realignment D i R 168 (363) (195)
At 31 December 2016 and RZZE—RF+ZA

1 January 2017 =+—Ak

—Z—+F—-H-H — (401,220) (401,220)
Deferred tax (charged)/credited FRFPMEZF (k)

to profit or loss during the year STAZBIERIB(HE9)

(note 9) (129,014) 51,411 (77,603)
Exchange realignment M W R (4,840) 5,615 775
At 31 December 2017 R-_ZE—tF+=A

=+—H (133,854) (344,194) (478,048)




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

26. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 26. IELEFIE &)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets
and liabilities have been offset in the statement of
financial position. The following is an analysis of
the deferred tax balances of the Group for financial
reporting purposes:

REJZBENME  BETECHREAEE
REBBERMBARKALE - ATR
RHB2HRENME  AEERELEHREA
BERZ T

Net deferred tax liabilities recognised
in the consolidated statement of
financial position

RER B MM R TR
FEEHIRRE

2017 2016
—E—+F g
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET
(478,048) (401,220)

The Group has tax losses of HK$6,990,988,000 (2016:
HK$5,953,729,000) that are available for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in
which the losses arose, subject to the rules of the tax
jurisdictions in which the Group operates. Deferred
tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
HK$6,990,988,000 (2016: HK$5,953,729,000) as they
have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making
for some time and it is not considered probable that
taxable profits will be available against which the tax
losses can be utilised.

Included in the unrecognised tax losses,
HK$6,990,988,000 (2016: HK$5,953,729,000) will
expire at various dates from 2018 to 2022, if unused.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised on
the Group's deductible temporary differences of
HK$10,158,252,000 as of 31 December 2017 (2016:
HK$10,315,948,000) as it is not considered probable
that taxable profits will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences can be utilised in
the foreseeable future.

7R £ B 2 7 7% E518 6,990,988,000 7 7T

—ZF — N4 :5,953,729,00058 7T ) 7]
A B & R ER T a AR 2 37 A
ZHERT AUEBHEELEBEZARZ
RRERTREN - BRNZEEEHES
B—BEEZHBARMES @ WiKE
7 T] BE 7B FE R & B AT A E IR SE AR 7%
B 98+ BV 4 5 7% 6,990,988,000 7% 7T
— T — N4 : 5,953,729,000% 5T ) e
RELEFHEEE °

AEBRRZ2HEEBERF B
6,990,988,0007 (= T — X F:
5,953,729,000& T ) AR E A - AR
T N\FEZE__FEm

BN R AR B i 2RI A gE A FER R A
FMUBAEREZE VERAEER =
E—+tF+=ZA=+—BzaMFHEK
B 2= %810,158,252,000/8 T (=T — X
% :10,315,948,000/8 T ) R IE T T
BEE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. BRZA
Shares (a) Mo
2017 2016
—E—tHF —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Authorised: ERE
64,000,000,000 (2016: 64,000,000,000 %
64,000,000,000) ordinary shares (ZT—RF:
of HK$0.0025 each 64,000,000,000 %) &
BREI{E 0.0025 B L2 &
LEilhe 160,000 160,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRERE -
42,145,676,000 (2016: 42,145,676,000 %
41,859,051,000) ordinary shares (Z2—REF:
of HK$0.0025 each 41,859,051,000 %)
FARMEE0.0025 %8 7T
2 E R 105,364 104,647
A summary of the transactions during the year FRNZRSGEENT :
is as follow:
Number of Share
shares Issued premium
in issue capital account Total
ERTRAHE ERTRA R EER ag
000 shares HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
7# i3 23 i3
At 31 December 2015 and RZE-RE+-A=t-Ak
1 January 2016 “5-rE-A-H 41,747,101 104,367 11,217 664 11,322,031
Exercise of share options (note 28) nEEREmZ2)
— Share options granted to the — RTFEEERREREY
consultants and the management HIREH2260)
of the Group (note 28(b)) 41,800 105 6,851 6,956
— Other Option II (note 28(c)(i) — BRI (2 280) 70,120 175 11,493 11,668
— Other Option 11l {note 28(c)i) — HABRIEN (2 280)0)) 30 = 7 7
111,950 280 18,351 18,631
Transfer from share option reserve EHERRERE
(note 29iv)) (Wi 290) - - 8,606 8,606
Sub-total Nt 111,950 280 26,957 21,237
At 31 December 2016 RZE2—"ET-A=1-H 41,859,051 104,647 11,244,621 11,349,268




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE—Z—+F+—-A=+—HILFE)

27. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

27. BA& (&)

(a) Shares (continued) (a) B2 (#&)
Number of Share
shares Issued premium
in issue capital account Total
ERTRAEEA 2RTRA RARER a5
000 shares HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
7 i Fi i3
At 31 December 2016 and RZEB—ETZA=+-Hk
1 January 2017 “2-+#-f-H 41,859,051 104,647 11,244,621 11,349,268
Exercise of share options (note 28) nEBREmZ2)
— Other Option 11l {note 28(c)i) — HAOERIEN (2 280)1)) 286,625 71 70,940 71,657
At 31 December 2017 R=E-+5+-A=1-A 42,145,676 105,364 11,315,561 11,420,925
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE —Z—

27. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(b)

Subscription rights

On 20 May 2010, Fujian Apollo, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and
Hanergy Holding entered into a sales contract
(the “2010 Sales Contract”) pursuant to which
Fujian Apollo agreed to sell, and Hanergy Holding
agreed to purchase the turnkey equipment, tools
and machinery of solar PV module production
system with annual production capacity of
3,000 MW to be delivered in three batches
for a total contract sum of US$2.55 billion. On
the same date, the Company entered into a
subscription agreement (the “2010 Subscription
Agreement”) with Hanergy Holding. According
to the 2010 Subscription Agreement, subject
to the fulfilment or waiver of the conditions
set out in the 2010 Subscription Agreement,
Hanergy Holding is entitled to subscribe for
an aggregate of 4,911,528,960 shares of the
Company, in three tranches, namely the first
batch of 1,964,611,584 shares, the second batch
of 1,473,458,688 shares and the third batch of
1,473,458,688 shares. The subscription price is
HK$0.239 per share. Pursuant to the supplement
entered into on 18 September 2011, the
exercise price for the second batch and the third
tranche of the 2010 Subscription Agreement
was revised to HK$0.12 per share and HK$0.1
per share, respectively. The exercise period of
the 2010 Subscription Agreement was in the
following manner:

tET-A=+—HLFE)

27. BRA& (&)
(b) RMEHE
R-Z-ZFAA_+H  BEH

GB(ARRZEEZENBRR)

EEREERAVHEHEARI =%
—ZFHEQR) Bt BE

SAGERELEMmERIERERE
fE A FEBERE A 3,000MW 2 K

GREARKATEERR ZBER
f% C TAR#ES S0 =R

BEREEE25EET - KA
SN/ ﬂ;ﬁi/%ﬁt} SRS R
#(ZZ2—ZFRABH=E] - 1R

B-F-TEREGH 5T
— R U R R R A R
BHE  HEERAES =MD

B84 3£4,911,528,960 B A& A &l i
fp  BNZE—1t1,964,611,5684 f% -
55 —#t1,473,458,688 % [ 55 = #it
1,473,458,688 % - RIEE B EK
0.23987L - RER=ZZF——F N1
AT NBRIN 2 fxmthaz - —F—
TERERZIE_MRE=HZ
TEED RS

5 AFR0.12 7T
NER0NBITL =&

—TERB
Bk 2 TTIEEAAN T ¢



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

27. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(b) Subscription rights (continued)

Exercise periods

27. BRA& (&)
(b) FREERE(E

TS

Number of
rights
REEHE

On the third business day after the
payment by Hanergy Holding in
respect of the 2010 Sales Contract
received by Fujian Apollo to be not
less than HK$3.3 billion

On the third business day after i) the
payment by Hanergy Holding in
respect of the 2010 Sales Contract
received by Fujian Apollo to be not
less than HK$5 billion and ii) the down
payment of not less than 8% of the
consideration of the second batch
production lines in respect of the
2010 Sales Contract, or upon Hanergy
Holding having given an irrevocable
undertaking to pay within 24 months
from the date to complete such batch

On the third business day after i) the
payment by Hanergy Holding in
respect of the 2010 Sales Contract
received by Fujian Apollo to be not
less than HK$6 billion and ii) the
down payment of not less than 8%
of the consideration of the third batch
production lines in respect of the
2010 Sales Contract, or upon Hanergy
Holding having given an irrevocable
undertaking to pay within 24 months
from the date to complete such batch

BEZAGKBEE IR — T —

TEHESRXNTIRN3E3
BETRFE=AEEA

i) 18 S5 Y B R eI A —

T —TFHESRIZNT AR
BOEHEIT: M) —E—F
FHEARZAITDRE A
FERREBS% 2 AEATE
S » HNERIEIR AT
B AR BN Z LT B 218
FF24 @A AL ZRIERE
= Fl=

)RR EIREE RS —F

—ZEEHESRZNTIR

60EETL Rl —F

FHEERZNTPRE=H
HERNRE’% 2 HEIEATE
NE®  SRNEBEERT AT
= R R T sz BESE K B AR AR
24 @A AN ZHIBESE
=EE%ER

1,964,611,5684

1,473,458,688

1,473,458,688

4,911,528,960
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

27. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(b)

Subscription rights (continued)

On 18 September 2011,
and Hanergy Holding entered into a sales
“2011 Sales Contract”) in
relation to, among others, the sale of the

Fujian Apollo

contract (the

turnkey equipment, tools and machinery of
solar PV module production system with
annual production capacity of 7,000 MW
to be delivered in three batches and the
provisions of the technical and engineering
support, training services and the grant of a
software licence in relation to the equipments
by Fujian Apollo to Hanergy Holding, for an
aggregate consideration of US$5.95 billion. On
the same date, the Company entered into a
subscription agreement (the “2011 Subscription
Agreement”) with Hanergy Holding. According
to the 2011 Subscription Agreement, subject
to the fulfilment or waiver of the conditions
set out in the 2011 Subscription Agreement,
Hanergy Holding is entitled to subscribe for, in
three tranches, an aggregate of 18,000,000,000
shares of the Company at the subscription price
of HK$0.1 per share. The exercise period of
the 2011 Subscription Agreement was in the
following manner:

27. BRA& (&)

(b)

RZE—FNATN\R - BEH
PELZREIERFIVIHESR([ =2
——FHERR]) AR BBHH
FEE)EEFERERR7,000
MW 2 K B5 88 ¢ K748 1 £ 2 R 4
ZERELE TARMKSE  Bo=
HER AT - AR AR M B2 AR
REBEREEMTE TR ER
%~ SEFI RS R AR R A
BREABLISEEIT REA -
N B B RE AR IS AT 37 R BE T ak
([Z2——SRBWHR]) - BIE
TR F2F——
FREE W R T E AR = A S E R
® o EREREES HRESH
18,000,000,000 % 2 2 7] f% 15
REEBAER0IBT —T——
FREHESEZITEHAT :



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

27. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 27. BRA (%)
(b) Subscription rights (continued) (b) REBREE)
Number of
rights
Exercise periods 1T 1A RBE"A
Within one year after the cumulative Zm@‘fﬂﬁﬁ”ﬂuﬂ T——FH
consideration in respect of the BEARZRFTRETDR
2011 Sales Contract received by 1,800,000,000 & 7012 —F N
Fujian Apollo to be not less than
HK$1,800,000,000 6,000,000,000
Within one year after the cumulative Za%fﬂ%”ﬂl | =T ——454H
consideration in respect of the ERZZFRETDR
2011 Sales Contract received by 3,600,000,000/%7E{§—¢W
Fujian Apollo to be not less than
HK$3,600,000,000 6,000,000,000
Within one year after the cumulative BEMAGWE =T ——F
consideration in respect of the EERZAZFRETLR
2011 Sales Contract received by 6,300,000,000 /87012 —F K

Fujian Apollo to be not less than
HK$6,300,000,000

6,000,000,000

18,000,000,000

On 28 September 2011, the Company and
Hanergy Holding entered into a subscription
agreement (“Incentive Agreement”), pursuant
to which Hanergy Holding is entitled to
subscribe for 3 billion shares of the Company
at the subscription price of HK$0.10 per share,
upon the fulfilment of the conditions precedent
under the Incentive Agreement, among others,
the completion of subscription for all three
batches of the 2011 Subscription Agreement
by 31 October 2013. On 31 October 2013, the
Company and Hanergy Holding entered into
supplemental agreement to extend the expiry
date from 31 October 2013 to 31 October 2014.

RZZ—FNA=FTN\B  &RQ
A ELE A IR T S R 1k ([ 28 /B
W) - B FREE R
EH(EPaER-_E2—=F1A
E+—Eﬁ%ﬁ:%——¢ﬁ$%
BZETAZBLRE)ERE OB
TRAERTRI0B T RE
EREBIOERARARMD - R
T—=F+A=+—B  ARAFHE
EEREIEIRET T ek - LA B ED
BHE=-ZT—=F+A=1+—HE&#%
—E-mFE+A=+—H-
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

27. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(b)

Subscription rights (continued)

On 28 December 2012, the ordinary resolution
approving the Whitewash Waiver was duly
passed by the independent shareholders of the
Company. From that date, all the pre-conditions
of the 2010 Subscription Agreement and 2011
Subscription Agreement have been substantially
met except the obtaining by the Company of the
written consent from all the bondholders of the
convertible bonds issued in 2009 (“Convertible
Bonds"”) to waive any adjustment to the
conversion price pursuant to the provisions of
the Convertible Bonds caused by the transactions
contemplated under the 2010 Subscription
Agreement and 2011 Subscription Agreement
("Convertible Bondholders’ Waiver”).

On 27 February 2013, pursuant to the obtaining
of the Convertible Bondholders’” Waiver and
the cumulative payment received by Fujian
Apollo over HK$3.3 billion and HK$1.8 billion
in respect of the 2010 Sales Contract and
the 2011 Sales Contract, respectively, the
Company completed the issue and allotment of
the first tranche subscription of 1,964,611,584
shares of the 2010 Subscription Agreement
(“2010 First Subscription”) and the first
tranche subscription of 6,000,000,000 shares
of the 2011 Subscription Agreement (“2011
First Subscription”) in respect of the 2010
sales contract and the 2011 sales contract,
respectively to Hanergy Investment, a company
wholly-owned by Hanergy Affiliates, at the
subscription prices of HK$0.239 per share and
HK$0.1 per share, respectively.

On 24 September 2013, pursuant to the
obtaining of the Convertible Bondholders’ Waiver
and the cumulative payment received by Fujian
Apollo over HK$3.6 billion in respect of the
2011 Sales Contract, the second batch of the
6,000,000,000 shares of the 2011 Subscription
Agreement (the “2011 Second Subscription”)
was issued and allotted to Hanergy Investment,
at the subscription price of HK$0.1 per share.

27. BRA& (&)

(b)

RREE)

RZZE——F+=—A=+/\8 ' #it
R E TRRABEREERR
AIBV R IENBE - AE AL -
—EEFREHE R ——F
REHZE B ERGHERE E
ERK  EARAM_EENFE R
TaBmEEF(TREES )
FIEEHFRFAEANGEERE @ #
BEBRBE_T-—ZFREHZE L=
T ——FRBHRREET IR FE
BRI A AR EFH 2 G308 K (E
{ER Z R TR SN[ TR E 2
BEARR]) -

R-ZE—=F_FA=—++H  BE
MBI BRESFEARE UK
ERAES —E—SENESRAR
ZE——FHEARDFIWEIRET
NRBBEIBEETRISESIT -
KRRDRI =T —TFHESR
T ——FHEARTEN D AR
REBEEFR0.239%8 T M EAX0.1
BILMERBBARZERAZA
Al Hanergy Investment 217 K& A¢
BT -TFRBHEETE M
P8 1,964,611,684 KM (==
—EFFE-EHRBETE|)RKR_-Z
—— FREHZETE —HRE
6,000,000,000 fz iz 7 ([ =& — —
FHE—ERBEHE]) -

R-ZE—=FNA-_F+WH: IR
BRFARKRESHEBEARE
IR ERABGH — T ——FiHE
A RIUE 255 5 2 1 36 1878
T T —RBHECES
#£6,000,000,000 % A% 15 B #% R
BESRONBLTEITREE T
Hanergy Investment ([ =& ——

FE_RABEE]) -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

27. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(b)

Subscription rights (continued)

On 2 September 2014, pursuant to the obtaining
of the Convertible Bondholders’ Waiver and the
cumulative payment received by Fujian Apollo
over HK$6.3 billion in respect of the 2011 Sales
Contract, the third batch of the 6,000,000,000
shares of the 2011 Subscription Agreement
(the “2011 Third Subscription”) was issued
and allotted to Hanergy Investment, at the
subscription price of HK$0.1 per share. Upon
the completion for all three batches of the
2011 Subscription Agreement, 3,000,000,000
shares of the Incentive Agreement were issued
and allotted to Hanergy Investment, at the
subscription price of HK$0.1 per share.

The following table summarises the subscription
right transactions during the years:

27. BRA& (&)

(b)

R=ZFE—MNFEALA=R  AEE
TBMBREFFAEA#RSE  ME
BEEGH® T —FHES
B U 2| 2 R 5 5K I8 &8 @863 18 5
TR —ERBHETE=
#6,000,000,000 8% f& (= &
——EF-ERBEE])ERR
BESR01ABILETREE T E
BERE - R -—_E——FREW
EAEH=BE BEBETZ
3,000,000,000 & J& (5 B 12 REEE
B 0.1 BT RALE TERER
gf o

TRAGE RS2 RIEERS -

Weighted
Subscription average
rights exercise
outstanding price
AT I
RIBE TR
‘000 HK$
77 BT
Outstanding at 31 December 2015 RZE-—AF+-A=+—-HR
and 1 January 2016 —T-R"F-R-ARKIE 2,946,917 0.11
Outstanding at 31 December 2016 RZE-—RETZA=t—-H0kK
and 1 January 2017 2t E-A-ARKRTE 2,946,917 0.11
Outstanding at 31 December 2017 RZE—+E+-A=+—BHKTE 2,946,917 0.11
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE —Z—

28. SHARE OPTIONS

(a)

Share option scheme

Pursuant to a resolution passed on 28 August
2007, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the “Scheme”) relating to the grant
of share options to directors, employees and
other participants (the “Grantee”) including
consultants, advisers, suppliers and customers

of the Group.

The directors may specify the minimum period,
if any, for which an option must be held or
the performance targets, if any, that must be
achieved by the Grantee before the option can
be exercised.

Share options may be granted without any initial
payment and at an exercise price (subject to
adjustments as provided therein) equal to the
highest of (i) the nominal value of the shares;
(i) the closing price per share as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the
date of the grant of the share option; and (iii) the
average of the closing prices per share as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets
for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of the grant of the share option.

The maximum number of shares which may be
issued upon the exercise of all options to be
granted under the Scheme and any other share
option scheme(s) of the Company shall not
exceed 10% of the share capital of the Company
in issue on 28 August 2007, the date of adoption
of the Scheme, unless a refresh approval of the
shareholders is obtained.

tET-A=+—HLFE)

8. BB
(a) HERRAESTE
BER-_ZEZEL+HFENA=-+N\H
BB RER - ARQRIRM—IEHE

B (28 RAEE 2
Ex EEREM2EE(ER
Al BEER - BAA - HERD
REF)EHBRAE -

Sy e EERBRERETENL
ARFA Z &EREI(IE ) TER A
VREHZRBBZ(NAE) -

B F] BB S HERI N SRR M
B TERECGIRERREZS

XNAB)HER TV =R z2&5
()R Z2EE: (i) RHRE
AR 2 B TEH ?&Pﬁtﬁ#ﬁz{ﬁ?\%
Pt 2 BRI TR 5 R (i) iR R

ERBERERLER ﬁfEE{IM% H
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE —Z—

28. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(a)

Share option scheme (continued)

Pursuant to the special general meeting held
on 11 June 2010, the resolution approving the
renewal of the 10% of the general limit was
passed by the shareholders and the maximum
number of shares which may be issued upon the
exercise of all options to be granted under the
Scheme and any other share option scheme(s)
of the Company shall not exceed 10% of the
share capital of the Company in issue on 11
June 2010. The total number of shares available
for issue under the Scheme is 461,224,947
(representing 10% of the issued share capital
of the Company as at the date of passing the
resolution to refresh the 10% limit).

The maximum number of the shares (issued and
to be issued) in respect of which share options
may be granted under the Scheme to any one
Grantee in any 12-month period shall not exceed
1% of the share capital of the Company in issue
on the last date of such 12-month period unless
approval of the shareholders of the Company
has been obtained in accordance with the Listing
Rules.

The Scheme was approved by the shareholders
of the Company on 28 August 2007 and has a
life of 10 years until 27 August 2017.

tET-A=+—HLFE)

(a)

8. Bl &)

BRERE(E)

BER-ZT—ZFF A +—B81T
ZBRERENARE - HLEEF10%
— R LR 2 R TRIERR R - 1M
BT R IREZ T8 RA R A HE
R ET S TRE 225
AR Al e BT 2 R &= 2 E
> ﬁ‘h?@Z’KA AIRZZ—ZFF X
ﬂ+f528%ﬁ%$2m%o
AR R I BT 2 RIDEE R
461,224y947ﬁi<ﬁ51KLxﬂ 7 7 i B
EH10% LR ZRZRERAZE
BEITRA10%) ©

RAER 12 1E B BRI AR & % 5t 81 3%
TR —BAER A BREEFT IS R
ZBRHhE=EE (BEITRE T
TT)T\H&%@ﬁA AIREZ 12 1@ A 85

MxE—BZBETRAZ1% -
MERE EMAR R ERE AR EREE
Z BUIEEBRAN o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

28. SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 28.

(b) Share options granted to the consultants and (b)
the management of the Group

BREZ)
BYIAEEEEREERB 2 BRE

PATR VAR AD A BT 2 (R BE R
MR ARITIEE :

The following share based payment arrangements
were outstanding during the year:

2017 2016
“E-tE% —EF
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise price \VIplo-IQ  exercise price Number
per share of options per share of options
SR ME SRR NE
FATEER BREHE FHTEE RS A
HK$ ‘000 HK$ ‘000
BT BT T
At 1 January R—A—H 3.4088 67,080 2.0605 151,855
Granted during the year FARE - - = =
Exercised during the year ~ FR{TfE - - 0.1664 (41,800)
Lapsed during the year FRRM 2.9632 (14,290) 15203 (36,100)
Expired during the year FREIH 3.4233 (6,230) 3.2577 (6,875)
Outstanding at 31 December 1 +=A
=+—H
AT 3.5435 46,560 3.4088 67,080
Exercisable at 31 December 1= A
=t+-A
Qikhy:d 3.4233 6,230 3.3050 7,940

256

There was no exercise for share options during
the year. As the trading of the Company's
shares had been suspended since 20 May 2015,
the weighted average share price at the date of
exercise for share options exercised during 2016
could not be determined.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company
had 46,560,000 share options outstanding under
the aforesaid options as listed in the table
above. The exercise in full of the outstanding
share options would, under the present capital
structure of the Company, result in the issue
of 46,560,000 additional ordinary shares of
the Company and additional share capital of
HK$116,400 (before issue expenses).

FABEBREETE - HRAR
ARMBE-_T-—RAFAA-_THIR
X—BEREEFEEE  RTEEER
—E-RNEFRABTEBRERITE
B8 g IRE -

RBRERR - AR RIRIEZ LaiE
% # 45 46,560,000 15 B A% 1 14 7
1T - WEEITE®RTERRK
¥ RBAQREERAERE
15 3£ 77 46,560,000 A% 2N A 7] 3 1%
TR - WHTHARAN 116,400 87T
(RIBREETTRA) ©



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

28. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(b)

Share options granted to the consultants and
the management of the Group (continued)

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the
share options outstanding as at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

Number of options

Exercise price*

8. Bl &)

(b) BRFA-KEERAREERE2BRE
(&)

BATR S BSR4 R 1T 52 2 B R 2 77
EERERNT :

Exercise period

BREYA TEE* fid]
Granted to 2016 HK$ per share
BT —E2F BRET

‘000

&
Management of the ~ K& - — 0.1664 16 December 2011 to
Group | (i) EEEI() 15 December 2016
“F——%+-R+AHZE
ZE—"EtZATHA
Management of the ~ A%E 22,960 35,040 1.716 27 October 2014 to
Group I i BREI (i) 31 October 2019
“E-RE+AZTLAE
ZE-NFTHA=T-H
Management of the ~ A& 11,360 16,020 3.61 30 January 2015 to
Group 11 (i) EREI (i) 29 January 2020
“Z-A%-A=tR%
“Z-ZE-A-1hA
Management of the ~ A% 12,240 16,020 6.91 16 April 2015 to
Group IV (iv) EBE (i) 16 April 2020
“2-REEATARE
“T_ZENATEA

46,560 67,080
& The exercise price of the share options is * PEARAE 2 TR BRI R AT AR B 1T 2K

subject to adjustment in the case of rights on
bonus issues, or other similar changes in the
Company’s share capital.

AR A 3R A AR B B B
TR FE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

28. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(b)

Share options granted to the consultants and
the management of the Group (continued)

Notes:

(i) On 16 December 2011, the Company granted
100,000,000 share options to the management
of the Group for no consideration at an exercise
price of HK$0.1664 per share. The exercise
periods of the share options granted to the

28. BRE#)

(b) BRFA-KEERAREERE2BRE
(&)

wizt :

(i) MZE——F+=-A+B &
A RIAZ KRB 100,000,000
MERETASEEERE @ 17
BAER0.1664B L - R T A
SEEEE 2 BRE ZTESN

management of the Group are as follows: I

Number of options
Exercise periods 1T1EHE BRERE
‘000
F17

16 December 2011 to 15 December 2016 —Z——%+=-A+/xBE
—ZE-—XF+=-A+HH 10,000

16 December 2012 to 15 December 2016 —Z——F+=-A+,xBE
—ET—XF+=-A+HH 10,000

16 December 2013 to 15 December 2016 —Z—=%+=-H+,xBZE
—E—XRF+=-A+HH 10,000

16 December 2014 to 15 December 2016  —Z—ME+=-F+xBE
—ET—XRF+=-A+HH 10,000

16 December 2015 to 15 December 2016 —Z—RF+=- A+ XBE
—T—XRF+=-A+HH 60,000
100,000

(i) On 27 October 2014, the Company announced to
grant 68,300,000 share options to the employees
of the Group for HK$1 as a consideration by
each of the Grantees at an exercise price of
HK$1.716 per share under the Scheme approved
by the shareholders of the Company on
28 August 2007 (note 28(a)). As at 31 December
2014, 63,100,000 share options were validly
accepted.

(i), R=ZT—MNF+A=++tHB:
ARARBEARRBRER=-Z
TEtFNAZFTNBHEZZ
FE AAEEEEAMEL
68,300,00017 Rk # - RE A
BUARAVEL  THEERS
f%1.7167%8 7T(Mt 7 28(a)) ° B
T NmMFE+=ZA=+—8 "
63,100,000 {7 FEARAE 1% B B 4 o



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

28. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(b) Share options granted to the consultants and
the management of the Group (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(i)

(iii)

(continued)

The exercise periods of the share options
granted to the employees of the Group are as
follows:

28. BRE#)
(b) BFAEEERREEEBRE

(&

Hret - (&)

BTAEEES ZERE 21T
BN

Number of options

Exercise periods Cagcd BREHE
‘000

Fl7

27 October 2014 to 31 October 2015 —E-ME+A-++AE-E-AE+A=1—H 6,310
1 November 2015 to 31 October 2016 —E-RF+-P-HE-E-AF+A=t+-H 6,310
1 November 2016 to 31 October 2017 —E—NEt+-A-BE-Z—+5t+A=1+—H 6,310
1 November 2017 to 31 October 2018 —Z—+%+—fF-HE-_Z—-/\&t+A=+—H 6,310
1 November 2018 to 31 October 2019 —Z-\f+-A—-HBZE=Z-h"F+A=1—H 37,860
63,100

On 30 January 2015, the Company announced to
grant 19,300,000 share options to the employees
of the Group for HK$1 as consideration by each
of the Grantees at an exercise price of HK$3.61
per share under the Scheme approved by the
shareholders of the Company on 28 August
2007 (note 28(a)). As at 31 December 2015,
17,800,000 share options were validly accepted.

The exercise periods of the share options granted
to the empolyees of the Group are as follows:

(iii)

R=ZB—RF—A=+H &R
ARBARRRRR =T LF
NAZ+N\B#EZZAE - |
AEEE B A 19,300,000
MERE REASMLEAEA
18T TEERTRI6E
Jo(fisE28(a)) e R=ZZFE—HF
+=A=+—8 17,800,000
PR A AR o

BIASEIES 2 BREZITE
BN

Number of options

Exercise periods Cagid BREHE
‘000

F7

30 January 2015 to 29 January 2016 —T-Rf-RA=+tHE-T—XF-A=-tAhH 1,780
30 January 2016 to 29 January 2017 T Rf¥-R=tHE-T—+tF-A=-thH 1,780
30 January 2017 to 29 January 2018 —E—+tF-A=tHE=F-\F—A=tAH 1,780
30 January 2018 to 29 January 2019 - \F-A=tHE=F-NE—A=thH 1,780
30 January 2019 to 29 January 2020 —Z-NF-A=t+HE-_Z-TF—A_1tAH 10,680
17,800
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

28. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(b)

28. BRE#)

Share options granted to the consultants and (b) BFAEEEEREEEZBRE

the management of the Group (continued) (%)

Notes: (continued) Htat : (#)

(iv)  On 16 April 2015, the Company announced to (v, RZZFE—RFMNA+H AA
grant 25,200,000 share options to the employees ARBEARFBRER =TT LF
of the Group for HK$1 as a consideration by NAZ+N\B#EZZTE [
each of the Grantees at an exercise price of NEE B 8 A 25,200,000
HK$6.91 per share under the Scheme approved MERE REABMEARA
by the shareholders of the Company on 28 1870 1T1E (8 A86.917%8 7t
August 2007 (note 28(a)). As at 31 December iF28(@) c R—ZE—HFE+_A
2015, 24,400,000 share options were validly =+—H ' 24,400,000 17 i& A%
accepted. WHBEER -

The exercise periods of the share options granted RTYAEBES CEREZITE

to the employees of the Group are as follows: HAZAE ¢

Number of options
Exercise periods T BREHA
‘000
Fl7
16 April 2015 to 15 April 2016 —E-RFMA+ABE_E—AENA+HA 2,440
16 April 2016 to 15 April 2017 ZE-NFENATABE-E—+tENATHA 2,440
16 April 2017 to 15 April 2018 “E—tFNATABE-F-\EEAT+HA 2,440
16 April 2018 to 15 April 2019 —E-)\FNATABE-E-NEEAT+AHA 2,440
16 April 2019 to 15 April 2020 —E-NENA+ARE-E-ZFMA+AA 14,640
24,400




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

28. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(c)

Other share options

Beside the abovementioned share-based options

issued, the Company granted the following share

options as financial instruments to the grantees.

i)

Other Options Il

On 18 September 2011, the Company
entered into an option agreement (“2011
Option Agreement”) with Hanergy
Holding, pursuant to which the Company
conditionally agreed to grant the options
(“Other Options IlI") to Hanergy Holding (or
its designated individuals or entities). The
options issued to Hanergy Holding were
mainly to ensure its signature and smooth
execution of the 2011 Sales Contract.

On 16 December 2011, after fulfilment of
the conditions precedent to each of the
2011 Option Agreements, the Company
had granted the Other Options Il to
Hanergy Option Limited (Hanergy Holding's
designated entity). The Other Options Il
were not granted under the Share Option
Scheme.

The Other Options Il entitled Hanergy
Option Limited to subscribe for an
aggregate of 1.3 billion shares of the
Company at an exercise price of HK$0.1664
per share. They will lapse upon the fifth
anniversary of the date of grant.

28. BRE#)
Hibgs e

RIF L B 81T 2 A BERRE
Pt - RNRBEARAR L AT
BRAEERERMIA -

(c)

i)

AtEREI

R-F——FNLATNEB -
AR A B B4R AR RT S B R
(-2 ——FBRE
&) B ARFE K
3[R = A BE A (Bl A 48
EZALTHER)REER
B(THEMBREN]) - 31T
TEREBRZEREIES
BRERFENEFNZRL-F
——FIHERR -

RZE——F+=ZA+ A
H REKRK-"Z——FER
EHZES B 2L RIEHE
XA B2 A Hanergy Option
Limited CRBEZER 2 EE
B M EARRE I - HAb
i R 1) 3 JE AR 4 HE AR M 5T
2T -

H fh B2 A% #E 11 B 7 Hanergy
Option Limited # & 0] %17
FEZRO0.1664BTRES
HAISERARRKRG - Hi
PR B EREFE R
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

28. SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 28. EBRE®)
(c) Other share options (continued) (c) HtmEmEE)
i) Other Options Il (continued) i)  EMERENE)
For the Other Options |l granted on 16 R-ZE——F+=ZA+/~H
December 2011, the exercise periods are BEZHmEREEN 21T
as follows: HAGN R -
Number of
options
Exercise periods 1T BREHE
‘000
Fhig
16 December 2011 to 15 December 2016 —Z——%F+—-f+,XHZE
—E-R¥+ZA+HAA 610,000
16 December 2012 to 15 December 2016 —ZE——F+-A+,B&
ZE-RE+ZA+HRA 310,000
16 December 2013 to 15 December 2016 —ZE—=%F+=-A+XB%E
“E-X"F+-A+EH 310,000
16 December 2014 to 15 December 2016 —Z—PE+ -+, HEZE
—E-R¥+ZA+HhA 10,000
16 December 2015 to 15 December 2016 —Z—RE+_A+BZ
ZE—RE+ZA+HA 60,000
1,300,000




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

28. SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 28. BBl E®)
(c) Other share options (continued) (c) HbEREE)
i) Other Options Il (continued) i)  BEREIE)

The following table summarises the
movements of the Other Options Il during

T IR B A 11 4
Pz B8 -

the year:
2017 2016
—E-t% ZERE
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise price Number exercise price Number
per share of options per share of options
Sk Bk
THTRE BREXH THEE BREHE
HK$ ‘000 HK$ ‘000
AT AT &
At 1 January itz - - 0.1664 70,122
Granted during the year ~ ERRH - - -
Exercised during the year FR{T{E - - 0.1664 (70,120)
Expired during the year — FRER - - 0.1664 (2)
At 31 December WtZA=+-H - - - -
Exercisable at WH=A=t-A
31 December Ry - - = =

As the trading of the Company's shares
had been suspended since 20 May 2015,
the weighted average share price at the
date of exercise for share options exercised
during 2016 could not be determined.

HRARBBRMNE-F—A
FEAZTEUR—BE®RY
FEE WTEBEENR_-F
—NFETEZBERENTT
5 B8 Z hnfE P RE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

28. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(c)

Other share options (continued)

ii)

Other Options Il

On 6 September 2012, the Company
and Hanergy Holding entered into an
option agreement, pursuant to which
the Company has conditionally agreed to
grant Hanergy (or such person(s) at its
direction) options (the “Other Options
I1") to subscribe for an aggregate of
600,000,000 shares of the Company at the
exercise price of HK$0.25 per share. The
Company and Hanergy Holding entered
into this option agreement to grant options
as incentive for the smooth execution and
expediting the transactions contemplated
under the 2010 Sales Contract.

On 31 December 2012, after the fulfilment
of the conditions precedent to the option
agreement, the Company had granted the
Other Options Ill to Hanergy Investment
(Hanergy Holding’'s designated entity). The
Other Options Il were not granted under
the Share Option Scheme. They will lapse
upon the fifth anniversary of the date of
grant.

28. BRE#)
HA ()

(c)

ii)

BRIl

RZE—Z—FNLANH &K
A A B RE PR IR AT M RE AR A
i - Bt ARREBK
4 b [R = 1) 2 B (Sk K PR f
AZBRAL)RLERE
(THMEREN])  iRE
BR0.25 BT 21T EREE
$600,000,000 f& A& A & B
o ANAR)EEREIEARET AL
IR - AR BB AR
RE1E B BT 28 32 K hnTRAR %
T - TFHEAREETT
2R BB -

R-ZE——F+=-A=+—
H ZEXEREBZE
RIEMHE XRAAE R
Hanergy Investment (£ g&
ERRIETE 2 B RS ) X KA R
ARAE 11 o Eo4th B AR M 111 32 JE
BIEBERETEIRD - U
B B B RB AR -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

28. SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 28. BirEE)
(c) Other share options (continued) (c) EHtER#EE)
ii)  Other Options Ill (continued) i) BiEREIN(E)

For the Other Options Ill granted to
Hanergy Investment Limited on 31
December 2012, the exercise periods are

R-ZF—-—Z_F+ZA=+—
H# ¥ Hanergy Investment
Limited Z EM BRI 2

as follows: ITEHINT :

Number of options
Exercisable period TR BREZE
‘000
Fhg

31 December 2012 to 30 December 2017 —ZE——F+-A=+—H=%
—T—+EF+-A=TH 300,000

31 December 2013 to 30 December 2017 —Z—=F+-A=+—H%
—T—+E+=ZA=+H 150,000

31 December 2014 to 30 December 2017 Z—ZE—WE&E+_A=+—HZ%
—E—+tF+=ZA=+H 150,000
600,000

The following table summarises the

TSR A AR 1 R

movement of the Other Options Il during N2 &%)
the year:
2017 2016
ZE-tF “ERNF
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise price N[V CIE  exercise price Number
per share of options per share of options
R Sk
THTEE BREHE FaTRE AR ES A
HK$ ‘000 HK$ ‘000
B Fi BT FiR
At 1 January ®—HA—H 0.25 286,625 0.25 286,655
Granted during the year FRFH - - =
Exercised during the — FR{T{E
year 0.25 (286,625) 0.25 (30)
Expired during the year FRJEm - - =
Outstanding at m+=A
31 December =+—H
RAITE - 0.25 286,625
Exercisable at 31 R+=A
December =+—-H
] 178 - - 0.25 286,625
As the trading of the Company's shares BRAAERMNBEZZE—H
had been suspended since 20 May 2015, FRAZTHUAR—EHE
the weighted average share price at FEE MTEET_Z
the date of exercise for share options —tFERZT—RFETT
exercised during 2017 and 2016 could not AR RE R 1TE B 8 2 INHE
be determined. HIRME -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

28. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(c) Other share options (continued)

ii)

Other Options Il (continued)

The exercise prices and exercise periods of
the Other Options Il outstanding as at the
end of the reporting period are as follows:

Number of options

28. BRE#)
(c) HitEEmREE)
i)  EMEREIN(E)

R HIR R AT E 2 A
R AR 111 2 716 18 12 77 55 39
m -

BREHE
31 December
+t=A=+—H
2016 Exercise price*
—TE 1T
‘000  HKS$ per share Exercise period
F15 &ZET 1TEH
- — 0.25 31 December 2012 to 30 December 2017
B _H+_A=+—HET—+F
+=A=+H
— 136,625 0.25 31 December 2013 to 30 December 2017
—E-=HFt+_A=+—HET—+F
+=A=+H
— 150,000 0.25 31 December 2014 to 30 December 2017
MO+ -A=+—HEZZT—+tHF
+=A=+H
— 286,625
2 The exercise price of the share options is * FERRAE 2 1T BR AT R AL AR

subject to adjustment in the case of rights
on bonus issues, or other similar changes
in the Company’s share capital.

At 31 December 2016, included in
the above outstanding share options,
24,874,300 were options transferred
from Hanergy Investment to the Group's

employees.

HITHA R ARAHAL
MRS BB (F it 8% -

RZE—RNF+ZA=+—
B+ bl RIT6E 2 AR AE
E - 524,874,30013 Tt
Hanergy Investment® 7k
SEHES ZERE -
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Bt 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE —Z—

28. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(c) Other share options (continued)

ii)  Other Options Il (continued)

The fair values of the options were
estimated at their grant dates using
the binomial model with the following

assumptions:

tET-A=+—HLFE)

28. BRE#)

(c) HtEREE)
i) BEMEREIN (E)

Stock price as at grant date (HK$) RHEBRZRECET)
Exercise price (HK$) IFEECET)

Earliest exercise date ST GECd=El
Maximum option life in years ERERREH
Volatility L]

Risk free rate 4 B b K

Dividend yield RSN EIE: e

Trigger price multiple R ERE

Exit rate BB LE X

The stock price for grant dates after 20
May 2015 was calculated by market value
of 100% equity interest of the Company
(the “Market Value”) divided by total
outstanding shares as at each valuation
date. The Market Value was appraised
by an independent valuer (the “Valuer”)
as the trading of the Company’'s shares
had been suspended since 20 May 2015.
The Valuer adopted the market approach,
which is basically a comparison method
which estimates market value from
analysing sales and financial data and
ratios of comparable public companies. The
Market Value was derived after a discount

of lack of marketability.

ZtEREZ A FETIIR -
BABEARE L ARERT
FIRER T IAfAET ¢

0.18~6.90*
0.25

20 April 2015 to
15 July 2017
“E-RF
MA-+BZE
—E—+F
+A+HA

1.10~2.66
44.61%~62.48%
0.07%~0.73%
0%

1x

0%

W= —hEFERA=+H
2R BELBBHNRKRE
TR NN A1 100% R4 2
TE(HEDBRASEE
B EABATIEIN 2 IR 10 A 8K
FTE o BRARFRM A
—T-hAFRAA=-THE
—EEREE mEHA—
B ER([EEA )
TERHfE o fHERNERA T IS
o EERER—EBLER
% BB B
A Bl 2 56 BB S 8%
MR fhEtTSEE -
ATy EF ABRZ T 5% 7 8
M RILETE ©
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZE—=

28. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(c)

Other share options (continued)

—tEFFT-A=+—HLFE)

8. Bl &)
(c) HutwmEE)

ii)  Other Options Ill (continued) i) BEREEI (E)
The expected volatility was based on the T8 HA R 18 52 4k 1% AP PR £ HA 42

historical volatility of the Company’s stock

BEHFRE - R RRE

prices over a period that is commensurate IR
with the expected life of the options.

The fair value of the options transferred
was assessed to be HK$6,285,000.

B EERBERE LA
F {E /6,285,000 TT o

Equity-settled share option expenses of EEAXAFEEMNBEEF AR
HK$1,662,000 were charged to profit 1,662,000/ (= & — 7~
or loss during the current year (2016: 12,619,000/ T ) A S

HK$2,619,000).

The following table summarises the movements

REE BRI

R A R A 1| B AR AR

of Other Options Il and Other Options Il during NN FR 2 EE) :
the year:
Weighted
Share average
options exercise
outstanding price
RITHE n#EEH
WB IR TEE
‘000 HK$
F15 BT
Outstanding at RZZE—RAF+=—A=+—H
31 December 2015 and ;r=—F—XRF—HA—H
1 January 2016 W ARITE 356,777 0.2336
Exercised B1T{E (70,150) 0.1664
Expired SYEN] (2) 0.1664
Outstanding at RZE—RFE+ZA=+—H
31 December 2016 B AT 286,625 0.25
Exercised B1T{E (286,625) 0.25
Expired 2 Em — _

Outstanding at
31 December 2017

R-_ZE—+F+-_A=+—8H
W ARITE — —




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

28. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

29.

(c)

Other share options (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Company
had no share options outstanding under the
above options.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the
movements therein for the current year are presented
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on pages 135 and 136 of the consolidated financial
statements.

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Capital redemption reserve

Capital redemption reserve represents an
amount equivalent to the par value of the
ordinary shares cancelled as a result of the
share repurchase.

Reserve funds

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations
in the PRC, a portion of the profits of the
Company's subsidiaries in the PRC has been
transferred to the reserve funds which are
restricted to use to offset against accumulated
losses or to increase capital. As at 31 December
2017, approximately HK$168,498,000 (2016:
HK$135,089,000) has been recognised to the
reserve funds.

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus arose from the capital
reorganisation in prior years.

Share option reserve

The share option reserve comprises the fair
value of share options granted which are yet
to be exercised, as further explained in the
accounting policy for share-based payments
in note 2.4 to the consolidated financial
statements. The amount will be transferred
either to the share premium account when the
related options are exercised, or retained profits
should the related options expire or lapse.

28. BRE#)

728,

(c)

Hibig (&)

RI|BEHR - ARRRE Lt 28
P e X S B P 1 R AT AEE o

f#E
AEERAFEZRHESEREETHH
RGBT IEHRERFEI1BbENE 136 EH 2
RAEEREERK o

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

BAEE

BERBEHBIERENARNE
(Bl i & $5 < B A E A ©

#EE

RiER RIEEEG RER - NAF]
Z BB E A Bl Z 285 il B 8
ZARFIARZFHES  UEHER
STBETIEMER c RZT—LF
+=A=+—H - #168,498,000
Bt (=Z & — X 4F : 135,089,000
BIL)ERFEESHER -

EAREG

ERBBRTDELANBEFEZER
BEHZEBEH -

BRERE

BREREBRECSEEERTEZ
BREZ ATE  BRGRAMEHRE
M2 4B5ARNDIF 2T HR
HE— S - ZESEBRIEREER
EETERERERMEER & X
A A 88 B R A i B SR Rk B B B =
BiEmF
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

30. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

2017
i)

Disposal of Jiangmen Qingyuan New Energy
Power Investment Limited

On 15 October 2016, the Company, entered
into a sale and purchase agreement with a
third party (the “Buyer”) to sell all the entire
equity interests of Jiangmen Qingyuan New
Energy Power Investment Limited (“Jiangmen
Qingyuan”) with a total consideration of
RMB28,210,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$31,718,000). Jiangmen Qingyuan was
classified as a disposal group held for sale as
at 31 December 2016. The transaction was
completed in March 2017. The information
of Jiangmen Qingyuan was included in the
“Downstream” segment for the years ended 31
December 2017 and 2016.

The following table summarises the carrying
value of net assets of Jiangmen Qingyuan as at
the date of disposal:

30. HE—EMEAF

—g—tF
BT PIE AR R EREEIR

i)

A7)

R=ZZFE—X"F+HA+HA &R
BAE-—ME=ZA2EF ]
SIMNEEWE AHEIMAER
HERZEREAR 2 AT
MERDEZBRE BKREA
A R 28,210,000 7T (49 48 & 7
31,718,000 7T) ° IFERNK =
E-RNE+-_A=+—B%NEAE
—BEEZHEALEE - BHEX
SER=_Z—tF=A5EK ° T
BRZEMREZE T —tFK—
E—RF+_A=1+—HILFET
sF AT TRBE I D38

TREDIFVEREEFENHE
EHZRmE:

HK$000
FEIT

Net assets disposal of: PRl & & EFE :
Property, plant and equipment M - BB KRR 28,148
Trade receivable 2 2 EWGRIE 246
Other receivables H fth jE W KT8 3,869
Prepayment TR RRIE 90
Other payables and accruals Hh e RIB R ETE A (54)
32,299
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary & —EE A R 2 B8 (581)
31,718
Cash received in 2016 T XREFHMKREERE 20,238
Receivable as at 31 December 2017 R-E—tF+-_A=+—HZEKZFE 11,480
Total consideration B E 31,718




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE —Z—

30. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued)

2017 (continued)

i)

ii)

Disposal of Jiangmen Qingyuan New Energy
Power Investment Limited (continued)

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash

tET-A=+—HLFE)

30. HE—RBMBAR &)

ZB-tHF(#E)
HETFIRRMERREREEIR

i)

?ﬁﬂj&*FWﬁE’“ﬂﬁﬁE CHE Rk

equivalents in respect of the disposal of a REZEMFRAZDTEAT -
subsidiary is as follows:
HK$'000
FET
Cash consideration HeRE —
Cash and bank balances disposed of HEZRERBITES —

Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in
respect of the disposal of a subsidiary

AHE—FHMBARMmME
R RREFEBY 2 FRA —

The Buyer paid RMB18,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$20,238,000) in October and
November 2016 as advance payments for the
above disposal. Up to 27 March 2018 (when
the financial statements were approved for
issuance), the Buyer did not settle any of the
remaining consideration of RMB10,210,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$11,480,000).

Disposal of Changde Hanergy Thin Film Solar
Technology Co. Ltd.

On 17 October 2017, the Company, entered
into a sale and purchase agreement with a third
party (the “Buyer”) to sell 91% equity interest
of Changde Hanergy with a total consideration
of RMB519,044,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$613,238,000). The transaction was

completed on 19 October 2017.

ii)

BEFR=ZFE—X"F+AK+—A
¥+ AR 18,000,000 7T (FHE R
#920,238,0007%8 7t ) 1E & £ it i
EMENRE BHEZZFE—)\F
= A=+t B (M HRERED T
BER) BRAUEEMBTRE
A K #10,210,000 T (F8 & B 4
11,480,000 7T ) °

HEEREXBRABRELNER
ATl
R-FE—tF+A+LA &2

AE-FHME=ZT2BTER]

FIVEEmME WHEBEE
BEMN%EE BREAEAR

#519,044,000T(HH & B %
613,238,000/ L) - B ZE
R-_ZE—+F+A+NBTK -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

30. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued)

30. HE—RBMBAR &)

2017 (continued) —E—tF(E)
ii)  Disposal of Changde Hanergy Thin Film Solar i)  HERBEEBRAGESMNER
Technology Co. Ltd. (continued) R E](#E)
The following table summarises the carrying I%*ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁ@ﬂj%
value of net assets of Changde Hanergy as at 2B ZAREE :
the date of disposal:
HK$000
FEIT
Net assets disposal of: Frii & & EFE :
Cash and cash equivalents HehIReEEY 415
Property, plant and equipment L E IS 3,730
Other receivables o fE W SR8 9,963
Prepayment TEf B 685,315
Other current assets HEms)&E 1,044
Other payables and accruals H e RIE N ERTE A (21,099)
679,368
Fair value of the equity interests retained (9%) FTRBREZ AFE(9%) (61,143)
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary HE—FREAR 2 EE (4,987)
613,238
Cash received in 2017 —ZE—tFrKEIRE 9,426
Receivable as at 31 December 2017 RZZ—+tF+=A=+—H2Z
JE W IR 611,363
Exchange fluctuation reserve CNENE L (7,551)
Total consideration BRE 613,238

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash
equivalents in respect of the disposal of a
subsidiary is as follows:

RHE—FHBARIME Bk
REeFEWFRAZONMOT

HK$000

FET

Cash consideration RENRE 9,426

Cash and bank balances disposed of HEZRS MIRTTET (415)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in mEE—HHBARME -

respect of the disposal of a subsidiary RERBEEEBYMFRA 9,011

The Buyer paid RMB8,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$9,426,000) in October 2017 as
an advance payment for the transaction. Up to
27 March 2018 (when the financial statements
were approved for issuance), the Buyer repaid
RMB360,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$446,972,000).

BEFR-_Z—tFTALHTARE
8,000,000 Jt. (#H& 7 #99,426,000
BILERAZR ZMTFAMNKIE - &
2T NF=A=-++B(EH%
WMEREMETIRER) EHEE
£+ A R # 360,000,000 7T (48 & 7
#9446,972,000787C) °
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Bt 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

30. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued)
2016

On 25 October 2016, Hanergy Thin Film Solar
Investment (Beijing) Limited, an indirectly wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
sales and purchase agreement with Beijing Heng
Run Xiang Da Investment Limited, to sell all the
equity interests of Qinghai Hanergy Thin Film Solar
Investment Limited (“Qinghai Hanergy”) with a
selling price of RMB200,000.

The following table summarises the carrying value
of net assets of Qinghai Hanergy as at the date of

30. HE—RBMBAR &)
—E—RE

RZT—AR"F+AZTHA  ZEgER
ABEREMR)ERRAF(ARRZ
FZEE2EME QR B REBFER
BERARGIEE WS  NHEFE
REEBEAGREREBRAB([EEE
RE 2Bt - EES AR 200,0007T

TREAFBEEEEFERNLEEHR
ZPREE

disposal:
HK$000
T8
Net assets disposal of: i E&ESE :
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEFEY 5,899
Property, plant and equipment Y% -~ B k& 387
Other receivables A fE W IE 11,189
Other payables and accruals HAth e RIE R FEETE A (79,869)
(62,394)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RHBEAR W 62,623
Satisfied by cash AR & &5 1 229

An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash
equivalents in respect of the disposal of a subsidiary
is as follows:

SRHE—FHNRBARME Fr RELRE
EEWFREZATAT

HK$'000

FEIT

Cash consideration ReRE 229

Cash and bank balances disposed of HEZREMRITET (5,899)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in HEE—FHRBARME

respect of the disposal of a subsidiary BeRBEEEWZFRE (5,670)
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Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 3. FERERERMT
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Changes in liabilities arising from financing BEEBEA Z BEEH
activities
Interest-
bearing
bank and Other
other payables
borrowings and accruals
Ht pE 1+
RITRHA MIER

B B fE =X FEst & A
HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FET
At 1 January 2017 RZE—+F—H—H 1,050,635 2,108,503
Changes from financing cash flows  BEH&HEE 2 & 51,372 31,314
Increase classified as operating cash P EAKLLH L HEELN
flows — 4,697,458
Decrease classified as investing cash D4 AR EELRERD
flows (39,149)
Foreign exchange movement HNEEE R B 23,994 275,436
At 31 December 2017 R-_EB—+F+_A=+—H 1,126,008 7,073,562
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Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

32. ACQUISITION 32. B

Asset acquisition from third parties

On 31 October 2017, Hanergy Thin Film Power
Application Group Co.,Ltd. (“Hanergy Power
Application Group”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company entered into an agreement with
two individuals (the “Sellers”), who are unrelated
parties to the Group. Pursuant to the agreement,
Hanergy Power Application Group purchased the
Sellers’ entire equity interests in Sichuan Guanghui
Tongda Engineering Construction Co., Ltd. (“Sichuan
Guanghui Tongda"), a company incorporated in PRC.
The acquisition has been completed on 18 December
2017.

On 12 July 2017, Sichuan Guanghui Tongda
has obtained the general contractor licence for
construction projects, authorised by PRC’s Ministry of
Housing and Urban-Rural Construction, with a term of
5 years.

As of the acquisition date, Sichuan Guanghui Tongda
had no business operations and assets except the
general contractor licence for construction projects.
As such, pursuant to mutual negotiation, Hanergy
Power Application Group paid RMB14,700,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$17,586,000) in
respect of the acquisition which the related asset
is recognised as intangible assets (note 14). The
Company determined that the acquisition of Sichuan
Guanghui Tongda did not constitute a business
combination for accounting purposes.

AE=FWEEE

R_ZE—+F+HA=+—H  KAF2E
ﬁﬁﬁ%“ﬂ%%‘%%ﬁ% LEREASEAR
NE(ERBEREAER ) EMEIER
SEEBMAT(ELT DI ZHR®E- B
Bk - ERE ?Efﬁﬁﬁlﬁﬁf\aﬁ
H/\EJHFELLL STRBREEA
((mIIEEBZE]) - A E%E%Hﬁﬁiy
ZRBIZERERE - EHRKBER-E
—+tF+=ZA+N\HZEK -

R-Z—tFLtA+=-H WIEER
ERERBECREPEARAMEE
AR 2 R B 2 A BRI
RERF -

@ﬁuﬁzﬁﬁaﬂﬂ )| EEBE - BR T B

%18 B 1S A B R R 2 A A
BEITEE REBEBEE- U 1B
BEERHE ZFSEASERK
Bt AR 14,700,000 T (4B E R
17,586,000 7T ) ' HEEEEBR A
EEE (M 14) o AR A E WS
N EERES SR A S 3K
BEG -
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Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

33. OPERATING COMMITMENTS

(a)

(b)

Operating lease commitments
As lessee

The Group leases a number of properties,
warehouses and equipment under operating
leases, with leases negotiated for an initial
period of two months to twelve years, with an
option to renew the lease and renegotiate the
terms at the expiry dates or at dates as mutually
agreed between the Group and the respective
landlords. None of the leases include contingent
rentals.

At 31 December 2017, the Group had total
future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases falling due as
follows:

33.

AR
(a) EEEERS
1B R A

AEERELKEZHEERETY
¥ RELFRE HEVS SR
BEAZ+—%F  EEREOER
EARAEEERHEEXTIENRE
2 BEHE R EFERGRR - ZFHE
EMTERARES -

R-ZE—+F+-_A=1+—H =&
SERBENAREGEEEHE 2 KK
RIRA S LN 5 HIR &

2017 2016
et T <F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Within one year —FR 223,100 95,680
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_ZRFE(BFEEEME) 1,243,292 203,325
Over five years AFMNE 736,804 176,801
2,203,196 475,806

Other Commitments (b) HAthA&IE

At 31 December 2017, the Group had total
other commitments of HK$524,891,000 (2016:
HK$634,595,000) under the non-cancellable
contracts of the photovoltaic power generation
station building projects.

R-ZE—+F+=—_A=+—8 ' &
SEERBREEXAAKBZEWIFR
T AR EMEEEEA
524,891,000 TL(Z & — /N F ¢
634,595,000 7T ) °
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(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

34. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

10,

34, BEAREKIE

Acquisition of items of property,
plant and equipment

— Contracted, but not provided for

WBEYE - BE
REHEHE
— SRIMEREE

2017 2016
—E—+F N3
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
79,727 113,154

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@) In addition to the transactions and balances (a)

detailed elsewhere in these consolidated

financial statements, the Group had the

following material transactions with related

parties during the year.

35. BBHALIRS

BRI F AR A B S R B A B D P
2 R B REERIN - REERF
WELRARE A THEITIA TEARR S °

Manufacturing of turnkey
production lines

Rental expense

Equipment lease expense

Technology usage fee expense

Purchase/prepayments for
purchase of photovoltaic
modules

Sales of spare parts

Sales of flexible photovoltaic

modules and cells
Sales of equipment
Import commission fee
Office service income
Interest expenses

ERELER

HEFX

REHEF X

Rt MEFX

REB R 23R
BN RIA

HEZT M

HERMREMN
KB

HERE

EOREE

WRERBIA

A B> H

2017 2016

TE-LF NS

Notes I LEH0] HK$°000
i3 FET FEIT
() 1,062,467 903,659
(if) 820 4,521
(iii) 3,154 16,526
(iv) — 1,315
(v) 144,552 371,732
(vi) — 2,160
(vii) — 29
(viii) 59 —
(ix) — 1,448
(x) 6,312 6,286
(xi) 18,534 14,521
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(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(a)

(continued)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

The revenue from the sales of equipment
and turnkey production lines was receivable
from Hanergy Affiliates. The sales were made
in accordance with the terms as stipulated
in the relevant sales contracts. In October
2017, 57.52% equity interest of Shandong
Zibo, a Hanergy Holding's subsidiary, was sold
by Hanergy Holding to a third party and the
transaction was completed on 30 October 2017.
From then on, the Group’s transaction with
Shandong Zibo was not classified as a related
party transaction.

Rental of office premises, factory premises and
a staff dormitory by Apollo Fujian, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, from
Sichuan Hanergy, Hanergy Holding's affiliate

Rental of a production line by Fujian Apollo from
Sichuan Hanergy

The usage of relevant equipment, material and
facilities by Fujian Apollo from Sichuan Hanergy
to carry out research on thin-film solar energy
technology development in 2016

Photovoltaic modules was purchased from
Hanergy Affiliates for the Group’'s Downstream
business. For details of the agreement, please
refer to note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Sales of spare parts of turnkey equipment, tools
and machinery of solar photovoltaic modules
production systems by Fujian Apollo to Hanergy
Affiliates at prices arrived at agreed terms in
2016

35. BBEANLRZ (&)

(a) (#&)
Kiat

(i) BRENEREEGNBEEWRAT
FEUCERER B A RIRIE - HE
2B E S L TE MR
ET - R-_Z—+&E+H =
BE TR IR S ELHY B A B L RS 1S
2 57.52% RELETFE=F -
ZRBER=ZT—tFETA=1
HSERK b8 - A5 @B L B
B SEESEABEBA LR
% °

(i) ARRZHEEZEMBERRREE
AR AR AR 2 BB A E |
ZEMABRAEME  BEKE
IS o

(i) tRERAGRMIDEREREE
R o

(iv) RZZ—RF BEABEAD
NEge 2 HEARE - #E k&
Bt > DAEITERR AR BE 2 B iT 5
B RME -

(v)  BEANEE 2 b E TS RE AL H
ARIBAN KA - BEEZ
ZHE - E2HRE B REM
210

(vi) BRHEGE =T —RFBE KRR
ERZBRAZEEHBARHE
AGRARBHLEERSZEE
RETEM - TR RS -
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Bt 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

35. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(a)

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(vii)  Sales of flexible photovoltaic modules and cells
by the Company's indirectly wholly-owned
subsidiary, MiaSolé Hi-Tech Corp. (“"MHT") to
certain subsidiaries of Hanergy Holding in 2016

(viii) Sales of equipment by the Company's indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary, MHT to MiaSolé
Photovoitaic Technology Co. Ltd, Hanergy
Holding's affiliate

(ix)  Service for import provided to Beijing Hanergy
New Energy Investment Co. Ltd, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary, by Beijing Rongtai
Energy Investment Co.Ltd, Hanergy Holding's
affiliate, in 2016

(x) General administration and office service
provided by MHT to MiaSolé Inc., Hanergy
Holding's affiliate

(xi)  Other interest bearing borrowings provided
by Hanergy Global Investment And Sales Pte
Ltd, Hanergy Holding America Inc., Hanergy
Investment Ltd and Hanergy Holding (HK) Ltd,
Hanergy Holding's affiliates.

Other transactions with related parties:

Other than disclosed above, there was no other
transaction with related parties during the years
of 2017 and 2016.

Details of compensation of key management
personnel of the Group are set out in note 12 to
the consolidated financial statements.

The related party transactions in respect of items (a)

and (b) above also constitute connected transactions

or continuing connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

35. MBEANLRZ (&)

(a) (#&
Biat - (&)

(il ARBlzEEZERE AR
Al MiaSolé Hi-Tech Corp.
(IMHTD R Z=ZZF— R FmEsk
TRz ETHEBARIHEREN
REB B

i) " 2RIZzHEZEWEB A
AIMHTE # g8 % Ik 2 B B
A Al MiaSolé Photovoitaic
Technology Co. Ltd $4& =& °

(ix) IEEEIERCZBE QAL R
REERRRARR T —R"FM
EFOEREFRERIREAR QA
(—FREEE BB LR R HE
A AR

(x)  MHTI[E MiaSolé Inc. CEREFERR
ZEB AR )R —RITB R
HNER -

(xi) Hanergy Global Investment
And Sales Pte Ltd : Hanergy
Holding America Inc.
Hanergy Investment Ltd &
Hanergy Holding (HK) Ltd (&
BEER HEE AR )Rtz K

FHEMER o
(b) EAMHEREBALTETIRS

B EXFIIEES  R=F—tF
K —F—RF - BEE AR
T2R5 e

(c) AEEFEEREFMFBERNE
EMBMARMEE12 -

B L% (a) T8 & (b) T 2 BABE A £ X2
ZIVER EHARRE 14AE R E 2
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(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE—Z—+F+—-A=+—HILFE)

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 36. €T RIZER
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of FEeRITAEMNERERZEREHRE
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting AT -

period are as follows:

Financial assets SREE
2017 —E—tF
Available-
for-sale
Loans and financial
receivables investments Total
BRR AHHE
FE Wik IE SRRE a&t
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Available-for-sale financial RN ESRIEE
investments — 66,097 66,097
Trade receivables B 5 YRR 7,232,791 - 7,232,791
Gross amount due from contract  FEWA RIEF 2%
customers 2,400,660 — 2,400,660
Financial assets included in other % @& E B FE E A fEUR
receivables and deposits FIBERES 1,506,548 - 1,506,548
Bills receivable e 27,363 - 27,363
Restricted cash XRHE 2 144,340 — 144,340
Cash and cash equivalents RekA2EEY 2,496,760 - 2,496,760

13,808,462 66,097 13,874,559

280



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE—Z—+F+—-A=+—HILFE)

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 36. €M T BZRER (#)
CATEGORY (continued)
Financial liabilities cRAE
2017 —E—+tF
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost Total
R R AN
Ze@ma s a5
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Trade and bills payables B 5k EBEMNFIE 1,737,876 1,737,876
Financial liabilities included in other TREBEBREEMENZIER
payables and accruals JETE 5,953,514 5,953,514
Interest-bearing bank and other R1T R E AL BAE R
borrowings 1,126,008 1,126,008
Other non-current liability HEMIEREBEE 20,049 20,049
8,837,447 8,837,447
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(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 36. €M T BZRER (#)
CATEGORY (continued)
Financial assets SRMEE
2016 —E—RE
Loans and
receivables Total
ER K
FE W R IR A&t
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Trade receivables B 5 M GRIA 6,813,364 6,813,364
Gross amount due from contract B ARZF4%E
customers 1,547,405 1,547,405
Financial assets included in other TREE B IEE AR EIE &
receivables and deposits Bme 751,318 751,318
Bills receivable E =R 11,850 11,850
Restricted cash Z R HIE 38,057 38,057
Cash and cash equivalents HehIReEEY 248,674 248,674
9,410,668 9,410,668
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(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 36. T BRER(#)
CATEGORY (continued)
Financial liabilities cRAE
2016 —E—RF
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost Total
Birg: X)W
ZemasE =
HK$°000 HK$000
FET FETT
Trade and bills payables 25 NEREMNFRIE 1,295,630 1,295,630
Financial liabilities included in other cRBEREEMEMNFIER
payables and accruals JETE A 1,372,985 1,372,985
Interest-bearing bank and other R1T R E AL AR
borrowings 1,050,635 1,050,635
Other non-current liability HEIEREBAE 4,262 4,262
3,723,512 3,723,512
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its
use of financial instruments in its ordinary course
of operations and in its investment activities. The
financial risks include market risk (including foreign
currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk.

Financial risk management is coordinated at the
Group's headquarters, in close co-operation with the
board of directors. The overall objectives in managing
financial risks focus on securing the Group’s short to
medium term cash flows by minimising its exposure
to financial markets.

It is not the Group’'s policy to actively engage in
the trading of financial instruments for speculative
purposes. The Group’s senior management works
under the policies approved by the board of directors.
It identifies ways to access financial markets and
monitors the Group’s financial risk exposures. Regular
reports are provided to the board of directors.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

37.

MRMREERFERBEX

AEEBENEAREEBRERERE
EBPEATR T AR EER
MR R BE™ SRR (BIEINERR
EMxRER)  EERREREE SR

B o

MERREEIEEASEAMHHA
VHEZSEZAE - BRZMBEAR
ERANEPRREAEEREHE=HH
ZBEER - (TR E Y S IS E R
E&E -

TH2ERBEEZEMT ARSI
AEEZHE - AKBZEMEEER
EZeECBETIE BEFGSR
MERERAKEEERERZ A I
MEESRHETEHMERS
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(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk

(i)

(ii)

Transactions in foreign currencies and the
Group’s risk management policies

The Group has transactional currency exposures.
Such exposures arise from sales or purchases
by operating units in currencies other than
the units’ functional currencies. Approximately
66% (2016: 67%) of the Group's sales were
denominated in currencies other than the
functional currencies of the operating units
making the sale.

The Group reviews its foreign currency exposure
regularly. No hedging or other alternatives have
been implemented during the year.

The policies to manage foreign currency risk
have been followed by the Group since prior
years and are considered to be effective.

Summary of exposure

Financial assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the closing rates, are as follows:

37.

BREREBEEERBE#&)

SN LB

(i)

(ii)

SMER G R A KB 2 m e R

REBMASZZZEEERR - 25
EBKEEEEMAEINEEK
LN EMHITZEE - AEEL
66% (ZZF—/NF 1 67%)MHE
LA SH &5 45 & BB MY T B B BE LA SN
BHETIE -

AEEE SR EINERR - FR
W AT PR EAD LB -

SNERBEEEBRRNEATRE B
MASELA  BRBA/ITZAE
e

EEE

PISNETHEZ B EE R AERK
MERBERETOT

2017 2016
“E-t% ZZE
Us$ RMB EUR SGD US$ RMB EUR SGD
En ARE Brn  #iin T ARE EOT ]
(X[ TSI X TS HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
A7 : il Tir  FEr FET TET
Trade receivables Bkl 2,130,272 - - - 6,239,410 — — -
Gross amount due from  ERAREF
contract customers fet 2,400,660 - - — 1,547,405 — — —
Cash and bank balances Be RFTER 32,385 249 333 - 72313 — 1,848 —
Trade and other payables 5 REMER
R (848)  (6948)  (4,747) - (846) (6,493 (26) -
Interest-bearing bank and ~ $R{TREMMK S
other horrowings R - - - (1782 - - — (1,610
Gross exposure arising BEASHMIA
from recognised financial  E4ZER
instruments k] 4,562,469 (6,699)  (4,414)  (1,752) 7,858,282 (6,493) 1,822 (1,610)
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(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk (continued)

(iii) Sensitivity analysis

37. BBEKREERB £

ERBEKRE)

SN RLBR (F)
(iii)

The following table illustrates the sensitivity at

the end of the reporting period to a reasonably
possible change in the exchange rates of foreign
currencies other than the functional currencies
of the relevant operating units. The rates are
used when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel and
represents management’s best assessment of
the change in foreign currency exchange rates.

The sensitivity analysis of the Group's
exposure to foreign currency risk at the end
of the reporting period has been performed
based on the assumed percentage changes in
foreign currency exchange rates taking place
at the beginning of the financial year and the
assumption that such changes held constant
throughout the year. All other variables are held
constant.

Appreciation/(depreciation) in US$ against RMB

Profit/(loss) for the year ANEE#H /(&

BEE T

T 2% B 38 45 0 R S (AR A
B2 EERINED T A B
BB T HEE - LEBAEE
B A B PR 2 WHNE R ES AT
TR - b AEE B EERT
BB B BAESTAS -

AIREHISR 7N 5 B BT S 9NEE R,
b BRERE ST I RERIMNE R R B
BES %Fﬁﬁiﬂﬁijgm
BB B P I TR T (T -
A LA BB T -

ETHRARKET B, (B21E)

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
LTEX Tl HK$'000  HK$'000
F#ET FET FET FHET
+5% (-5%) +5% (-5%)
#5% (% 5%) F5% (B5%)
133,478  (133,478) 150,157  (150,157)

and retained profits 8) R BFm A
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(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE—Z—+F+—-A=+—HILFE)

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. MBEAKREERERER®)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk (continued) IR (E)
(iii) Sensitivity analysis (continued) (iii) SBEEZHT(4E)
Appreciation/(depreciation) in RMB against HK$ ABE BB THE(F21E)
2017 2016
—E—+F —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHEIT FEIT
+5% (-5%) +5% (-5%)
5% (% 5%) F+5% (B5%)
Profit/(loss) for the NEFEHF,
year and retained (Es18) KB 1F
profits il (196) 196 (124) 124
Appreciation/(depreciation) in EUR against HK$ BT BT HE, (A2 1E)
2017 2016
—E—tF —F—NF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°'000
FET FET FEIL FET
+5% (-5%) +5% (-6%)
5% (B 5%) F5% (B5%)
Profit/(loss) for the AERHRH,
year and retained (BR)RBF
profits i (129) 129 35 (35)
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Bt 75 R MY =

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZE—=

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. §

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate risk

(i) Exposures to interest rate risk and the
Group’s risk management policies

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair
value or cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest
rates. Floating interest rate instruments will
result in the Group facing cash flow interest rate
risk. As at 31 December 2017, approximately
HK$657,776,000 (2016: HK$602,456,000) of
the Group's interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings bore interest at fixed rates.

(ii)  Sensitivity analysis

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of
the Group’'s and the Company's profit for the
year and equity to a possible change in interest
rates of +/-50 basis points (2016: +/-50 basis
points), with effect from the beginning of the
year. The calculation is based on the Group's
amount of floating rate borrowings during the
year. All other variables are held constant.

—tEFFT-A=+—HLFE)

iR E IR B A

ERBEKRE)

BRI

(i)

(ii)

FIEmE b FE R FE 2 0 EE
B

FERERESRTIA AT ESR
& R2E TS F =2 m IR K
@JZH 22 /?E*'J};I/E:ﬂ 7$
SEEGRREREMNERR - B

—tF+ZHA=1t—H &
657,776,000 L (=& — /& -
602,456,000 7T ) 2 AN & E R 1T
R E A B8 IR E E R EETE o

BBE DT

TREEBFONE - AEERAR
A 2 7N 6 2 i ) B M o 6 =R ]
BEHIR +/-60EF(ZF —RF:
+BORH)EH I HERE - BE

BE A EBREN 2 IEFIR
AR

o FTE R BB

o

2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FEIT FEIT
+50 basis SN CERIS  +50 basis -50 basis
points points points points
+50 E B -50 EL & +50 B2 -50 £ B
Profit/(loss) for the REEHF,
year and retained (B8 RERF
profits i ) (1,370) 1,370 (856) 856
The assumed changes in interest rates FEZ BRREE HCEHRRITTR

are considered to be reasonable based on
observation of current market conditions and
represent the management’'s assessment of
reasonable change in interest rates over the
period until the end of the next reporting period.

RRALEZBEY  WAEEEY
BE T AR SR HRFIE 2 &
BB 7 T -
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(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

(i)

(ii)

Summary of exposures

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty
to a financial instrument would fail to discharge
its obligation under the terms of the financial
instrument and cause a financial loss to the
Group. The Group’'s exposure to credit risk
mainly arises from granting credit to customers
in the ordinary course of its operations and its
investing activities.

The credit risk of the Group's other financial
assets, which mainly comprise cash and cash
equivalents, restricted cash, bills receivable,
trade and other receivables, gross amount
due from contract customers arises from the
default of the counterparty, with a maximum
exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these
instruments.

Further quantitative data in respect of the
Group’'s exposure to credit risk arising from
trade and other receivables is disclosed in notes
17 and 19 respectively to the consolidated
financial statements.

Risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s policy is to deal only with
creditworthy counterparties. Credit terms
are granted to new customers after a
creditworthiness assessment. WWhen considered
appropriate, customers may be requested to
provide proof as to their financial position.

Customers who are not considered creditworthy
are required to pay in advance or on delivery
of goods. Payment records of customers are
closely monitored. Overdue balances and
significant trade receivables are highlighted. The
directors will determine the appropriate recovery
actions. It is not the Group’s policy to request
collateral from its customers.

37.

BREREBEEERBE#&)

FERR

(i)

(ii)

mpEEE

EERRIESRT Y HH R iR
SMIAY GREGLESE 18
Bk E B TR 2 AR - A
EE2 EEAREERENEAH
BEBREE R EEDEETES
5L

AEEEMEREE(RBRRE R
ReEEY  XRIRE - BEE
% B REMEYGR - BRE
REFPER)ZEERREEEHT
EH meRRAFNZEFIALZ
AREME °

BERAKREELBE S REMEK
RBZEERRZE—FELEE
DRIRER A IS MERME17 K19
K -

BB EEEBEREE

AEBZHRREREERTZY
TETRS BTHEFPZEE
HREEFEREL - WRRE
& BEPAHRERERMBOIRRZ
A o

WRBEENMEZ TP ARANKIEA
ER RN o P Z R
BEZER - ARERNERES
ERARER - ESHETHEE B
WiTE) - AEBZBRAEREE
FREERm -
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Bt 5 R AR B

(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

The credit risk for liquid funds is considered
negligible as the counterparties are reputable
banks and securities brokers.

The credit policies have been followed by the
Group since prior years and are considered
to have been effective in limiting the Group's
exposure to credit risk to a reasonable level.

Concentration of credit risk

Included in trade receivables was HK$2,283,175,000
(2016: HK$3,913,807,000) due from Hanergy
Affiliates, which represented approximately 32%
(2016: 57%) of total account receivables from
customers at the end of the reporting period.

Included in trade receivables was HK$1,816,927,000
(2016: HK$2,536,745,000) due from Shandong
Macrolink, which represented approximately
25% (2016: 37%) of total trade receivables from
customers at the end of the reporting period.

Included in trade receivables was HK$1,712,709,000
(2016: Nil) due from Shandong Zibo, which was
new in this year and represented approximately
24% (2016: Nil) of total trade receivables from the
customer at the end of the reporting period.

Included in trade receivables was HK$382,012,000
(2016: Nil) due from Huafengyuan Chengdu, which
was new in this year and represented approximately
5% (2016: Nil) of total trade receivables from the
customer at the end of the reporting period.

The directors of the Company believe that
impairment allowance is adequate in respect of
such balance as the customer had a good track
record of settlements during the current year
and prior years.

37. BIEREEEERKE &)

FERRE)

(ii)

(iii)

B EEEBRREEE)

RRET REER R ZRITRES
R MRBEEZEERBRER

EERREBEBFE—ERALE
BaA - BERBRITZAER  #A
SEAEZEERBRRHESIEK

7 o

=EEBRES

E 5 & W E 845 2,283,175,000
B (ZZF—734F : 3,913,807,000
ST ) FEWOE LB B A R FE - 14
REMRZERETFERABTELD
32% (ZZF—7"F :57%) °

E 5 [E W IE 815 1,816,927,000
BT (= Z—7%F : 2,636,745,000
7S TT ) PR LU BRI R 2 FE 0 4G
HMEMR IR E S RN GRIARTE
#925% (ZZF—7"F : 37%) °

B 5 W88 1E 1,712,709,000
BIL(ZZ—NF ¢ ) BRI S
BZHE  AARFEFETE (&
HERZ R E S RN GRIARTE
#924% (ZZ—/N4GF ) o

E 5 WA B HE382,012,00078
TL(ZE—R"F ) RUEEL R
H2RE  BAFEIIEHIE 15
HERZ R LSRN GRIBRTE
#5% (ZFE—RNF : ) °

ARBESHE  BRBEERAF
REFOHER RIFEELE - 85l
SEEBATIR ZRERETR
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

BEEREBEEERBE#)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will
not be able to meet its obligations associated with its
financial liabilities. The Group is exposed to liquidity
risk in respect of settlement of liabilities when
they fall due and also in respect of its cash flow
management. The Group's objective is to maintain an
appropriate level of liquid assets and committed lines
of funding to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and long term.

Analysed below is the remaining contractual maturity
for the Group's financial liabilities as at the end of
the reporting period. When the creditor has a choice
of when the liability is settled, the liability is included
on the basis of the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. Where the settlement of the
liability is in instalments, each instalment is allocated
to the earliest period in which the Group is committed
to pay.

The contractual maturity analysis below is based on
the contractual undiscounted payments as at the end
of the reporting period:

RBESE M

mBEERRTENEEREETE R
BERBETCARER - AEEEE
ERREBEARERSREEE T HA
ERBETRR AKEZBEERER
BEZRPEEKRFRARETRE
NENERERERHZABESHE -

AT RRAKRERRERARZIFITES
BEBEEZHNBRERIHA - BEDHRK
SEAIRBERNRZZRAHFA - H
ERATEREGBFRARZAY - EAE
R BAREE RSO EER
SEAEGENRZ&ZFHRE -

ATaRZAIMIRBEEERSHR
ZERARBBMNRIED -

2017 —E—+tF
On  Less than 1to5 Over
demand 1 year years b years Total
RERE P E (=3:3 BiA5EF Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FEx Tz FEx
Trade and hills payables B RERENTE - 1,731,876 - - 1,737,876
Other payables and accruals EfEaRET B - 5953514 - — 5953514
Interest-bearing bank and other ST RE MM BB

borrowings - 610,226 519,031 166,643 1,295,900
Qther non-current liabilities EtERBAak 20,049 - - - 20,049
20049 8301616 519,031 166,643 9,007,339
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. BEKREEBEERKEK#)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REBESEK(E)
2016 AN
On  Less than 61012 Tt0b Over
demand 6 months months years 5 years Total
RERE  DHR6MEA 6Z12 1A 1256  B@5F CH
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
AT AT AT AT AT TAT
Trade and bills payables B RERENTE 350,542 639,469 305,619 - — 1,295,630
Other payables and accruals E e (T A R FERT
ER 1,372,985 — — — — 1,372,985
Interest-bearing bank and other {7 R Al e
borrowings = 414,363 59,867 173,676 458,507 1,106,413
Other non-current liability EfERaas 783 — - 3,479 - 4,262
1,724,310 1,053,832 365,486 177,155 458,507 3,779,290
Capital management BEXER

The primary objectives of the Group's capital
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the
underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or
issue new shares. The Group is not subject to any
externally imposed capital requirements. No changes
were made in the objectives, policies or processes
for managing capital during the years ended 31
December 2017 and 31 December 2016.

AEBZTEEAERARRBRAE
BERNFERE  UHEHRREERL
B PXBHEBREERAKRRE
-

NEE B IR E & ARRE FE B AR E
PREAEEZRBREBELHAE - A
BN EERER  AEEF AR
INTRRZBRESTE  MBRFEREE
R EBEITHRG o NREETZERINED
M ZERBEMRS - RBEZZ
—+tF+-_A=+—HRZZE—XF
+—A=1+—HBLEFE AEEELE
BERE - BRI EFEET) -
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. BKRKREEEEREEK#Z)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Capital management (continued) EXEE(E)
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, AEEMBERNGGELXR(BIER FE
which is net debt divided by the capital plus net MRIABE R INER SR )EIZEE RN - &5
debt. Net debt includes interest-bearing bank and FHEEERTAEMHEER - E5K
other borrowings, trade and bills payables, and SRR SRIB A R E b FE < 5k 78 & FE AT
other payables and accruals, less cash and cash ERHRReRESEED) - EXE
equivalents. Capital includes equity attributable to B RRHE AE(hER - RI|ER
owners of the parent. The gearing ratios as at the ZERBELENT ¢

end of the reporting periods were as follows:

2017 2016
—E—+F e
HK$’000 HK$000

FET FET

Interest-bearing bank and other RIT R E AT BB (A 25)

borrowings (note 25) 1,126,008 1,050,635
Trade and bills payables (note 23) B REBENZIANZE23) 1,737,876 1,295,630
Other payables and accruals H b FETRIE R ERTE A

(note 24) (Kt 24) 7,073,562 2,108,503
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B ReRREEEY

(note 22) (KizE22) (2,496,760) (248,674)
Net debt BERHE 7,440,686 4,206,094
Equity attributable to the owners (SYNGIE PN Er £

of the parent 8,107,266 7,340,419
Capital =N 8,107,266 7,340,419
Capital and net debt BARRGERHE 15,547,952 11,546,513
Gearing ratio BARGEL = 47.86% 36.43%
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(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

38. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities
are included at the amount at which the instrument
could be exchanged in a current transaction between
willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation
sale. The following methods and assumptions were
used to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents,
restricted cash, trade and bills receivables, financial
assets included in other receivables, deposits and
prepayments, trade and bills payables, gross amount
due from contract customers, financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals, and the
current-portion of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.

The fair values of the non-current portion of
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings have been
calculated by discounting the expected future cash
flows using rates currently available for instruments
with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities, and approximate to their carrying amounts.

8. TMITAZAFERDFEESR

B

TREENBBZATEEREZIA
EE77aBENBRTHRTRS(ME
BHFFRHE)EBAKR - BRAT
FITERBRRAMEE R TE -

RekReEEY ZIRGEE  EH
REZBEWGR - BRENEMERHRIEA
PHERMEE RENMENKE B
REBERMNZE BESREFHERE
BRENEMENKARETERTHE
BEE - ARRITREMHE &K
HIEf ) « AP EBEEREEMES T8
BRI S T AN E B FEERRE -

RITREMI B BFERNR ALY 2 A F
B DRBARRRESRE - UFH -
1= 5 Rk & R 64 2 HIRS RABAT A0 T A A

BT MM XEERFE - BREKRAE
A -
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(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

39. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

(i)

Amount due from Hanergy Affiliates to the
Group

With respect to the overdue trade receivables
and interest penalty owed by Hanergy Holding
and its subsidiaries to the Group, as disclosed
in the Company’s announcement dated 27 July
2016, the Group has been negotiating with
Hanergy Holding and its affiliates (the “Hanergy
Holding Group"” or Hanergy Affiliates) for the
repayment arrangements. As at 31 December
2017, the total amount of trade receivables (due
and not yet due) owed by Hanergy Affiliates
to the Group, other receivables and interest
penalty due from Hanergy Affiliates amounted to
approximately HK$2,482,264,000.

As at the date of this announcement, Mr. Li
Hejun and Hanergy Holding Group have made
the following arrangement for the Secured
Indebtedness (as specifically defined in
Management Discussion and Analysis):

° Subsequent to 31 December 2017 to 27
March 2018, Hanergy Holding Group made
the repayment of RMB2,000,126,000
(equivalent to approximately
HK$2,477,569,000, based on the respective
spot rates at the dates of the payments
made) to the Group.

(i)

39. REWREE

AW WUERER B A R 2 RROR

BUOMARRB —_F—R"ELA =T+t
BZRAEMEE  HNEERER
REMBARKHRAER 2 BHAH
FREMBFERER  A&EE—&H
B B 1 A Mo HLBE B~ B ([ R
BERE® |SOREH B QR @
BRZHE - R_E—LF+_H
=t—H ZREBBARRARAE
SEZBZREGRAE(BREE
BB H KRB - H R UGRIR
MREWEEBB AR ZT SN
2,482,264,000 #T °

BEARENBRRAY  FAEE
EREREEREBHZERER
(AREEREEEIREOME
BRI 28t

o ERZEBREER=_Z—+
F+-A=+—H#%EZE
—E-NF=ZA=++L
HRAEEEEARK
2,000,126,000L(4E & M
492,477,569,00078 T © 1%
NRBHZEBEEEER

) o
Ean
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(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

39. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD (continued)

(i)

(i)

Amount due from Hanergy Affiliates to the
Group (continued)

° After deducting the repayment of
RMB2,000,126,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$2,477,569,000) from
Hanergy Holding Group to the Group,
the amount of Secured Indebtedness
was reduced from approximately
HK$2,238,761,000 to HK$O.

Amount due from Shandong Macrolink

As at 31 December 2017, trade receivables
from Shandong Macrolink amounted to
HK$1,816,927,000, which were all past
due. Subsequent to 31 December 2017 to
27 March 2018, Shandong Macrolink repaid
RMB200,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$248,230,000, based on the respective spot
rates at the dates of the payments made).

39. REMWRBREE(Z)

(i)

(ii)

AEMEBYEERRE QR 2R
(&

s BAEEHIZEBREEMASE
Bz AR% 2,000,126,000
Jo (M8 & 7 #492,477,569,000
BIT)E - REREBEEHR
472,238,761,0007% JT & 2
Z0HTT

FE W Ly RO EE B 2 SRR

RZE—tF+=ZHA=+—8"
FEUR L SR E B 2 B 5 e IR E A
#1,816,927,0007% JT © & & 5
BEHEKZRE - RZFT—+F
+ZA=+—H#ZEE=_Z—N\F
=AZ+tR LREFEHES
A R # 200,000,000 7T (18 & 7 4
248,230,000 7T * SR A2
EBEENEERBE) o
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(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZF—+tF+-_A=+—HIFE)

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
OF THE COMPANY

40. AR BB #EARRF

WMEMREAEARDHBEMRRRNER
P01 [ N

Information about the statement of financial
position of the Company at the end of the

reporting period is as follows:

2017 2016
—E—tF ki
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y -~ R &R 423 748
Investments in subsidiaries AR B A A 6,473,988 6,473,988
Total non-current assets IERENEEARRE 6,474,411 6,474,736
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Inventories FE 1,278 1,268
Due from subsidiaries FEUL BT /B~ Bl FkIE 419,315 32
Deposits and prepayments e MIA A 9,280 9,630
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeEEY 7,658 4,075
Total current assets MB)EE MR 437,531 15,005
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Due to subsidiaries FEAST BT /B A Bl FkIE 160,094 229,372
Other payables and accruals Hib BN SRR E &R 23,212 23,798
Tax payable FEG TR IR 2,300 2,300
Total current liabilities mEREARE 185,606 255,470
NET CURRENT ASSETS/ REBEE(BE)FH
(LIABILITIES) 251,925 (240,465)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EERERABAE
LIABILITIES 6,726,336 6,234,271
Net assets BEFE 6,726,336 6,234,271
EQUITY R
Issued capital BEITARA 105,364 104,647
Reserves (note) i (HaE) 6,620,972 6,129,624
Total equity T 6,726,336 6,234,271
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(For the year ended 31 December 2017 HE—Z—+F+—-A=+—HILFE)

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 40. AP BB BRR K ()
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Note: Hiat -
A Summary of the Company's reserves is as follows: RABREEOBZOT ¢
Share Capital Share
premium  redemption  Contributed option  Accumulated
account reserve surplus reserve losses Total
&%
REEER RrfE B4RS  BRERE RitHR 3

HK$'000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAT TET TET TAT TAT

1 January 2016 —“F-7~%-f-R 11,217,664 7,684 33,132 35,425 (4,641,459) 6,652,446
Exercise of share options ifeE e 26,957 — — (8,606) = 18,351
Share option expense BRERY - — — 31,358 — 31,358
Transaction with owners BEEAZRS 26,957 = - 22,752 - 49,709
Total comprehensive loss TEEREBELEE

for the year - — — — (572,531) (572,531)
At 31 December 2016 and RZB-xE

1 January 2017 T-A=t-HE

ZE-tE-f-FH 11,244,621 7,684 33,132 58,177 (5,213,990) 6,129,624

Exercise of share options e 70,940 — - — - 70,940
Share option expense BRERY - - - 19,475 - 19,475
Transaction with owners BEAAZRS 70,940 — — 19,475 — 90,415
Total comprehensive income MEE2ENERE

for the year — — — — 400,933 400,933
At 31 December 2017 R=B-t§

+=A=t+-H 11,315,561 7,684 33,132 77,652 (4,813,057) 6,620,972
41. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 41. #EEMBRE

STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and PR RER_E— N \F=ZA=-_++tH
authorised for issue by the board of directors on KEF SR E IR RET) -

27 March 2018.
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

EFHBEHME

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted

from the published financial statements is set out below.

RESULTS

2013
“E-=F

TXEHINAEEBRERBAHRFEZEE
BERAGBHE  DHEECTEZWBR
% o

ES

2014 2015 2016 2017
“E-RE ZT-hfF DT g

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 WEL€0IN)
FET FET FET FAT FAT
CONTINUING OPERATION BREREEK

REVENUE WA 3,283,791 9,615,028 2,814,668 4,483,130 6,147,385
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX BAras/ (&) 2,277,313 4,186,692 (12,087,413) 658,395 446,124
Income tax expense BRI (259,289)  (983,074)  (146,129)  (406,781)  (185,092)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR KEERT/(E8B) 2,018,024 3,203,618 (12,233,542) 251,614 261,032

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable  BAFIEA AEEAER
to the owners of the parent wAl/ (B8 2,018,024 3,203,696 (12,233,564) 251,620 261,099

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable
to non-controlling interests

SHERER R AFR
wh/ (BB

(78) 22 6) (67)
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EFERERE

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

“E-ZF —“B-ME —T-hfF —FF e

Notes ~ HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 [ELEX
Hit TET TET TET TET FET

Goodwill HE 7,915,318 7,915,318 — — -
Intangible assets BREE 14 1,211,066 1,181,777 16,597 12,685 35,467
Property, plant and equipment 1% » BiE Kk 13 320,054 766,781 342,707 606,111 581,302
Available-for-sale financial HHESRRE

investments 15 85,800 — — — 66,097
Deposits paid for acquisition ~ WENE - BE

of items of property, ZEEEZEN

plant and equipment e 493 32 30 28 -
Deferred tax assets ERFERE 26 23,420 76,404 — — -
Other non-current assets EfhERBEE — 4072 251,130 139,563 89,575
Net current assets TBEEFE 6,699,248 12,014,399 8,189,561 7,572,872 8,361,856
Deferred tax liabilities EERERRE 2 (324,501)  (561,995)  (417,408)  (401,220)  (478,048)
Other non-current liabilities Rt IERBAR (89,582)  (911,150)  (935,017)  (589,017)  (548,447)
Total equity R 15,841,306 20,485,638  7447,602 7,341,022 8,107,802
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